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3
1

P R 0 C E E D I N G S:

2

THE JUDGE:

All right.

I think this

3

comes on Mr. Lollar's motion today, so

4

we ought to let him go first.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

I

think

Well, Judge, I

6

have a couple of preliminary motions, which I

7

think are responsive and dispositive.

8

one, this hearing comes 25 days after entry of

9

a final order in this case.

Number

According to

10

Rule 1:1, this Court clearly lost jurisdiction

11

over the matter four days ago.

12

something that I pointed out to Mr. Lollar

13

twice, by letter yesterday and once by

14

telephone.

15

and bring your checkbook".

16

This is

His response was simply, "Be there

When the Court granted the Plaintiff's

17

motion for a nonsuit I sent him a generic

18

order, which he tendered to the Court with no

19

request that it be held or suspended or

20

anything.

21

August 10th.

22

today's September 4th, this hearing is

23

untimely, and, therefore, has no jurisdiction

24

over this matter.

25

Accordingly, that order was entered
Twenty-one days was August 31st,

In the alternative, Judge, if the Court's
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

246

4
1

not inclined to grant that, I would move for a

2

continuance.

3

got that there even was a hearing today was

4

approximately 4:00 o'clock on Wednesday.

5·

look in my book, there was a conversation

6

approximately two months ago, actually, I

7

believe it might have even been prior to the

8

Court ruling, wherein someone in Mr. Lollar's

9

office spoke to my law clerk about tentative

The first actual notice that I

As I

10

dates.

11

says, "September 4??

12

back

13

never been a notice that there was a sanctions

14

hearing set for today and, quite frankly, if

15

it wasn't for the fact that an exhibit book

16

that was hand-delivered to my office at 4:00

17

o'clock on Wednesday had a cover letter

18

reference to a hearing September 4th at 9:30

19

a.rn. I might not even have been here today.

20

There's been no notice of this hearing.

21
22

23

11

•

The note that my law clerk gave me
Deal hearing.

Will call

Nobody's ever called me back.

THE JUDGE:

All right.

Mr. Lollar speak to those things.
MR. LOLLAR:

There's

Let's let
Yes, sir.

Your Honor, I held my

24

tongue in interrupting Mr. Smallenberg because

25

he is not supposed to go first at this
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

247

5

1

hearing.

We are supposed to go first.

It's

2

our motion.

3

at the nonsuit hearing back in June, taking

4

the opportunity to get the first word in and

5

I'm going to let him speak, but he's raised

6

two issues.

7

that his partner, Scott Stolte, tried to raise

8

before Judge Harris five years ago.

9

irritated Judge Harris in Henrico Circuit

He is now in here, just as he did

The first one was the same issue

It

10

Court very, very, much, to the point that he

11

was red-faced about it because Scott Stolte

12

had actually asked for the continuance for the

13

sanctions hearing because he had to get

14

counsel and then when we went through the

15

dates Judge Harris wanted him to give him the

16

first available date within a week or two and

17

he said he had no dates for something like 30

18

days and we were there over a month later.

19

It's very, I think, relevant, though, that he

20

bring this up to this whole matter because

21

there's such a history here, and that's the

22

reason.

23

The third ground of our motion for

24

sanctions is that this suit was filed with

25

intent to harass and this is so indicative of
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198
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6

1

this type of last-minute, "I didn't get

2

notice.

3

breast of the Court", all those things are

4

very indicative of the type of lawyering,

5

unfortunately, that goes on with

6

Mr. Smallenberg and his firm.

7

that he didn't get the notice, we mailed the

8

notice out July 1, 1998.

9

that.

The case is ended.

I signed it.

I'll say it under oath.

11

office.
THE JUDGE:

13

The comment

I can attest to

If you want to swear me

10

12

We're beyond the

We mailed it to his

Do we have a copy of

that in the Court file?
MR. LOLLAR:

14

You should have a copy

15

in the Court's file.

16

indexed for July 1, the end of June.

17

you'll look right at the end of June you'll

18

see a July 1 notice of the hearing mailed to

19

him.

20

one way, in other words, you're only able to

21

send faxes out of his office.

22

receive them from my office because I have a

23

stack that's a half-inch thick of busy faxes

24

that couldn't go through from my fax machine

25

to his, in other words, he's got a one-way fax

It will be calendered or
If

Now I know his fax machine only works

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
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He doesn't

7

1

machine.

2

yesterday, three letters via fax.

3

trying to respond to the first one, I got the

4

second one.

5

respond to both of them.

6

the letter,

7

him via fax, and so I included that in a

8

"P.S." in the letter rather than go and change

9

the body of the letter.

I

got three letters from him
While

was

I

I read it, adjusted my letter to

I

As

I

was finishing

then got the third letter from

And I tried to fax

10

this letter, but I had already started out in

11

the first paragraph of the letter saying, "I

12

doubt this letter gets through to you today,

13

even though your letter has been received by

14

me, because

15

anything to you".

16

Well, I didn't get that fax through.

17

as late as 7:30 last night.

18

number and actually get the fax machine.

19

put it on my fax machine and it wouldn't go

20

through.

21

it this way or what, but

22

machine and my secretary conf irrned that we

23

have not been able to get faxes through to him

24

time and time again.

25

THE JUDGE:

I

can't seem to be able to fax
It's a one-way street.
I tried

I called the
I

I don't know if they've progranuned
I

couldn't get a fax

The long and the short

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
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8

1

of that is your report's marked "Filed" on

2

July 2nd, 1989.

3

September 4th, or as soon thereafter as

4

counsel may be heard, the undersigned will

There's a notice that on

bring on for a hearing the motion for
6

sanctions previously filed with the Court

7

before the Honorable A. Bonwill Shockley,

8

presiding Judge.

9

attached to the front of that that says,

There's a cover letter

10

"Hand-delivered July 1st".

11

Certificate of Service on the end of the

12

notice that says it was mailed on the 1st of

13

July to counsel.
MR. LOLLAR:

14

There's a

And that should be the

15

end of it.

I just want to add one more thing.

16

The motion for sanctions was filed April 10,

17

the same time we filed our Responsive

18

Pleadings.

19

10.

20

10, but we had so many things on June 10,

21

especially with his last-minute motion for

22

nonsuit on June 10, which threw everything

23

into an array.

24

motion for sanctions, so you told us, and it

25

was in the order that I prepared pursuant to

We noticed it originally for June

It should have been argued and heard June

In fact, we didn't get to my

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198
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9

1

your direction, to get another date, agree

2

upon another date, and set it.

3

what we did.

4

secretary and staff and I talked to him and we

5

got the September 4 date.

6

didn't then let him say it, but it's not true.

7

I'm an Officer of the Court and I will tell

8

you unqualifiedly we got that date and he's

9

here now, so let's move on.

That's exactly

My secretary talked to his

Now if he says we

The Rule 1:1 argument that we're beyond

10

11

the breast of the Court, if I could, Your

12

Honor, I'd like to approach the bench and give

13

you several cases.

14

don't need to hear argument on that then so be

15

it.

16

might add, the new counsel that represented

17

Scott Stolte and Charlie Ayers in Henrico

18

Circuit Court before Judge Harris in 1993,

19

October 22, 1993, and Mr. Bayliss did a fine

20

job in articulating that argument.

21

he said the redder-faced Judge Harris got.

22

was so upset with Mr. Stolte for bringing this

23

on at that hearing that he almost rose from

24

the bench.

25

unfortunately, of the September hearing.

If you tell me that you

But this was argued by Bill Bayliss, I

The more
He

And you have the transcript,

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
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You

10
1

don't have the October 22 hearing because we

2

did not have it transcribed.

3

the first time yesterday that this was being

4

raised, I tried to get it typed last night,

5

but it's a 5-year old transcript, the court

6

reporter's left the old firm and now on her

7

own, and they were having a hard time finding

8

it.

9

transcript from that hearing, but I do have my

Realizing for

So I am not able to present you with the

10

detailed notes of what Judge Harris said and

11

it was an identical type issue.

12

You couldn't have two issues more identical

13

because you've got the same parties and you've

14

got the same scenario.

15

through it, a frivolous suit filed and then a

16

period of time a demurrer filed, sustained,

17

leave to amend, an amended pleading filed,

18

demurred, we had a hearing on that, at that

19

hearing he moved to nonsuit.

20

previously filed a motion for sanctions, as I

21

recall, back when I filed my first demurrer

22

and the Judge granted his motion to nonsuit

23

over my objection.

24

June 10, you took it under advisement, and in

25

my letter ruling, I think in July, ruled

Identical.

Really, if I may go

I had

I objected to his nonsuit

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
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11
1

against me on that, so I endorsed the order

2

evidencing my objection and it was entered

3

August 10, just as Judge Harris entered the

4

nonsuit order in the Henrico suit on September

5

17th.

6

sanctions on October 22, well beyond the 21

7

days, and it was argued that that nonsuit

8

order was the final order and, therefore,

9

sanctions were gone.

We had a hearing on my motion for

They couldn't be heard.

10

Well, Judge Harris' comments were very

11

succinct.

12

the case was not disposed of, and would not be

13

disposed of, by the nonsuit order because it

14

was a pending motion for sanctions, which was

15

continued to that day", and he said he was

16

taken aback by this position.

17

would be a fraud upon the Court if it was

18

permitted to proceed.

19

substantive issue and said that he took the

20

issue of sanctions very, very, seriously.

21

comment was that prior to awarding sanctions

22

he would require proof that there was no

23

question of a violation of the statute, an

24

intentional violation of it, and he looked at

25

the case in that light.

He said, "There's no question that

He felt that it

Then he got to the

He said he had never

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

2S4

His

12
1

sanctioned a law firm or a lawyer in his 17

2

years on the bench.

3

hearing he sanctioned Scott Stolte and the

4

Ayers firm four thousand nine hundred and some

5·

odd dollars, almost five thousand dollars, and

6

I could tell that he had no reservation or

7

hesitation in doing this.

8

entered and it was not appealed from and then

9

approximately a year later when Mr. Stolte was

At the end of this

An order was

10

refinancing his home he found out he had a

11

judgment lodged against him and he had to pay

12

it and he called me all desperate saying,

13

"You're interfering with my home refinance.

14

I've got to pay this judgment".

15

"Fine.

16

did so.

17

I said,

Pay it and we'll release it", so we

Five years later Mr. Smallenberg files

18

another suit for his boss, Mr. Ayers.

19

might note, Your Honor, that Mr. Ayers never

20

appears.

21

suit and he's not here today.

I asked

22

Mr. Smallenberg to bring him.

He's not here

23

today.

Mr. Smallenberg

24

filed this suit March 21, 1997, for 24 Million

25

250 Thousand Dollars.

And you

He never appeared in the '93 Henrico

That is very telling.

That suit was filed
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1

about two and a half weeks after a second

2

settlement agreement was signed by Charlie

3

Ayers whereby he was expressly forbidden and

4

prohibited from assigning that cause of action

5

that he was then suing on to any entity

6

without the consent of the Jarrett's.

7

You heard all of this argument that

8

Steve Test brought to your attention

9

representing the Jarrett's back on June 10.

10

We went through it and we've had the

11

transcript typed.

12

it.

13

said we've got the transc_ript right here.

14

It's in the notebook and we'll be happy to

15

present you a copy today.

16

the agreement itself prohibited an assignment

17

of these claims.

18

later Mr. Ayers, no doubt, directs his

19

associate, Robert Smallenberg, I don't know

20

how long Mr. Smallenberg had been practicing

21

law at that point, in March of 1997 to file

22

this frivolous suit.

23

serve it until 365 days later to the day.

24

Right before it would have been time-barred he

25

serves a 24 Million 250 Thousand Dollar

I've refreshed my memory on

If you have any questions about what was

The point is that

Nonetheless, three weeks

He filed it and didn't
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1

lawsuit on my client, Mr. Deal, and my client,

2

mrs. Cobler-Wells, two attorneys in Henrico

3

County.

4

can't imagine, how that would make an attorney

5

practicing law in Henrico County, or anywhere,

6

feel to get served with a 24 Million Dollar

7

lawsuit alleging negligence in the

8

representation of parties that aren't even

9

bringing the lawsuit.

10
11

Now you can't imagine, I assume you

It was Cardinal Holding

Company bringing this lawsuit.
What we had then is they immediately

12

called me because I had handled the Henrico

13

suit and I filed a demurrer, I filed a

14

counterclaim, and I filed a motion craven oyer

15

requiring them to produce the writing that

16

evidenced the assignment and the written

17

engagement agreement, if there was one.

18

never alleged there was a written engagement

19

agreement, by the way, but if there was one I

20

was requiring them to produce it and a motion

21

for sanctions all at one time.

22

called me and said, "What is going on here

23

with this suit?", because I had talked to

24

Judge Adams, his former partner, who was then

25

on the Bankruptcy Court bench, who represented
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1

the Jarrett's back when all of this was going

2

on years ago, and Mr. Test told me that his

3

clients were incensed by this.

4

had never given Mr. Smallenberg or the Ayers

5

firm permission to file this suit in their

6

name and the assignment, the settlement

7

agreement, had expressly prohibited it.

8

then learned for the first time through the

9

April 16, 1997, letter from Mr. Test to

The Jarrett's

I

10

Mr. Smallenberg that Mr. Test warned him,

11

warned him, "Do not assign that claim", not

12

knowing at the time that not only had it been

13

assigned, but a suit had been filed on it by

14

the assignee, Cardinal, and a suit had been

15

filed in the name of Mr. Test's client, none

16

of which Mr. Test knew about and he did not

17

learn about this until I brought it to his

18

attention through a call to Judge Adams, who

19

then transmitted it back to Steve Test.

20

So what we have is a complete disregard

21

for contracts, a complete disregard for rule

22

of law, a complete disregard for the authority

23

of law in this Court, and it will continue, it

24

will continue, unless you do something now.

25

I've got a couple of cases that I want you to
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1

look at on this Rule 1:1 issue.

2

U.S. Supreme Court case, which deals with it

3

very succinctly.
THE JUDGE:

4

5

I've got a

Cooter and Gel versus

Hartman.
MR. LOLLAR:

6

Very good.

One you may

7

not have, and I'll just give it to you, it's a

8

Circuit Court case, you wouldn't have it, is

9

Anderson v. Bussan.

Judge Lindsay Adams from

10

Fairfax Circuit Court had this issue come

11

before her a little different and I think our

12

position is significantly more favorable than

13

hers.

14

without leave to amend and an order was

15

entered sustaining that demurrer encompassing

16

that ruling more than 21 days past and a

17

hearing on a motion for sanctions was then

18

heard.

19

the 21 days and she held that focusing on two

20

central principles of "American

21

Jurisprudence", I'm on the second page now,

22

each of which are of longstanding duration,

23

they are the principles of finality and the

24

principle that abuse of the judicial system

25

should not go unpunished.

In that case the demurrer was sustained

The motion was filed, however, within

That's exactly what
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1

we've got today, abuse of the judicial system.

2

In that case she disregarded their Rule 1:1

3

argument of the Plaintiff trying to avoid

4

sanctions and in the last paragraph there,

5

"For the above-stated reasons I grant

6

Defendant's motion to proceed with the hearing

7

pursuant to 8.01-271.1.

8
9

The actual facts relating to the previous
case and in this case, proceeding through

10

today, Mr. Deal has asked me--

11

practicing attorney in Henrico County and he

12

asked me to ask you to give him the

13

opportunity to be heard on that because he has

14

been living with this for quite sometime and,

15

quite frankly, wants you to hear what he has

16

to say as a victim of this abuse.

17

now, with your permission, defer to him.

18

MR. SMALLENBERG:

He's a

I would

Judge, I think we

19

need to deal with the 1:1 issue and so far the

20

authority I've heard from Mr. Lollar are two

21

Circuit Court cases, one which he doesn't have

22

the case for, but just cites, apparently, from

23

his own note and one which is a 1990 Fairfax

24

Circuit Court case.

25

1991 Virginia Supreme Court case and it's very

Smith versus Stanley is a
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1

clear that once a final order is entered after

2

21 days the Trial Court loses jurisdiction.

3

have a copy of that case, I sent a copy of it

4

to Mr. Lollar yesterday by a fax, and I would

5

proffer a copy of that to the Court.

6

asterisked the relevant paragraph, which is on

7

the third page.

9

I've

May I approach?

THE JUDGE:

8

I

I agree with the wording

of that case, once a final order is entered

10

it's final.

11

here.

12

do we not?

There seems to be some exceptions

We still have a counterclaim pending,

MR. LOLLAR:

13

We have a counterclaim

14

pending and the nonsuit is clearly not a final

15

order.

16

That's exactly what Judge Harris said.
THE JUDGE:

The second point is that

17

nonsuit is not a final order, we left it

18

outstanding, and the third point is, and I

19

think the U.S. Supreme Court is dispositive of

20

this case, there isn't any higher authority.

21

And while I understand it was Federal Rules

22

and Federal Statutes, clearly, it's Rule 11,

23

which is their sanctions rule, which tracks

24

with our sanctions rule.

25

situation in that case and it clearly says a

It was the same
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voluntary, Rule 41A1I, dismissal, does not

2

deprive the District Court of jurisdiction

3

over a Rule 11 motion.

4

that it goes on to say, "In order to comply

5

with the rule requirements it shall impose

6

sanctions.

7

to consider whether a violation was there and

8

it goes on to talk about the fact that it

9

would give no meaning to Rule 11 if one is

If you skip ahead of

The Court must have the authority

10

found to be wrong and sanctions are awarded.

11

I'm not saying we have one in this case, but,

12

and I'm quoting, "If a litigant could purge

13

his Rule 11 violation merely by taking a

14

dismissal he would lose all incentive to

15

investigate more carefully before serving

16

papers and filing", and that's exactly in

17

reading Judge Anunziado's decision what she

18

keyed in on.

19

teeth and it lets any wrongdoer get out of any

20

consequences for wrongdoing by taking a

21

nonsuit.

It gives no meaning to the nonsuit

22

statute.

For better or worse, for the reasons

23

stated in the Supreme Court decision cited

24

already, and following along with the

25

reasoning of Judge Anunziado, this Court has

It gives the sanction motion no
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jurisdiction to hear the sanction motions and

2

unless you can tell me as an Officer of the

3

Court that you did not receive that notice it

4

was clearly noticed.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

5

Judge, I am

6

telling you that on Wednesday when I received

7

the package at 4:00 o'clock I went through my

8

entire file and I went through every loose

9

paper that I had and I found no notice dated

10

July 1 of this year about anything.

11

matter of fact, I then went to Mr. Lollar's

12

bills and didn't see an entry of him having

13

done anything regarding a notice of a motion

14

for sanctions and I have not received it.

15

As a

As to the Rule 1:1, if I could make a

16

proffer, I respectfully disagree with the

17

Court.

18

objection of the Defendant is certainly an

19

appealable order, an order to be appealable,

20

and it's final.

21

voluntary dismissal allows anyone to escape

22

anything because there's a 21-day period in

23

which hearings can be scheduled, orders can be

24

suspended or vacated or modified, and

25

Mr. Lollar never asked that any of those

I think an order of nonsuit taken over

I also disagree that a
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1

things be done.
THE JUDGE:

2

I'm happy for you to

3

note your objections on the order.

4

my ruling.

5

talked to me way, way, back about getting

6

dates for you all.

7

the air.

8

today.

9

There was no motion for a continuance before

I've made

And as to the other, my secretary

You knew this was up in

You knew you were coming down here
He's ready.

He's got his witnesses.

10

everybody got here today.

11

proceed today.

12

MR. LOLLAR:

13

THE JUDGE:

We're going to

Thank you, Your Honor.
Now if you want to put

14

witnesses on, I'll be glad to hear it by way

15

of the witnesses if that's what you'd like to

16

do.

17

stand, please, and raise your right hand.

Anyone that's going to testify, would you

18
19

(Witnesses are sworn.)

20

21

(John Franklin Deal, having been duly

22

sworn, testified as follows:)

23
24
25
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DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LOLLAR:

1
2

Q.

3
4

State your name and address and occupation for
the record?

A.

My name's John Franklin Deal.

My address is

5

4510 South Labernum Avenue, Richmond, Virginia.

6

My occupation is I've been a practicing

7

attorney for 33 years in Henrico County.

8

Q.

Mr. Deal, did you have occasion to be sued by
Charlie Ayers in Henrico County Circuit Court

9

10

in 1993?

11

A.

Yes, sir.

12

Q.

All right.

I was sued twice by Mr. Ayers.
And was the attorney that brought

13

that suit another lawyer in his firm named

14

Scott Stolte?

15

A.

Yes, it was.

16

Q.

And without going into too much detail about

17

the underlying suit against you, I understand

18

it was a suit for malicious prosecution arising

19

out of your cooperation with the Virginia State

20

Police over what was perceived as unlawful acts

21

by Mr. Ayers, is that correct?

22

A.

Yes, sir.

23

Q.

And in that suit filed in Henrico County

That's correct.

24

Circuit Court, do you recall being at hearings

25

before Judge Harris?
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1

A.

Yes, I do.

2

Q.

All right.

Now you recall the Court,

3

specifically, Judge Harris at the September

4

hearing on the demurrer that we filed on your

5

behalf, commenting about-MR. SMALLENBERG:

6
7

Calls

for hearsay.
MR. LOLLAR:

8
9

Objection.

Your Honor, the

transcript is in the record.
THE JUDGE:

10

Is that what was filed

11

from the hearing that we have the transcript

12

of?
MR. LOLLAR:

13
14

the September 2--

15

could.

17

It's

Let me turn to it, if I

THE JUDGE:

16

Yes, Your Honor.

Could I have a

transcript from May 23rd and 28th, 1993?
MR. LOLLAR:

18

Excuse me.

19

of '93.

20

three hearings, actually, one in May and one

21

in September and one in October.

22

you have--

23

That's exactly right.

It was May

THE JUDGE:

There were

And the one

I've read that over and

24

I don't know that this witness needs to

25

testify what Judge Harris said.
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1

transcript is here.

It's part of the

2

pleadings.

3

arises out of that that you want him to

4

testify about, that's fine.

Now if there's something that

5

6
7

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

All right.

Mr. Deal, do you recall Mr. Stolte

8

after the hearing indicating that he was going

9

to go back and look at this matter and consider

10

what facts that you had?

11

MR. SMALLENBERG:

12

Objection.

Calls

for hearsay.

13

MR. LOLLAR:

It does call for

14

hearsay.

15

an admission against interest, Your Honor.

16

Mr. Stolte is his partner and that's

MR. SMALLENBERG:

17

party-opponent here.

18

THE JUDGE:

19

MR. LOLLAR:

20

THE JUDGE:

21

THE WITNESS:

22

I'm not a

The firm is.
It certainly is.
Go ahead.
Would you restate the

question, please.

23

24
25

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Do you recall Mr. Stolte, after the hearing we
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1

had a conversation with him, and he indicated

2

he was going back after the Judge's admonition

3

about finding specific acts or specific facts,

4

alleging specific facts, that you did certain

5

things that would constitute malicious

6

prosecution?

Do you recall that?

7

A.

I sure do.

8

Q.

Do you recall his words?

9

A.

Yes, sir.

Mr. Stolte in response to

10

Judge Harris' request that there be specific

11

allegations in the suit, Judge Harris was

12

trying to get at the specific allegations, and

13

Judge Harris asked him, "Are you alleging

14

Mr. Deal lied to the Police in the underlying

15

investigation?", and Mr. Stolte said no.

16

the Judge said, "Well, what are your specific

17

allegations?

18

then he asked Mr. Stolte again, "Are you

19

alleging Mr. Deal lied to the State Police?",

20

or words to that effect, to which he said, "No.

21

I haven't alleged it, but I believe that we

22

can".

23

right to sustain our demurrer and gave him the

24

right to refile in 15 days, which he did.

25

Q.

11
,

Then

and it went on for awhile and

Based on that the Judge gave him the

And he indicated, did he not, as he was leaving
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that day that he was going to talk to Mr. Ayers

2

and discuss facts that would satisfy the defect

3

that the Court found in the pleadings, is that

4

correct?

5·

A.

There was a conversation that you and me had,

6

Mr. Lollar.

7

talking after the case.

8

Q.

I wasn't there.

Now that suit was refiled and ultimately it was
nonsuited, is that correct?

9

10

A.

That's correct.

11

Q.

And--

12

A.

Excuse me.

Ultimately, I thought it was a

13

demurrer.

14

demurrer was upheld.

15

I saw you all

Q.

The demurrer was upheld.

The second

Well, procedurally, I guess it would be the
same questions we had in this case?

16
17

A.

Yeah.

18

Q.

So there was a nonsuit motion tendered at the

19

same time as our hearing on the demurrer, is

20

that correct?

21

A.

That's correct.

22

THE JUDGE:

23

MR. LOLLAR:

On the second demurrer?
On the second demurrer.

24

That's correct, Your Honor.

25

first demurrer to the Amended Motion for
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Judgment.

1

THE JUDGE:

2

I think you've included

3

copies of the orders and they speak for

4

themselves.
MR. LOLLAR:

5

Yes.

That's correct.

6

7
8

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Now after the conclusion of that case you,
ultimately, obtained a judgment against

9

10

Mr. Ayers and Mr. Stolte and the firm in the

11

amount of almost five thousand dollars, is that

12

correct?

13

A.

correct.

14
15

Forty-nine hundred and some dollars, that's

Q.

And that judgment was ultimately paid, is that
correct?

16
17

A.

Yes, it was.

18

Q.

All right.

Now you were again sued in this

19

particular proceeding about five years later,

20

is that correct?

21

A.

That's correct.

22

Q.

When did you first learn of this lawsuit?

23

A.

In October.

learned about it not--

24
25

The suit was filed in March.

Q.

What year?
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A.

Of '97.

2

Q.

All right.

3

A.

I learned about it in October of '97 when I was
in Germany doing some speaking.

4
5

Q.

How did you learn about it then?

6

A.

My office told me that I'd been sued by
Mr. Ayers for 24 Million 250 Thousand Dollars.

7
8

Q.

And what was your response and what happened?

9

A.

Well, what happened is the Defendant, John F.

10

Deal & Associates, does not exist anymore.

11

Obviously, I exist and Ms. Wells exists.

12

had my law partner to go through the fifty some

13

file boxes that we had on the Jarrett case to

14

prepare documentation to assist you.

15

we hadn't been served yet, but

16

coming.

17

that work and spent several hours doing that.

18

He and I are a new law firm and it has nothing

19

to do with this Jarrett stuff at all.

20

Q.

Let's get it done".

All right.

I

So I

Because

said, "That's

He did all of

Now this was before you were

actually served?

21
22

A.

That's correct.

23

Q.

But insofar as receiving notice, realizing for

24

the first time you had been sued for 24

25

Million, how did you react to that?
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A.

Well, it shook me up.

2

Q.

In what way?

3

A.

I'm glad that Mr. Ayers thinks I'm worth 24

4

Million 250 Thousand Dollars, but I'm not.

5

I've done okay, but I haven't done that good.

6

And it alters your life.

7

were focused on in your life before, when

8

you're fifty-eight years old and you've worked

9

hard and you've been a lawyer before the Bar

I don't care what you

10

and never once have I had a client, to my

11

knowledge, report me to the Bar.

12

Excuse me.

13

to sue me and that's when I sued him for a fee,

14

he countersued, the countersuit was set aside

15

on a summary judgment, and the jury gave me a

16

$19,000 verdict for fees.

17

time.

18

Never once--

Only once have I ever had a client

And so it's the only

And in my law practice I've handled cases

19

from--

I do business practice.

20

from

21

troubles, that have a Billion Dollars in sales,

22

in one I did that, down to the guy at the

23

corner grocery store, and I've been doing it

24

for 33 years.

25

except that one client when I sued him for a

helpi~g

I handle cases

corporations in their financial

Nobody's ever sued me before
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fee and his was thrown out on a summary

2

judgment and I got the fee.

3

Q.

you?

4
5

Did you ever meet Charlie Ayers before he sued

A.

No, sir.

Excuse me.

Yes.

Before he sued me,

6

yes.

7

him Mr. Jarrett and I went to his office and I

8

met him then and I may have seen him a time or

9

two before he was dismissed and I came on as
counsel for Mr. Jarrett.

10

11

When I took over the Jarrett case from

Q.

When you say Mr. Jarrett, you're talking about
Dr. Alvin Jarrett?

12
13

A.

That's correct.

14

Q.

So you were asked by the client, Dr. Alvin

15

Jarrett, to take over the representation of

16

him, which Mr. Ayers had been doing prior to

17

that time?

18

A.

That's right.

19

Q.

And you met him in the course of that turning

20

21

over of the file, is that correct?
A.

That's correct.

That's the first time I was

22

ever in his office.

But I've never seen

23

Mr. Ayers once in the three times he's sued me.

24

He always sends somebody else.

25

himself.
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1

Q.

Now without going into any great amount of

2

detail, I assume you may have seen him again in

3

an incident in your law off ice where the State

4

Police were involved?

5

A.

I saw him at Court.

What happened was, what

6

led up to that was, I observed activity going

7

on in the Estate by Mr. Ayers and another

8

person that I deemed to be attempted extortion

9

of the Jarrett Estate and I consulted with

10

co-counsel in Washington, Ms. Wells and I

11

consulted about it, and we thought, "What do we

12

do?"

13

of the Court, I see an attorney involved in

14

something that I believe to be illegal, I'm not

15

the determiner of the fact, I look and see what

16

I believe is the case.

17

Commonwealth Attorney's Office, talked to

18

Mr. Erinholt, who's now in the Governor's

19

Cabinet, he's the Director of Public Safety,

20

Governor Gilmore is there now, gave him all of

21

the facts, gave Mr. Erinholt all the facts, and

22

went back.

23

Mr. Erinholt calls me back and he says, "We

24

believe there's something here.

25

allow the State Police to come in and videotape

And the only thing to do, I'm an Officer

I went to the

I'd done what I was supposed to do.
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1

a meeting between you and the person who was

2

working under Mr. Ayers, who was involved in

3

this matter with him, and I said, "Yes.

4

Whatever you all want to do I'll cooperate", so

5·

that meeting was held.

6

They then asked for another meeting to be

7

held, the State Police did, through the

8

Commonwealth's Attorney.

9

mind if we videotape this?", and I said, "Y'all

10

They said, "Do you

tell me what to do.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

11

Judge, this is now

12

hearsay and I think we've gone far afield in

13

other argument.
THE JUDGE:

14

We are getting a little

15

bit far afield.

16

alot of feeling you want to vent, but we need

17

to narrow it for what we need to do today.

18

I understand that there's

THE WITNESS:

Could I say one more

19

thing?

20

The Grand Jury indicted him, the Judge denied

21

a motion to strike the evidence during his

22

criminal trial, the jury found him innocent,

23

and my reward for doing what I was supposed to

24

do an an Officer of the Court is I got sued

25

three times.

I didn't appear before the Grand Jury.
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1
2

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

And you've never had any,

I

assume, exchange of

3

words, harsh or otherwise, with Mr. Ayers about

4

a~y

5

since that date?

6

A.

matters relating to the Jarrett Estate

To my knowledge, since the date of that

7

criminal trial, I have never seen Mr. Ayers

8

face nor have I heard his voice.

9

Q.

So the first time you had any dealings with

10

him, again, is when you were sued in the case

11

in Henrico County styled Ayers versus Deal?

12

A.

That's right.

And I never saw him then.

13

Q.

And he was sanctioned $5,000 for that and then

14

you were sued again in this suit for 24 Million

15

Dollars, is that correct?

16

A.

That's correct.

17

Q.

Now when you first learned about this suit did

18

you get a copy of the pleading and did you go

19

through the motion for judgment, which has got

20

six or seven counts, I believe, maybe more?

21

A.

Yes, I did.

I went through it when I got back

22

to this country.

I went through the motion for

23

judgment.

24

assessment of the case as to what he thought.

25

The lawsuit was, as he said, a bunch of

My law partner had made an
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garbage.

1

He said-MR. SMALLENBERG:

2

Objection to what

his law partner said.

3

THE WITNESS:

4

All right.

I'm sorry,

Your Honor.

5
6

THE JUDGE:

Sustained.

7

know what was done to prepare.

8

the issue.

We need to
I think that's

9

10
11

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Since this suit was filed you and your firm

12

have spent a considerable amount of time

13

preparing for your defense, assisting me,

14

responding to the allegations in the pleading,

15

even though we never got to the merits of that

16

pleading, is that correct?

17

A.

That's correct.

18

MR. LOLLAR:

If I may approach the

bench, Your Honor?

19

THE JUDGE:

20

Okay.

21

22
23

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Exhibit B is an affidavit from you with

24

itemized time from both Thomas E. Latchney,

25

your law partner, and I believe a law clerk and
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1

you and an actual bill from the court reporter

2

for transcribing the June 10, 1998, hearing, is

3

that correct?

4

A.

Bear with me just a minute, please.

(Pause)

5

don't see Mr. Latchney's bill in here.

6

your bill and your attachments and the court

7

reporter's bill for $125 ·for the last hearing.

8

But this is only your bill.

9

Mr. Latchney's or mine here.
MR. LOLLAR:

10

I

This is

I don't see

Your Honor, I do have

11

an affidavit that I have submitted previously.

12

I would like that to be accepted into evidence

13

as a Defendant's Exhibit.

14

that one 1.

15

me to testify when I've submitted an affidavit

16

regarding our fees.

17

you'd like, but--

19

I don't feel it's necessary for

THE JUDGE:

18

We can maybe mark

I'd be happy to do so if

Was that attached as

Exhibit B to the September 2 memorandum?

20

MR. LOLLAR:

That's correct.

And I

21

have another one from Mr. Latchney, a separate

22

affidavit.

23

not go to the trouble of bringing him here

24

today.

25

Exhibit B and we'll have Mr. Deal's bill as

That's Mr. Deal's partner.

We did

I'd like to tender that as Defendant's
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1

Exhibit C.

We could do it in that order.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

2

Judge, as to

3

Exhibit A, I think it would be necessary for

4

Mr. Lollar to testify because there are

5

entries in there I'd wish to cross-examine him

6

on.

7

today and just because there's an affidavit

8

doesn't make something admissible.

9

some page and a half of items, which are

As to Exhibit B, Mr. Latchney's not here

He's got

10

undated, and it's just precursory hours and

11

amounts owed.

12

an affidavit attached to something doesn't

13

make it admissible.

14

can certainly testify to that.

15

MR. LOLLAR:

You know, just because there's

As to Mr. Deal's

c, he

Your Honor, this is a

16

hearing on a motion for sanctions and it

17

involves fees and both the ethical rule and I

18

think the general procedure is to accept

19

evidence of fees by affidavit.

20

stand for anything that I've got in my

21

itemized billings, if the Court wants to allow

22

him to question me.

23

bill, the affidavit is appropriate under a

24

motions hearing.

25

now, it's only two pages, that he can identify

I'm happy to

But as to Mr. Latchney's

I have Mr. Deal's statement
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1

and we can have it offered also.

2

all three affidavits are appropriate for the

3

purposes of that.
THE JUDGE:

4

I believe

He identified the other

one as his partner?

5
6

MR. LOLLAR:

7

THE JUDGE:

Yes, he did.
Has he identified the

other one?

8

MR. LOLLAR:

9

No, he has not.

10

would like to approach him and have him

11

identify that now.

12

THE JUDGE:

13

MR. LOLLAR:

I

But would he be able to?
Yes.

14
15
16

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Mr. Deal, here's an affidavit from Thomas E.

17

Latchney with an itemized statement attached to

18

it.

You're familiar with that?

19

A.

Yes, sir.

20

Q.

And you're personally aware that he spent that

21

time devoted to this matter, to the defense of

22

this matter, is that correct?

23

A.

No question he spent that time and under him

24

also was Stephanie Bowden, which is on the

25

second page as

11

S.B.

11
,

which is a law clerk,
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1

she spent the time, too, and I would represent

2

to this Court as an Officer of the Court that's

3

a minimal amount of time that was spent.

4

There's actually more time that was spent on

5

that.

6

Q.

So you've got your law partner and staff?

7

A.

That's correct.

8
9

MR. LOLLAR:
number them instead.

Maybe you ought to
Mine would be Number 1

10

and Mr. Latchney's affidavit could be

11

identified as Number 2.

12

THE JUDGE:

13

of that one here?

14

think it's a copy.

15

Do you have the original

There is one in here, but I
Yours is the original.

MR. LOLLAR:

This is an original of

16

Latchney's.

17

not going to need an affidavit.

18

going to introduce his as an exhibit.

19

And since he's testifying he's

THE JUDGE:

I'm just

I am going to overrule

20

the objection and I'm going to let them come

21

in by way of affidavit.

22
23

(The documents last-above referred to were

24

marked by the Court as Defendant's Exhibits

25

1, 2, and 3 for identification and admitted
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into evidence.)

1

2

3
4

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

All right.

Mr. Deal, this is a statement, two

5

pages, of your time devoted to this matter, is

6

that correct?

7

A.

That's correct.

8

Q.

All right.

And that would be Defendant's

Number 3.

9

10

A.

And that's also a minimal amount of time.

11

Q.

All right.

And you had the court reporter, I

12

believe the same reporter as today, type the

13

transcript from the June 10 hearing, is that

14

correct?

15

A.

That's right.

Because I wanted what Mr. Test

16

told this Court to be reiterated to the Court

17

if it had to be.

18

Q.

And that cost was what?

19

A.

$240.

20

MR. LOLLAR:

And, Your Honor, I

21

would say for the record that in my affidavit,

22

which I believe you have the original of,

23

there are costs.

24

her appearance fee, the court reporter's fee,

25

for the June 10 hearing, which is $125, and

There's actually a copy of
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1

I'm anticipating she'll have an appearance fee

2

today of $125.

3

is to put in all the costs and fees that have

4

been involved in defending this lawsuit since

5

we first became aware of it.

6

that figure is actually now a little more than

7

the amount set forth in my memorandum, which I

8

believe both you and Mr. Smallenberg have a

9

copy of.

What we have tried to do here

The total on

On the last page there the amount

10

has been increased by the $240 charge for the

11

transcript, which I didn't have at the time

12

because it was ordered directly by Mr. Deal,

13

and so that goes up to $22,181.17.

14
15
16

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

And, Mr. Deal, I would ask you would that

17

figure $22,181.17 include all the attorneys'

18

fees of Heilig, McKenry, Frairn & Lollar and the

19

costs and expenses of our f irrn in def ending you

20

and Mrs. Cobbler-Wells in this proceeding and

21

the amount of your time that you have asked the

22

Court to reimburse you and Mr. Latchney, your

23

law partner's time, and certain expenses, which

24

I believe are limited to the court reporter's

25

transcript fees?
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1

A.

Yes, sir.

2

time.

3

there.

4

Q.

As a matter of fact, I spent more

I spent time that I didn't even put in

All right.

And you did appear at the June 10,

5

1998, hearing along with Mrs. Cobbler-Wells, is

6

that correct?

7

A.

Yes, sir.

And I put that time in that bill.
MR. LOLLAR:

8

9

All right.

Answer any

questions Mr. Smallenberg has.

10
11

12
13
14

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMALLENBERG:

Q.

three times by Charlie Ayers, is that correct?

15
16

Mr. Deal, you testified that you've been sued

A.

Ayers-related parties.

I believe the malicious

17

prosecution suit was him alone versus me.

18

suit as Cardinal Holding Company is an

19

Ayers-related party, yes, that's correct.

This

20

Q.

Well, that's twice.

That's not three.

21

A.

You had the first malicious prosecution suit,

22

the demurrer was sustained.

He was given leave

23

to amend in 15 days under certain conditions.

24

He amended.

25

suit.

In my way of counting that's a new

It might not be a new docket number, but
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it's a second suit.

1
2

Q.

Jarrett?

3

4

When did you begin representing Alvin Q.

A.

I don't remember the date.

It was somewhere in

5·

the early 90's, like '90 or '91.

6

remember the date exactly.

7

Q.

I do not

And did you enter into a written fee agreement
with him?

8
9

A.

Yes, I did.

10

Q.

And was that the fee agreement that your
attorney tendered on June 10 to this Court?

11

12

A.

I don't remember what fee agreement was

13

tendered.

14

you've got a copy of it--

15

Q.

I'd have to see the agreement.

The matters that you were representing

16

Mr. Jarrett on, they related to the Mary

17

Morton-Parsons Estate, is that correct?

18

A.

I don't believe.

If we did anything on Mary

19

Morton-Parsons I don't remember it.

20

I do not remember it.

21

Q.

If we did

You don't remember anything on Mary
Morton-Parsons?

22

23

If

A.

I was not the only attorney involved.

There

24

was myself, there was Mrs. Wells, and there was

25

Bob Devos of Popham, Haik, Washington, D.C., a
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

285

John F. Deal, Esquire -Cross

43
1

law firm that I had brought in to be co-counsel

2

with us.

3

Q.

I'm simply asking do you remember?

4

A.

I'm trying to explain my answer.

They handled

5

matters, some of which I wasn't familiar with

6

at all.

7

John Deal, do not remember myself handling

8

Mary Morton-Parsons matters.

9

don't remember.

10
11

Q.

If they did, they did.

I'm saying I,

They may have, I

In 1990 did you file a civil action on behalf
of Dr. Jarrett against B. Rolen Frazier?
MR. LOLLAR:

12

Your Honor, I'm going

13

to object.

14

examination.

15

I gave him a little leeway because I just

16

didn't know where he was going with it.

17

not here to try the allegations of his

18

meritless claim against Mr. Deal today.

19

beyond that.

20

nonsuited that, for good reason, because he

21

didn't have any claim.

22

explore that.

23

direct.

24
25

It's beyond the scope of my direct
It's irrelevant and immaterial.

We're

He is

He's had his opportunity and he

Now he wants to

I didn't get into that on my

It's beyond the scope.
THE JUDGE:

What's the relevance at

this point?
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MR. SMALLENBERG:

1

Judge, he argued

2

that it's beyond the scope.

3

He claimed it was a meritless claim and he

4

claimed it was without basis.

5

Mr. Lollar pops up he throws that in.

6

if he's going to throw that in everytime he

7

gets up and says anything I think I have a

8

right to explore the merits of the case.
MR. LOLLAR:

9

He said it twice.

Everytime
Well,

What I say is not part

10

of the examination on my objection, Your

11

Honor.

12

of Mr. Deal and it's beyond the scope of that.

13

It has no relevance because the case is

14

nonsuited, as he well points out.

15

I'm sticking to my direct examination

THE JUDGE:

Well, one of the issues

16

I'm going to have to determine is whether or

17

not there was a good faith basis when this

18

thing was filed, or at any point along the

19

proceedings.

20

the witness and let him sit down and then he

21

wants to call him as his own witness we can do

22

it that way or we can just let him inquire

23

while he's up on the stand, but that is an

24

issue I am going to have to deal with today.

25

Now if you want to cross-examine

MR. LOLLAR:

I have no problem with
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1

that.

I looked at the issue as whether they

2

had filed a suit that they had absolutely no

3

right to file and we're willing and more than

4

ready and will stand for and answer any

5

questions about the underlying representation

6

of the Jarrett's, but my feeling was

7

regardless of how good or bad that

8

representation was this fellow has no right to

9

file that suit in the name of the Jarrett's or

10

in the name of Cardinal because he knew, and

11

Charlie Ayers knew, they were expressly

12

prohibited by contract to do that and that is

13

sanctionable.

14

THE JUDGE:

And those are the issues

15

in this case, so you're welcome to inquire

16

from this witness about anything relating to

17

the filing of the new suit.

18

to go back.

19

action at the time this suit was filed?

20

guess that's the issue.

21

Now we don't need

I mean, was there a cause of

MR. SMALLENBERG:

I

Thank you, Judge.

22

23
24

25

BY MR. SMALLENBERG:
Q.

In August of 1990 did you file a civil action
against Mr. Frazier on behalf of Dr. Jarrett?
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1

A.

Mrs. Wells could probably answer that better

2

than I.

I ·know we had litigation.

3

remember if it--

4

I believe we did.

5

did.

I don't

I believe we did.
I'm not sure.

Excuse me.

I believe we

6

Q.

You sued Frazier for 11 Million Dollars?

7

A.

I don't remember the amount.

8

Q.

Okay.

At the time you filed that suit in 1990

were you aware that Frazier and Jarrett had

g

10

already entered into a written settlement

11

agreement two years earlier?

12

A.

Mr. Smallenberg, I've got 50 boxes of files in

13

my office.

14

to any of these questions.

15

can't say no.

16

Q.

I am not at all prepared to respond
I can't say yes.

I

Mr. Deal, I'm asking you about the first count

17

of the motion for judgment.

18

that you don't know whether or not you did

19

what's alleged in the first count of the motion

20

for judgment?

21

A.

Are you telling us

When I saw the motion for judgment I knew I

22

wasn't even going to have to get into the

23

counts for the motion for judgment.

24

matter of fact, I didn't hardly read the counts

25

verbatim.
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1

Q.

So if I ask you about the counts in the motion

2

for judgment your answer across the board is

3

going to be, "I don't know.

4

A.

Yes.

I would refer you to my counsel,

5

Mr. Lollar, on that issue.

6

He's my defense counsel.

7
8

Q.

I don't remember"?

That's his job.

You want me to ask Mr. Lollar whether or not
you filed suit against Mr. Frazier?
MR. LOLLAR:

9

Your Honor, again, I

10

try not to object and give him a little leeway

11

on this, but again, as I understand the

12

Court's ruling, he's to restrict his

13

examination to what I'd covered on my direct

14

examination and the basis, the legal basis,

15

for him filing this suit, which was that

16

Charlie Ayers had no right to assign Cardinal

17

Holding Company, which was interestly formed

18

the same day.
THE JUDGE:

19

And that is the issue.

20

It's a legal issue as to the problems with

21

this case and the legal issues were, "Was it

22

assignable because of the contract?", and then

23

the second legal issue is when the Virginia

24

Supreme Court case came out in February of

25

'97.
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1

MR. LOLLAR:

2

THE JUDGE:

'98.
'98.

Excuse me.
Saying that under

3

the circumstances that we have in this case,

4

and I think defense counsel admitted it, that

5

it was not assignable.

6

counsel's arguments as to why they thought it

7

was assignable at the time they filed the suit

8

was because the Supreme Court hadn't spoken on

9

it and there was a statute in the meantime.

I think Plaintiff's

I

10

mean, it really is a legal issue and my

11

determination is going to be one of, "Was the

12

assumption reasonable at the time the action

13

was filed?", and if you get over that hurdle

14

then, number two, "Did at any point it become

15

unreasonable because of anything that happened

16

subsequently or because of the Virginia

17

Supreme Court decision that came out in

18

February?"

19

issue in this case?

20

I mean, really, isn't that the

MR. LOLLAR:

That is.

And you're

21

anticipating my argument, what it will be, and

22

it has been briefed.

23

THE JUDGE:

I mean, but for those

24

two legal questions.

Because I don't think

25

there's any dispute in facts that there was,
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1

in fact, this contract that said they couldn't

2

be assigned without the Jarrett's permission,

3

the Jarrett's rights couldn't be assigned

4

would the Jarrett's permission, basically.

s·

But for that contract and but for the Supreme

6

Court case then we wouldn't be here.

7

litigating the case, not litigating the issue

8

of sanctions, because there may be many

9

factual questions and a basis for those

We'd be

10

questions, but that's not the point.

11

point is even if you take all of those things

12

into consideration, because of that contract

13

and/or because of the subsequent Supreme Court

14

decision, should this thing have been ended

15

long before it was and

16

that sanctionable.

17

MR. LOLLAR:

9Y

The

not doing that is

And there's one legal

18

argument that you left out that I've covered

19

in my memorandum and that is that it was

20

time-barred by the three-year statute of

21

limitation under Oleyar v. Kerr.

22

copy of that case if you need it, but it's

23

well-known law in Virginia.

24

written contract here that could be sued upon

25

for a man that died.

292

There's no

I think he died well
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1

beyond five years from the filing and there's

2

no written contract with the Estate.

3

three-year statute, it's time-barred, and

4

that's the other argument.
THE JUDGE:

5
6

Well, again, that's a

legal question.

7

MR. LOLLAR:

8

THE JUDGE:

9

It's a

That's correct.
And if you need to get

information from this witness that has any

10

bearing on any of those legal issues, be my

11

guest, but we don't need to go back through

12

all of the other factual issues.

13

counsel, Mr. Lollar, might even concede some

14

of those questions were legitimate questions,

15

but it's not the allegations or the reason

16

we're here.

17

MR. LOLLAR:

Defense

Well, I will say that

18

with Mr. Deal we don't want to get into that

19

because it will take a whole lot longer.

20

is offended by the allegations and he would

21

def end each and every one of them as long as

22

it takes.

23

THE JUDGE:

He

I know that and I'm sure

24

Plaintiff's counsel can appreciate that, too,

25

if you were in that situation.
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1

the issue today.

2

issues.

The issues are the legal

MR. SMALLENBERG:

3

Judge, and he

4

brought it up.

If you look to the assignment

5

issue of whether or not legally it was

6

assignable there is a 1908 Virginia Supreme

7

Court case which seems to indicate that it's

8

not, however, far after that 8.01.6-THE JUDGE:

9

And I appreciate all

10

that, but while we have this witness on the

11

stand as to those issues is there anything

12

that you want to ask this witness, either

13

about his bills that were submitted or about

14

any circumstances that relate to the signing

15

of the agreement or if there was any question

16

that the agreement was valid or any of those

17

things.

18

questioning on things that aren't relevant to

19

this proceeding.

20

But other than that you're

MR. SMALLENBERG:

If we're limiting

21

this to the issue of was it assignable and to

22

the statute of limitation expiring, I'm not

23

sure that there's any factual issues other

24

than the bills.

25

THE JUDGE:

Well, that's up to you.
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1

Those are the reasons and if I make a decision

2

it's going to be based on the answers to those

3

questions.

4

MR. SMALLENBERG:

5·

THE JUDGE:

All right.

So did you have anything

you wanted to ask him about his bill or--

6

MR. SMALLENBERG:

7

I have some more

questions.

8
9

10
11

BY MR. SMALLENBERG:
Q.

executors of the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett?

12
13

Mr. Deal, when did you last represent the

A.

I do not remember the date.

I don't remember

14

the date.

I believe it's in our pleadings.

15

Whatever Mr. Lollar filed is what it is.

16

Q.

But you don't recall?

17

A.

No.

18

Q.

Do you recall when the Jarrett versus Frazier

I don't recall the exact date, no.

matter was concluded?

19
20

A.

I do not.

21

Q.

Do you remember advising Dr. Jarrett on some
land in Irving, Texas?

22
23

A.

Yes.

24

Q.

Do you remember when that matter was concluded?

25

A.

Not the date, no, I do not.
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1

Q.

Do you remember giving Dr. Jarrett some advice
as to the Crilean Partnership?

2
3

A.

Yes.

4

Q.

Do you remember when that matter was concluded?

5

A.

No.

6

Q.

Do you remember representing Dr. Jarrett with
respect to some Union Oil stock options?

7

8

A.

That was an issue, yes.

9

Q.

Do you remember when that was concluded?

10

A.

No.

11

Q.

Do you know where the stock certificate is
today?

12
13

A.

No.

14

Q.

Did you ever return it to Union Oil?

15

A.

I don't know.

16

Q.

Was it ever in your possession?

17

A.

I don't know that either.

18

MR. LOLLAR:

Your Honor, I'm going

19

to object again.

He's doing the same thing

20

that he did before after you have, as I

21

understand it, twice indicated that the

22

inquiry, the examination, ought to be limited

23

to facts relating to the assignment.

24

did start out and pref ace some of the

25

questions about "last represent" and that
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1

would relate to statute of limitations, but

2

now he's asking him about documents and things

3

like that.

That's not relevant.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

4

Judge, the line of

5

questioning is relevant.

6

allegations in the motion for judgment is that

7

Mr. Deal was holding 1.5 Million shares of

8

this corporation in escrow and never returned

9

them.
THE JUDGE:

10

One of the

I don't think that has

11

anything to do with the issues as we framed

12

them for today.

13

representation stopped, certainly, is relevant

14

because there is a question of statute of

15

limitations.

16

going to sustain the objection to the rest of

17

those questions.

Any dates as far as when his

So that's fair game, but I'm

18
19
20

BY MR. SMALLENBERG:
Q.

Mr. Deal, do you remember representing

21

Dr. Jarrett with respect to some land in

22

Goshen, New York?

23

York?

24
25

A.

Yes.

In Sullivan County, New·

Goshen, New York.

I don't remember the

name of the county.
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1

Q.

Do you remember when that course of
representation--

2

3

A.

I do not remember the dates.

4

Q.

Do you remember the last time you billed the

No, I do not.

Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett?

5

6

A.

No,

7

Q.

Do you remember the last time you received any

I

do not.

payments from the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett?

8

do not remember the date.

9

A.

I

10

Q.

Do you remember a final order being entered by

11

the Supreme Court of Virginia in the case of

12

the Estate of Mary Morton-Parsons versus Alvin

13

Q. Jarrett on March 23rd, 1992?

14

A.

I

was told that one was entered.

15

seen it,

16

the dates on it.

I

may have

don't remember, but I don't remember

THE JUDGE:

17

I

Well,

I

don't know.

18

Mr. Lollar, you answered that in your Demurrer

19

and Special Plea and you noted March 23rd,

20

1992.

21

there?

22

There is no dispute about that date, is

MR. LOLLAR:

No.

That's been

23

alleged in Paragraph 7 in the opening

24

paragraphs of the motion for judgment.

25

THE JUDGE:

I think on Page 2, and I
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1

know it's a Special Plea and Bar, but you've

2

got that date and I think you acknowledged

3

that that is the date.
MR. LOLLAR:

4

For the purpose of this

5

hearing we will stipulate that date because,

6

again, the case was taken over by the Clark &

7

Stant firm, ultimately, and whenever one firm,

8

just as Mr. Ayers turned it over to Mr. Deal,

9

Mr. Deal turned it over to Clark & Stant,

10

there's a little bit of duplication or

11

cross-over there between the dates.

12

that's good enough.

13

earlier than that that he terminated his

14

representation, but we said, you know, so

15

what, we'll go with that date.

17

THE JUDGE:

22
23

Anything else from this

witness?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

20

21

That's fine,

Judge.

18
19

We felt that it was

MR. SMALLENBERG:

16

But

Not at this time,

Judge.
THE JUDGE:

Mr. Lollar, anything

else that you wanted on redirect?

24

MR. LOLLAR:

25

a minute, Your Honor.

If you'll give me just
(Pause)
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1

2

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

Mr. Deal, when did you first learn of the
company called Cardinal Holding Company?

3
4

A.

When I got sued.

5

Q.

All right.

was organized in Virginia?

6
7

And do you know when that company

A.

I sure do.

It was organized on the day that

8

the suit was filed in this Court, a year before

9

it was served on me.

Mr. Ayers is the

10

president and the secretary/treasurer of that

11

corporation.

12

same day that the suit was filed in this Court.

13

That's the first I ever heard of

It's charter was issued on the

it~

14

Q.

In other words, March 21, 1997?

15

A.

That's correct.

16

Q.

And that was about three to four weeks after

17

the second settlement agreement was signed in

18

mid-February of 1997, is that correct?

19

A.

I believe that's correct.

20

Q.

You've since learned that?

21

A.

Yes.

22

Q.

Were you privy at all to the second settlement
agreement?

23
24

25

A.

No.

Were you aware of it?

I had no idea what was going on there.

didn't care.

I

I had been out of this thing many
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years.

1
2

Q.

And it's fair to say that to your recollection

3

now, having heard a date, that you terminated

4

your representation of both Jarrett, of course,

5

when he died as alleged March 27, 1991, and of

6

the Estate prior to March 23, 1992?

7

A.

Yes, sir.

Yes, sir.

Without any question.

8

MR. LOLLAR:

9

THE JUDGE:
step down.

10

No further questions.
Thank you, sir.

Anything else, Mr. Lollar?
MR. LOLLAR:

11

12

You may

I would like to call

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells.

13
14

(Rhonda Cobbler-Wells, having been duly sworn,

15

testified as follows:)

16

17
18
19
20

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

21
22

State your name, address, and occupation for
the record?

A.

My name is Rhonda Wells.

By trade I'm an

23

attorney, but I've been at home with my kids

24

for three years.

25

seven or eight years.

I worked with Mr. Deal for
I live in Henrico
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County.

1

2

Q.

And you have been licensed to practice law
since what year?

3

4

A.

I don't know.

5

Q.

Okay.

6

A.

Yes.

7

Q.

Thank you.

More than five years, let's say?

And you worked with Mr. Deal in the

8

firm in representing Dr. Jarrett subsequent to

9

his death on the Jarrett Estate for a short
period?

10
11

A.

Yes.

12

Q.

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells, I understand that you have

13

not actually devoted any time defending this

14

matter in the form of legal research or

15

anything like that since you've not been

16

practicing law since this suit was filed, is

17

that correct?

18

A.

That's correct.

19

Q.

When did you first learn that the suit was
filed?

20

21

A.

I think Robert Devos in Washington called us to

22

let us know that this suit had been filed.

23

think he called me at home.

24

litigator that worked with us on the Jarrett

25

affairs.
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1

Q.

You have not been practicing law with Mr. Deal
since about when?

2
3

A.

I think it was around '95.

4

Q.

All right.

5

A.

Yes.

6

Q.

And, I take it, you've not been practicing law?

7

A.

I've not practiced law in any fashion.

So you were at home at the time?

I have

8

two boys, seven and nine, and I stay at home

9

and care for them.

10

Q.

When you got the call were you told that a

11

24 Million 250 Thousand Dollar suit had been

12

filed against you?

13

A.

Yes.

I was told that.

14

Q.

What was your reaction?

15

A.

That's hard to describe.

16

Q.

Were you upset?

17

A.

Yes.

18

Q.

And can you elaborate on that?

19

A.

I really don't know how to describe it.

It's been a nightmare.

I

20

don't know if anybody can imagine what it's

21

like.

22

Q.

23

Obviously, you were concerned about a
24 Million Dollar suit?

24

A.

Yes, sir.

25

Q.

And you hadn't been practicing law at the time
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for about three years, is that correct?

1
2

A.

Yes, sir.

3

Q.

And you've met with me a couple of times to
discuss the matter, is that correct?

4
5

A.

Yes, sir.

6

Q.

And you've been down here now for your second

7

hearing on this matter, is that correct?

8

A.

Yes, sir.

9

Q.

And you've had to leave your children at home,
is that correct?

10
11

A.

Yes, sir.

12

Q.

Somebody having to take care of them while
you're here?

13

14

A.

Yes, sir.

15

Q.

Is your husband here with you today?

16

A.

Yes, he is.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

17

18

relevant.

19

sentiment.

He's just trying to invoke

MR. LOLLAR:

20

Judge, this isn't

On the contrary, Your

21

Honor.

I think there's nothing more relevant.

22

When a person is subjected to a 24 Million

23

Dollar lawsuit that's totally baseless and

24

frivolous the Court, to trier of fact, needs

25

to hear how the victim of that feels.
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1

Feelings are important.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

2

Judge, the Court

3

has already said that the only issues today

4

are statute of limitation and assignment and

5

here he goes seeking another opportunity to

6

stick in.the jab baseless and frivolous.

7

telling the Court that I researched my factual

8

allegations and I don't believe the factual

9

allegations are frivolous and meritless, but

I'm

10

here he goes, everytime he stands up he throws

11

that in, and the Court's already said those

12

aren't the issues.
MR. LOLLAR:

13

Your Honor,

14

Mr. Smallenberg obviously doesn't understand

15

English.

16

a suit cannot be filed because it's not

17

assignable or it's time-barred.

18

THE JUDGE:

Baseless and frivolous applies when

I understand that.

But

19

we need to have the evidence conform, too.

20

Even if the Court were to award sanctions you

21

need to indicate the issues related to what

22

sanctions that I can award and don't know that

23

I can award--

24

important and I understand there are alot of

25

them involved on both sides of this.

I understand feelings are
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1

tell that just in the courtroom today and the

2

last time you all were here.

3

stick, again, to the issues at hand.

4

MR. SMALLENBERG:

But we need to

Judge, I also

s·

object to the insult that I don't understand

6

English.

I hope it's not going to continue.
THE JUDGE:

7

Okay.

Okay.

And I

8

don't need to listen to the banter back and

9

forth between the two of you either.

Let's

10

get on with what we need to get on with and

11

cut out everything else.

12

13
14

BY MR. LOLLAR:
Q.

All right.

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells, you've already

15

indicated that you didn't spend any time for

16

which you are now seeking some sort of monetary

17

reimbursement, but you've testified that the

18

suit and the knowledge of it being filed

19

against you did have an affect on you, is that

20

correct?

21

A.

Yes.

And I spent time on the case, but nothing

22

that was billable.

23

But it has been a nightmare.

24

something to live with.

25

Q.

I mean, I've worked on it.
It's been

There's been a claim in the motion for
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1

sanctions that this suit was filed to harass

2

John Deal and you.

3

personally would be aware of that would support

4

that claim?

5

A.

Can you state what you

I believe that Mr. Ayers filed this suit in

6

revenge for the testimony and the evidence that

7

we provided to the Henrico Criminal Court in

8

the extortion trial.

9

Q.

That's what I believe.

Now you weren't sued in the first suit, only

10

Mr. Deal was.

11

would sue you in this particular case?

12

A.

I don't know.

13

Q.

All right.

Do you have any idea why he

You did work, I assume, on the

Jarrett Estate?

14
15

A.

I did most of the work on the Jarrett Estate.

16

Q.

And let me ask you again, I've already asked

17

Mr. Deal.

To the best of your knowledge and

18

recollection would that date that's set forth

19

in Paragraph 7 of Mr. Smallenberg's motion for

20

judgment, March 23, 1992--

21

Dr. Jarrett died March 27, 1991.

22

alleged that you represented Jarrett's interest

23

until at least through March 23, 1992.

24

have any recollection when you terminated your

25

representation or is it fair to say it wouldn't

Of course,

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

307

They've

Do you

Rhonda Cobbler-Wells, Esquire - Cross
65

have been any later than that?

1

2

A.

Well, the Jarrett's really fired us in December

3

before that March and I think David Adams was

4

tying up some loose ends and said your name is

5-

on the pleadings.

6

me to sign it.

7

administrative.

8

Q.

He sent it to me and asked

It was a procedural thing,

So it is fair to say that by March you were
completely out of the case and you were no

9
10

longer representing--

11

I said case.

12

relationship between you and your firm and the

13

Jarrett Estate would have ended in March of

14

1992, is that correct?

15

A.

Or the representation.

I meant the attorney-client

That's right.
MR. LOLLAR:

16

That's all I've got.

17
18
19

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMALLENBERG:

20

21

Q.

firm of John Deal & Associates?

22
23

A.

Around 1987.

I think I probably passed the Bar

in '85.

24
25

Mrs. Wells, when did you start working for the

Q.

So you were already working there the first
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1

time Dr. Jarrett came through the door seeking

2

representation?

3

A.

Yes, sir.

4

Q.

Were you involved in those matters from the
outset?

5
6

A.

Yes, sir.

7

Q.

Were you involved in this matter right up until

8

the firm of John Deal & Associates were fired

9

by Dr. Jarrett's executor?

10

A.

Yes, sir.

11

Q.

And you would agree that after you were fired

12

there were some outstanding pleadings that had,

13

among others, your name on it and that orders

14

were later entered terminating those

15

proceedings?

16

A.

I recall the pleading that Mr. Lollar referred
to.

17

I don't recall any others.

18

Q.

Is that a Supreme Court case?

19

A.

I think it was.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

20
21

for this witness, Judge.
THE JUDGE:

22

23

No more questions

Anything else on

redirect?

24

MR. LOLLAR:

25

THE JUDGE:

None, Your Honor.
All right.
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1

down.

Is that your evidence?
MR. LOLLAR:

2

That's our evidence.

I

3

have submitted our exhibits and, of course, my

4

affidavit for my firm's fees, all of which I

5

will have sworn to and as an Officer of the

6

Court would state to the Court that it was

7

necessary and required to defend these claims

8

through today.
THE JUDGE:

9

10

Mr. Smallenberg, did you

have any evidence that you wanted to put on?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

11

Yes, Judge.

And,

12

Judge, if we could I might ask for about five

13

minutes.

14

THE JUDGE:

Well, I need to make a

15

phone call and that's what I was going to

16

suggest to you all, too.

17

started, if you had evidence, if we could take

18

five minutes.

19

If before you got

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Judge, what I'm

20

going to do is I'm going to run straight out

21

to the car.

22

have some other documents that I need to get

23

and I'll come right back.

24

25

I intended to make two trips.

THE JUDGE:

Okay.

I

I'm sure if you

don't get back by the time I get in here maybe
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1

there will be somebody else with something

2

short that wants to chat with me for a second.
MR. LOLLAR:

3

That would be fine.

4

(Off the record.)
6

THE JUDGE:

7

Just to clear up to

8

record, the cites on the cases on the Court's

9

previous ruling is Anderson versus Bussan,

10

22 Virginia Circuit 93.

That was Judge

11

Anunziado's decision that was referred to.

12

The U.S. Supreme Court case is Cooter and Gel

13

versus Hartman Corporation, which is 496 U.S.

14

384.

That's it.

15
16

(Off the record.)

17
18

THE JUDGE:

All right.

Back on the

19

record.

20

papers and are you ready to proceed now?

21

Mr. Smallenberg, you have retrieved

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Yes, I am, Judge.

22

I don't know how the Court wants to do this,

23

but I think the first witness would have to be

24

myself as a Defendant in this.

25

THE JUDGE:

These are always messy
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1

situations, aren't they?

What is it that you

2

wanted to talk about?

3

things by way of stipulation?

Maybe we can do some

MR. SMALLENBERG:

4

Well, Judge, I

5

want to testify as to why we thought that the

6

right was assignable under the Jarrett-Ayers

7

settlement agreement.

8

how I have calculated the statute of

9

limitations and issues such as that.
THE JUDGE:

10
11

I want to testify as to

Mr. Lollar, can we let

it come by way of argument?
MR. LOLLAR:

12

We can, Your Honor.

I

13

would love to have the opportunity to

14

cross-examine Mr. Smallenberg, I would relish

15

the opportunity, but we can do it through

16

argument.
THE JUDGE:

17

If you're satisfied with

18

that.

I mean, as far as how you decided to

19

calculate, the evidence would be the dates

20

things happened and then as far as your

21

reasonings to why.

22

legal argument and I think you can make that

23

by way of argument.

24

to--

25

What's the first part of what you wanted to

I'm sorry.

I mean, that to me is a

The other part of that as

That's the first part.
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1

tell me?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

2
3

Why I believe it

was assignable?
THE JUDGE:

4

Okay.

Well, again, that

5

would be legal.

6

research or something else that you did and

7

that would be legal argument as to why, would

8

it not?

9

I assume that's through

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Not in whole.

10

Judge, basically, what my testimony is going

11

to be is that I started working on this case

12

in 1996, that I had several conferences in

13

person, by telephone, several correspondences

14

with Mr. Test.

15

out was that Ayers was going to represent the

16

Jarrett's against Mr. Deal.

17

suit started out.

18

over a couple of items, we ironed those out as

19

we went along, however, during the course of

20

our conferences and correspondence the

21

Jarrett's decided, you know, we just don't

22

want anything to do with this and Mr. Test

23

suggested that the Jarrett's assign it to

24

Mr. Ayers, which was done.

25

neither one of us had any idea that suits

Originally, how this started

That's how this

There were some disputes

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

3~3

At the time

7
1

relating to attorney malpractice were

2

unassignable.

3

decided, and if you look at MNC Credit--

4

thought 8.01-26 was quite clear.

5

actions ex contractu are assignable and I

6

thought that was quite clear.

7

MNC Credit the Supreme Court of Virginia

8

disagreed, but if you actually review the case

9

they don't say it's unassignable because of

MNC Credit had not been
I

It says

Apparently, in

10

anything that's contained in 8.01-26.

11

decide it's unassignable because of certain

12

public policy reasons that they ref er to in

13

the case, but they never say the plain

14

language of 8.01-26 says it's not assignable

15

nor do they ever even infer that fact.

16

matter of fact, they never refer to the

17

language in 8.01-26.

18

there's public policy reasons, we think that

19

shouldn't be assignable.

20

ex contractu, I think an attorney malpractice

21

case is an action ex contractu.

22

talks about damage to property as, I think,

23

the basis of an attorney malpractice is damage

24

to property.

25

THE JUDGE:

They

As a

They simply say that

You know, action

Okay.
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1

sake suppose I was to agree with you that

2

there was enough of a question until the

3

Supreme Court case came down.

4

my mind that was more troubling was what

5

happens after that Supreme Court case comes

6

down and the other issue of the statute of

7

limitations.

8

argument at this point because it does occur

9

to me that--

10
11

The thought in

I'm just saying this for

Well, let's stick with those two

circumstances for the moment.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

All right, Judge.

12

The MNC Credit case was decided in February of

13

1997, some 11 months after this suit was

14

originally filed.

15

I was unaware that it was decided.

16

first brought to my attention when Mr. Lollar

17

filed his demurrer and I believe the demurrer

18

was filed April 10th and, of course, I would

19

have received it sometime thereafter.

20

have to say, actually, by the following

21

Monday, April 13th, at the latest I probably

22

received it.

23

Within a week I called Mr. Test and informed

24

him about the case, faxed him a copy, and I

25

went back to 8.01-26, I went back to the

At the time it was decided
It was

I would

I set out to start researching.
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1

Virginia law, and at the time of my research I

2

found none.

3

which doesn't go back to 1908, and it still

4

looked to me like 8.01-26 said what it said,

5

but MNC Credit said something different, but

6

not because of the language.

7

Mr. Ayers.

I spoke to Mr. Test about the

8

situation.

I spoke to another attorney in

9

Richmond, who had nothing to do with this

I have Michie's Law on disk,

I spoke to

10

suit, and we agreed, "Well, you know, you've

11

got a problem.

12

we agree with MNC, but the Supreme Court has

13

the last word".

It's not necessarily because

14

Contrary to what Mr. Lollar alleges last

15

time we were here and contrary to what he put

16

in his brief, I didn't walk into this

17

courtroom on June 10th, 1998, without notice

18

to anyone and simply announce that I was

19

nonsuiting the case.

20

8th and told everyone I was nonsuiting the

21

case.

22

Mr. Test.

23

Mr. McFarland.

24

office at the time I called, but Mr. McFarland

25

promptly sent a confirmatory letter, which was

I called around on June

I recall that I spoke personally to
I recall that I spoke personally to
Mr. Lollar wasn't in his
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1

carbon copied to all counsel.

I spoke to

2

Mr. Lollar later that day and the next morning

3

I sent my own confirmatory letter confirming,

4

"Pursuant to the conversation we had yesterday
that I'm going to nonsuit the case".

And I

6

don't know who, but I know that in at least

7

one of the conversations I had a conversation

8

with somebody and said, you know, "I've looked

9

all over the place to see if there's any

10

exceptions to this MNC and see if there's any

11

other cases construing 8.01-26 and my

12

conclusion is that as that opinion sits right

13

now it kills me", so I nonsuited the case.

14

didn't walk in here on June 10th, 1998, and

15

say, "Surprise!"

16

1998, that I was nonsuiting this case.

17

note that the 10th of June was a Wednesday,

18

the 8th was a Monday, so I probably reached my

19

conclusion Friday of the previous week and

20

then made my calls Monday morning.

21

I

Everyone knew on June 8th,
And I

As to the statute of limitation issues,

22

I think it's funny that Mr. Deal doesn't

23

remember his representation of Dr. Jarrett

24

having anything to do with the Mary

25

Morton-Parsons Estate because his agreement
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1

with Dr. Jarrett indicates something

2

completely to the contrary.

3

interpretation.

4

"Thank you for requesting this office to

5

represent you concerning the Mary

6

Morton-Parsons residue matters, the Mulderig

7

collections, and other matters".

8

Mulderig collections have nothing to do with

9

this suit and I don't know whether or not we

It's not my

Quite frankly, it starts out,

Well, the

10

referred to it, but everything that we sued

11

for somehow relates to the Mary Morton-Parsons

12

Estate.

13

Estate, or one involved a settlement with

14

Frazier over who had liabilities to the

15

Estate, I believe that it did have everything

16

to do with the Mary Morton-Parsons Estate.

17

goes on to say, "Our initial objective is to

18

stabilize the multifarious issues facing you

19

at this time".

20

all, of the issues facing Dr. Jarrett had

21

already begun at the time that Mr. Deal began

22

his representation and I proffer this

23

agreement to the Estate.

24

the Court that the way I got this was that

25

Mr. Test sent me a letter saying that his

Whether it's settlements with the

It

We believe that most, if not

I would also tell
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1

research indicated that the representation of

2

the Jarrett brothers ended by Mr. Deal on

3

March 23rd, 1992, based upon the date that an

4

order dismissing a Supreme Court case was

5

entered.

6

Jarrett's had actually fired Mr. Deal three

7

months earlier, so they're not sure why

8

anything was languishing on for another three

9

months, but, in any event, we picked the last

He also stated to me that the

10

date as March 23rd, 1992.

It also became

11

clear to me in these discussions that the

12

Jarrett brothers believed they were operating

13

under this agreement.

14

letter of termination, and this is one of the

15

things I told you I couldn't find right away,

16

but I'd be happy to proffer it to the Court,

17

as soon as I get back to the off ice I can fax

18

it, but my recollection is that the

19

termination letter says something to the

20

effect of we can no longer honor our brother's

21

agreement with you.

22

the agreement.

23

Alvin Q. Jarrett had with the Defendants, this

24

was the agreement that the Jarrett brothers

25

operated under after his death, and I've seen

I believe that the

So I operated as this was

This was the agreement that
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1

no correspondence to the contrary.

2

Jarrett's have, apparently, given me whatever

3

they have relating to the issue of contracts

4

and termination of representation, or so I'm

5

told, I can't actually say that I do have

6

everything, but I was told I have it, and my

7

conclusion was that based on this I was

8

operating under a five-year statute of

9

limitation and that five years expired on

10

The

March 23rd, 1997.
Now Mr. Lollar's also fond of saying I

11

12

waited until the last day.

13

This was going back and forth since early

14

1996.

15

case, and we did reach a point where we hit up

16

against our statute of limitations and we

17

said, "We've got to file this now".

18

my paper trail of my conversations with

19

Mr. Test demonstrate that, my 1996 faxes with

20

drafts of the motion for judgment going to

21

him.

22

question and I provided the answer and, you

23

know, that's the history.

24

something we just up and decided to file on

25

March 21st, 1997.

I

didn't wait.

I wasn't waiting, I was working on this

I

I think

have correspondence where he asked a

I mean, this is not

This is something that I've
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1

been working on for a considerable amount of

2

time.

3

Judge, in determining what the statute of

4

limitations was the reason that

5

things in there that I believe somehow related

6

to the Mary Morton-Parsons Estate was that

7

believe that there was one course of

8

representation regarding the Estate.

9

the second to last paragraph of the engagement

10

letter, "Our initial objective is to stabilize

11

the multifarious issues facing you at this

12

time".

13

action, Judge, ones that were tossed out

14

because they related to the Estate in no way

15

whatsoever, so we determined that, you know,

16

there was no statute of limitation, good faith

17

statute of limitations argument to be made.

18

point out "Michie's Jurisprudence, Limitations

19

of Actions, Volume 35" as I did at the last

20

hearing, which states, "The statute of

21

limitations never runs against a continuing

22

contract until the end thereof and, e.g., when

23

an attorney engages to perform service

24

services".

25

word is "services" in "Michie's", not a

I

only have

I

It's in

There were other potential causes of

Now I emphasize "services".
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1

service.

"Services for a client during a

2

definite period the statute is operative

3

thereon until the employment is terminated".

4

That's what I relied upon, that he provided a

5

service, and that service related to the Mary

6

Morton-Parsons Estate.
THE JUDGE:

7

And wouldn't that

8

contract die when the party to the contract

9

dies?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

10

Judge, it would

11

have been my intent at trial to present

12

evidence that the Jarrett's thought they were

13

operating under that contract.

14

have a letter which said, "We can no longer

15

honor our brother's agreement with you".

16

I didn't think that a mere contract dies at-THE JUDGE:

17

18

As I said, I

Now

For personal services

for legal representation?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

19

Well, Judge, I

20

equated Alvin Q. Jarrett and the Estate of

21

Alvin Q. Jarrett.
THE JUDGE:

22

I know.

To be the same

23

thing, but is there any legal basis for doing

24

that?

25

MR. SMALLENBERG:
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1

at the time I thought there was and I did that

2

in good faith.

3

think the Court can see how I did that.

4

no, I'm not aware it says that an Estate is

5

obligated to honor contracts.

6

understanding that a contract doesn't

7

necessarily terminate at death.

8

said here's Alvin Q. Jarrett, here's the

9

Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, and here's a

I equated the two together.

I

But,

It's my

I certainly

10

letter where they referred to,

11

longer honor or brother's agreement with you".

12

It looked to me like a five-year statute of

13

limitations based upon a written agreement.

14
15
16

11

We can no

•

THE JUDGE:

Okay.

Anything else,

Mr. Lollar?
MR. LOLLAR:

Your Honor, in our

17

motion for sanctions, which we filed on April

18

10, 1998, in this Court, you can find it in

19

the file, after looking at this lawsuit,

20

motion for judgment, Mr. Smallenberg prepared,

21

which he said he's been working on since '96,

22

he prepared and filed it in 1997, 12 pages, 6

23

counts, from the date that I got this motion

24

for judgment in my office, which was on or

25

about the latter part of March, shortly after
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1

it was served, I think, on March 20th, until

2

October 10, about 20 days, I saw and raised

3

the three things that I'm arguing today.

4

is Paragraph 2 of my motion for sanctions,

5

"The suit is clearly time-barred and is

6

brought by a purported assignee of a legal

7

malpractice claim despite the fact that legal

8

malpractice claims are non-assignable in the

9

Commonwealth of

Virginia"~

This

The next

10

paragraph, "The suit is not warranted by

11

existing law and was filed in order to harass

12

my clients.

13

judgment against Mr. Smallenberg and the firm

14

for sanctions".

15

June 10 and was deferred because of the

16

previous hearings we had on June 10 that were

17

given precedent over this motion and it seemed

18

logical to defer this in order that we agree

19

on a date.

20

are.

21

I asked then and I ask now for a

This motion was noticed for

We did agree on a date and here we

Now Mr. Smallenberg seems to suggest that

22

as soon as he realized that the MNC Credit

23

case, which I cited in my Special Pleas, the

24

same day I filed this motion for sanctions,

25

the exact same day I filed my Demurrer and
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1

Special Pleas and Bar, my motion craven oyer

2

and a counterclaim, he seems to suggest that

3

the light went on and he saw the light and

4

that he realized that this suit that he had

5

filed violated the prohibition on assigning

6

legal malpractice claims, which had been the

7

Common Law of Virginia since we first enacted

8

it from England and the cases go back all the

9

way to 1908.

I referred to them in my

10

previous brief in the Henrico suit.

11

back to 1908.

12

Court, but they're very clear.

13

case is very clear on this subject and it's

14

interesting that Mr. Smallenberg relies upon

15

the exact Code Section that they relied upon

16

in MNC Credit.

17

quoted it in detail, I rarely do that in a

18

memorandum, I apologize for giving you so much

19

of a large quote out of a recorded Virginia

20

Supreme Court opinion, but it was so much on

21

point I needed to drive the point home.

22

Supreme Court of Virginia says, "MNC Credit

23

relying upon 8.01-26 and Court decisions in

24

other jurisdictions asserts that legal

25

malpractice claims are assignable to this

They go

I can cite them again for the
The MNC Credit

The Court said there, and I
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1

Commonwealth.

2

Assembly has declared that the Common Law of

3

England, insofar as it is not reciting the

4

principles of the Bills of Rights and

5

Constitution of this Commonwealth, shall

6

continue in full force within the same and be

7

the ruling decision except as altered by the

8

General Assembly and that must be manifest in

9

it's altering.

We disagree.

The General

In other words, a statute

10

change in the Common Law must manifestly

11

express an intent to do so".

12

on in great detail citing from McGuire v.

13

Brown, a 1912 case, and Eppison v. Eppison, a

14

1908 case, that the Common Law in Virginia did

15

not permit the assignment of legal malpractice

16

claims from the beginning.

17

from England we didn't allow this for the same

18

reason England doesn't allow it.

19

on in the policy reasons.

20

They then went

When we came over

And it goes

Now Mr. Smallenberg has suggested that as

21

soon as the light went on he did something.

22

He filed his motion for nonsuit, which he

23

didn't file until June 10, or at least two

24

days before he made calls.

25

go through my file, but then I realized we're
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1

talking 48 hours here.

What difference does

2

it make whether I knew about it June 8 or June

3

10.

4

the day before the hearing.

5

from April 11 until June 9 he did nothing and

6

at that point in time this case had been

7

pending for 15 months.

8

Mr. Deal are subject to a motion for judgment

9

seeking a 24 Million 250 Thousand Dollar

I think I actually knew about it June 9,
That means that

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells and

10

judgment against them, for 15 months it had

11

been pending, and Mr. Smallenberg has the gall

12

to suggest to you that he acted as soon as he

13

realized that the law in Virginia had changed,

14

in his opinion, and that 8.01-26 would not

15

permit this.

16

for your praise in saving the court time and

17

money and saving the lawyers time and money in

18

not having to litigate this issue because it

19

was clearly barred by MNC Credit and had been

20

barred by the Common Law since the early

21

probably 1800's or 1700's.

22

to Mr. Smallenberg is the same response that

23

Judge Richard Williams had in a case called

24

Carlton v. Jolly.

25

a couple of things here, several cases in this

It sounds to me like he's asking

Well, my response

And I would like to submit
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1

binder and the transcript of your previous

2

hearing.

3

case, but there are certain excerpts.

4

like to give it to you, if I could, Your

5

Honor.

All of this are pleadings in this
I would

Mr. Smallenberg already has a copy.

6

THE JUDGE:

7

MR. LOLLAR:

I'll mark it "Filed".
It's got a copy of the

8

Carlton v. Jolly case.

9

let me give you the facts just very briefly.

In Carlton v. Jolly

10

It's not near as frivolous or without merit

11

and it doesn't seem near as bad when you look

12

at that case as what's gone on here.

13

case Tom Wolf of the Mazula Camlish firm sued

14

the lawyer, Gavoric I think his name was, for

15

legal malpractice representing limited

16

partners in a limited partnership.

17

actually represented the limited partnership,

18

not the limited partners.

19

limited partnership.

20

general partnership the partners are the

21

partnership, but here was a limited, two

22

separate legal entities.

23

In that

Gavoric

He represented the

If it had been the

There's a case that has been on the books

24

and has been recorded since 1980 called

25

Ayyildiz v. Kidd, we brought that case up at
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the June 10 hearing, which said that Virginia

2

requires privity between lawyer and client in

3

order to bring a legal malpractice claim.

4

Because Wolf had filed suit on behalf of the

5

limited partners against an attorney for the

6

partnership, a limited partnership, there was

7

no privity of contract. Well, the Plaintiff's

8

attorneys made the mistake of suggesting, when

9

they withdrew the counts against Gavoric, that

10

the Court should praise them for saving the

11

Court the trouble of trying these counts.

12

quote from Judge Williams, "Sanction, not

13

praise, is due, however, for forcing the

14

Defendants to prepare a defense to these

15

claims from October 1987 to January of 1989".

16

End result of case:

17

against Torn Wolf in the Mazula Carnlish f irrn

18

and the clients for filing the suit against an

19

attorney for a limited partnership on nothing

20

other than the lack of privity.

21

a young lawyer could have fallen into that

22

trap.

23

experienced lawyer, but many a young lawyer,

24

like Mr. Smallenberg, could have fallen into

25

that trap.

I

$12,500 sanctioned

I mean, many

Tom Wolf happened to be a very

Nevertheless, he was sanctioned
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1

$12,500, and I submit to Your Honor that would

2

have been the case regardless of which lawyer

3

filed it because failure to know the law is no

4

excuse.

5

has been considered identical for the purpose

6

of this analysis, as 8.01-271.1 requires that

7

there be reasonable inquiry and knowledge of

8

the status of the law.

Rule 11, which has been followed and

There are a whole line of cases on this

9

10

point, Your Honor.

11

I'm not sure it's even necessary.

12

particular one is McGee v. Sayla County 934

13

F.2d 94, which held that sanctions were

14

improperly denied when minimal research of

15

defamation law would have revealed that

16

Plaintiff's claims were meritless, minimal

17

research of the law, and that's what we have

18

here.

19

I can cite them to you.
But one

Interestingly, Mr. Smallenberg has

20

suggested that the Code Section 8.01 gives him

21

the right to sue because this is a claim under

22

contract.

23

claims can be filed either ex contractu or

24

ex delicto under tort or contract.

25

you might check, I see a copy here of Oleyar

Well, Your Honor, legal malpractice
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v. Kerr 217 Virginia 88.

2

that in your notebook I'd like to hand you a

3

copy.

4

THE JUDGE:

5

MR. LOLLAR:

If I didn't give you

You did.
Because in that case

6

the Supreme Court went into the distinction

7

between ex contractu and ex delicto and has

8

applied in certain cases a two-year statute of

9

limitations when a Plaintiff alleged only

10

negligence in a legal malpractice claim and

11

not breach of contract.

12

Miller has been doing this alot longer than I

13

have and he points out that everytime he has a

14

motion for judgment that alleges only

15

negligent representation he raises the bar of

16

a two-year statute of limitations instead of

17

three.

18

judgment you'll see that in every count, at

19

the last paragraph of every count, they're

20

alleging that the Defendants gave negligent

21

advice to Jarrett.

22

contract legal malpractice suit.

23

breach of duty or what I call tort of

24

ex delicto legal malpractice suit.

25

that's important, number one, the two-year

My good friend Bunky

Well, if you'll look at the motion for

This is not a breach of
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1

statute of limitations would apply, but,

2

number two, more important, that clearly

3

cannot be assigned 8.01-26.

4

permits the assignment of ex contractu claims.

5

Torts are not assignable under that Code

6

Section.

7

motion for judgment coupled with the Code

8

Section and conclude that these claims could

9

not be assigned.

8.01-26 only

So all he had to do is look at his

10

Now in addition to that, as I've already

11

pointed out, the MNC Credit case did not make

12

new law in Virginia.

13

Law of Virginia since, I'm sure, before the

14

first case was reported.

15

assign legal malpractice claims for public

16

policy reasons.

17

puts the nail in the coffin is the blatant

18

disregard for the expressed and specific

19

language in Paragraph 14 of the settlement

20

agreement.

21

settlement agreement, which is Exhibit 5, it's

22

behind the first settlement agreement, and you

23

have the second settlement agreement, which is

24

the last nine pages there.

25

specifically prohibits the assigning.

It had been the Common

That you could not

But the one thing that really

You have Mr. Ayers signing a
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1

that were not enough, if that were not enough,

2

they got some interpretation from the other

3

party's attorney to the contract within a

4

month of filing and if they would have

5

nonsuited this case then there wouldn't have

6

been any motion for sanctions filed.

7

When they got the April 16 letter, which

8

is under Exhibit 4, from Mr. Smallenberg, when

9

he received that from Mr. Test, and it's

10

interesting to note that Test is responding to

11

his letter of March 13, which is exactly, I

12

think, a week and a day prior to the filing,

13

he writes Mr. Test asking for interpretation

14

or maybe asking for some release, you know,

15

"Give us consent".

16

he underlined, "However, we will object to the

17

agreement or any rights conveyed under the

18

agreement being assigned without our consent.

19

Accordingly, Paragraph 14 will not be

20

deleted".

21

out during the course of the negotiations

22

regarding an unsigned, but drafted agreement,

23

this is a letter that goes out after the

24

agreement is signed and they're trying to get

25

the other parties to the agreement to back off

Mr. Test is emphatic and

Well, this isn't a letter that goes
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1

on some of the provisions.

2

he says, "We will not delete the prohibition

3

against assignments".

4

ahead and he files the suit.

5

it by then because he got the letter after

6

April 16, some date after that, so he's been

7

on file for maybe a month.

8

have nonsuited then, but he doesn't.

9

here and he argued on June 10 that the law

10

under 8.01-26 permitted him to assign that

11

contract right notwithstanding the contract

12

itself.

13

sanctionable and that's the type of thing that

14

the courts, Your Honor, in your position, have

15

to act on because if you don't attorneys that

16

come in here time and time again will think

17

they can make any argument they want to make

18

with no accountability for the merits of it.

19

Test is emphatic,

Well, then he goes
Well, he's filed

Well, he could
He came

To me that's absolutely frivolous and

That argument was completely without

20

merit.

Mr. Smallenberg knew that the

21

agreement prohibited assignment and Mr. Test

22

had even told him in writing that that's what

23

it says and that's clearly what it says

24

regardless of MNC Credit or the Common Law.

25

Just look at the contract right between the
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1

parties, ·their bargain, the deal they struck

2

in writing.

3

this case, Mr. Ayers was, to Cardinal and it's

4

interesting that he formed Cardinal on the

5

same day that he filed the suit.

6

asked, them since April 10 I've asked them,

7

produce the assignment.

8

September 4 and he still hasn't produced the

9

assignment because there's not a written

He was prohibited from assigning

And I've

We are here today on

10

assignment.

11

one.

12

suit in his name and said, "Well, I thought

13

about it.

14

secretary of Cardinal.

15

the settlement agreement.

16

in my mind, so it's assigned", and he told his

17

associate, Mr. Smallenberg, to file that suit

18

and he did it.

19

We all know that.

There's not

He formed this corporation and filed the

I'm the president, treasurer, and
I'm also a party to
I assign this right

And why did he go to all that trouble,

20

you might ask?

Why did he get into this

21

assignment business?

22

the suit in the name of Charlie Ayers just

23

like he did back in '93?

24

this goes to our improper purpose argument.

25

He did that because he knew what he was doing

Why didn't he just file

Well, Your Honor,
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1

was sanctionable and he was trying to avoid

2

the sanctions and avoid having indemnification

3

obligations under Paragraph 9 of the

4

agreement, which whereby he agreed personally

5

to indemnify the Jarrett's for any liability

6

they may incur for any violation under the

7

agreement.

8

too smart for his own good.

9

long and hard, "How can I avoid liability here

So what he's doing is he's really
He's thinking

10

under this indemnification provision and

11

assign a non-assignable contract and get my

12

associate to go in there and argue that and

13

protect myself the whole time.?

14

shell corporation, call it Cardinal Holding

15

Company, and we'll file in that name", and

16

that's what he did.

I'll form a

17

To add insult to injury, he then filed it

18

in the name of the Jarrett's, even in the name

19

of a dead man he filed this suit.

20

had been dead for six years, I believe, by

21

then.

22

because I had called Judge Adams who ref erred

23

it back to Clark & Stant, Steve Test, who then

24

represented the Jarrett's, he called me and

25

was livid and asked me to share these

Dr. Jarrett

Once Steve Test learns about this,
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1

pleadings with him, which I did, and he fired

2

off not one, but three letters to

3

Mr. Smallenberg, "Dismiss my client now".

4

do you think he did it?

5

after three warnings, three demands, that he

6

dismiss the Jarrett's.

7

even sure have been dismissed today.

8

MR. SMALLENBERG:

9

No.

He didn't

The Jarrett's, I'm not

Judge, I object.

We've been-MR. LOLLAR:

10
11

No.

And

Your Honor, this is

argument and I object to his objecting.
THE JUDGE:

12

Well, we're arguing for

13

sanctions as to the bills that are before the

14

Court, not for anybody else's bills or

15

anything else that anybody else did.
MR. LOLLAR:

16

17

All right.

If I may

continue?

18

THE JUDGE:

19

MR. LOLLAR:

Yes.
The issue about

20

assignability and whether he thought there was

21

a basis to file the suit, that's totally

22

irrelevant.

23

you shouldn't care what he thinks.

24

lawyer.

25

supposed to know the law.

I don't care what he thinks and
He's a

He's licensed to practice law.

Thinking is not
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1

important, knowing is important.

2

and he had constructive notice of it.

3

easy to find.

4

weeks time and put it all in my pleadings

5

after I received the suit on or about March 25

6

he certainly can find it in four or five

7

months.

8

It's there
It was

If I can find this law in three

Well, the statute of limitation issue is

9

the second ground of our motion for sanctions.

10

In other words, this case had no basis because

11

it was time-barred and that's been recognized

12

under Rule 11 of the Federal Rules as a basis

13

for awarding sanctions.

14

In Rule 11 if there's a time-barred claim it's

15

sanctionable to file it and assign the

16

pleadings.

17

and if Your Honor would like I'll be happy to

18

share them with you.

19

concerned about it because he's addressed and

20

tried to suggest that they're not time-barred,

21

that this was a five-year statute of

22

limitations, if I understood his logic

23

correctly, because the Jarrett's thought that

24

they were operating under the old agreement

25

with Dr. Jarrett and not a new agreement with

It's clearly a basis.

I've got a number of cases on that

But, obviously, he's
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1

the Estate, so that appears to be the basis

2

for this written agreement.

3

There was a written agreement.

Mr. Deal

4

has indicated on the stand that there was a

5

written agreement with Dr. Jarrett, which died

6

with Dr. Jarrett, and then a new entity came

7

into effect, the Estate.

8

more than a verbal relationship or agreement

9

between the current relationship and the

There's been nothing

10

Estate and the three-year statute of

11

limitations would have run on March 23, 1995,

12

yet Mr. Smallenberg files this suit two years

13

later and doesn't serve it until three years

14

later.

15

So, clearly, that is sanctionable.

The third ground for my motion for

16

sanctions is that the suit was filed in order

17

to harass Mr. Deal and Mrs. Cobbler-Wells and

18

that should be clear without saying anymore.

19

You can take the totality of the evidence you

20

have before you and the circumstances from the

21

pleadings, from Mr. Test's motion to dismiss

22

his clients, you can read from all of that and

23

infer from all of that that Charlie Ayers and

24

the Ayers & Stolte firm intended to harass

25

these two lawyers.

Mr. Deal has never been--
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1

He's been sued one time as a counterclaim,

2

never been sued by anybody else, and yet he

3

gets sued twice, really three times if you

4

consider the amended suit, but twice by

5

Mr. Ayers.

6

Million in Henrico County and the second time

7

it's for 24 Million 250 Thousand Dollars.

8

if there's no other reason to sanction the

9

Plaintiffs and their attorneys for bringing

The first time it's for 1.3

Now

10

this action it's for that.

I mean, this type

11

of conduct has got to be stopped and the only

12

party that can stop it is Your Honor and it's

13

got to come from the bench to send the message

14

to the Bar that sanctionable claims will be

15

dealt with appropriately.

16

have here, we have a vendetta, clear vendetta,

17

between Charlie Ayers and John Deal over his

18

cooperating with then Commonwealth's Attorney,

19

now Governor Gilmore, in a criminal

20

prosecution.

21

has gone on and on.

22

Mr. Ayers in jail or Mr. Smallenberg in jail,

23

although, you know, if we talk feelings

24

there's certainly some of those feelings, but

25

you can assess money fines and sanctions.

And that's what we

That's all we have here and it
I'm not asking you to put
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1

dollar amount has gone up slightly because of

2

the cost of the transcript from $21,000, I

3

think, to $22,181.17 including our firm's time

4

of $11,059.52, including the expenses and

5

costs, and Mr. Latchney's time of $4,865.65

6

expense and costs and Mr. Deal's time of

7

$6,016, the court reporter's transcribing fees

8

of $240.

9

Your Honor should not stop there.

10

All of that totals $22,181.17, but

This case justifies punishment.

These

11

facts justify punishment.

Go back to Cooter

12

and Gel where the Supreme Court stated that

13

deterrents is the primary goal of Rule 11.

14

Townsend v. Home and Consulting Corp. 914 F.2d

15

1136, a 1990 Ninth Circuit Case, the Court

16

said, "It would ill-serve the purpose of

17

deterrents to allow a safe harbor for improper

18

and unwarranted allegations if you could rely

19

upon any possible claim that may pass muster".

20

The whole thing has got to have merit for it's

21

sanction and to suggest that the underlying

22

claim itself has merit, and we haven't gotten

23

to that, but it's not assignable and

24

time-barred and the rule for sanctions

25

shouldn't apply to me is just as sanctionable
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1

to suggest that as what he did.

2

clearly, when you file a suit like this under

3

these circumstances that you knew could not be

4

assigned and you pursue it to this point it's

5

sanctionable.

6

Because,

Steve Test's comment probably tells it as

7

well as anything at the hearing back in June.

8

I quote from Pages 65, 67, and 68 of the

9

transcript, which is under Exhibit 3 of the

10

binder we have given you.

On Page 65, Line 17

11

and 18, "I don't know if you have the letter

12

or not, but our response was in detail why we

13

weren't going to delete it for specific

14

reasons and concluding, accordingly, Paragraph

15

14 will not be deleted".

16

the point that he made it clear to

17

Mr. Srnallenberg that the claim was not

18

assignable.

19

agreement made it crystal clear if somebody's

20

going to file a suit it's going to be Charlie

21

Ayers, A&H Development, or Ayers & Ayers,

22

P.C., in their own name.

23

68, really, he tells it all.

24

really, I'm in the awkward position of being

25

here representing people that are named as

He's hammering on

Then on Page 67, Line 12, "The

That's it".
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Plaintiffs not wanting to be Plaintiffs, never

2

hired the law firm, never asked them to use

3

their name to be a Plaintiff, and are

4

absolutely incensed that this pleading got

5

filed in their name and has been sitting in

6

this Clerk's Office in this city where they're

7

citizens for over a year".

8

type of thing's got to stop and you're the one

9

to stop it.

10

Your Honor, this

From time to time from judges I hear

11

comments about, you know, the legal

12

profession's got to clean up their act,

13

they've got to police it.

14

stops right there.

15

about it and you've got to do something about

16

it in this case.

17

to harass Mr. Deal and it was clearly in

18

violation of 8.01-271.1 because it was filing

19

a suit for a non-assignable claim that has

20

been assigned by it's face to Cardinal Holding

21

Company.

22

imposed in the amount of $22,181.17 and I

23

think, I personally think, that punitive

24

sanctions in the amount of $20,000 would be in

25

order to punish the party and their counsel.

Well, the buck

You've got to do something

This suit was clearly filed

We would ask for sanctions to be
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1

Thank you.
THE JUDGE:

2

I'll hear the last word

3

from the other side of the room if there's

4

anything else you want to say.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

5

Yes, Judge.

I

6

find it funny that all Mr. Lollar can say is

7

Charlie Ayers this, Charlie Ayers this, and he

8

hasn't once said anything about Robert

9

Smallenberg.

The parties to this proceeding

10

today are Robert Smallenberg and Ayers &

11

Stolte, P.C.

12

name Charlie Ayers in this thing other than he

13

happens to be a shareholder of Ayers & Stolte.

14

He says this is harassment, free and

He has no basis whatsoever to

15

clear, and the only thing he's really got is

16

the fact that there was a suit five years ago.

17

Now Mrs. Cobbler-Wells was not part of that

18

suit, but she's part of this suit, and somehow

19

we're supposed to expect that she's being

20

harassed.

21

going on I wasn't even an attorney.

22

received my license in early November 1993.

23

have nothing against Mr. Deal and I have

24

nothing against Mrs. Cobbler-Wells whatsoever,

25

but, however, he sits over there and he

Judge, when that Henrico case was
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argues, "This is harassing.

This is

2

harassing", da-da-da-da-da-da, like I'm

3

harassing somebody.

4

anybody.

I'm not harassing

Now I want to go back to the legal

5
6

malpractice not assignable because he actually

7

killed his own argument as he was making it.

8

He goes on to say they're not assignable

9

according to Common Law and that's been the

10

law since we came here from England.

He cites

11

the statute in the last part of it, "Except as

12

altered by the General Assembly", and I think

13

that anyone looking at 8.01-26 thinks that

14

that alters the Common Law.

15

arises from property damages or it's a cause

16

of action ex contractu then it's assignable,

17

period, end of story.

18

case.

19

language of that statute doesn't allow you to

20

assign this.

21

on public policy.

22

the language in 8.01-26 because it clearly

23

says actions ex contractu and actions for

24

damages to the property are assignable.

25

you know, I don't have to be right here today.

If the case

Read the MNC Credit

They never say that anything in the

The whole ruling in MNC is based
It's got nothing to do with
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I have to have had a good faith basis.

Now

2

the Supreme Court turned around and cited I

3

was wrong, but I had a good faith basis.

4

think 8.01-26, a fair reading of it, says that

5

an action based on contract is assignable.

I

6

Now then he goes on and says, you know,

7

he filed this thing on April 10th, I'll tell

8

you I probably got it the following Monday,

9

which was the 13th, and then I don't tell

10

anyone of a nonsuit until June 8th.

Well,

11

he's opened up an avenue that I wasn't even

12

going to open the door to, I wasn't even going

13

to mention today, Judge, but since he opened

14

the door and seems to assert that that was

15

unreasonable let's put the shoe on the other

16

foot.

17

we were here for in June I wrote Mr. Lollar

18

and told him why his counterclaim had no merit

19

whatsoever.

20

recited.

21

stand for what he thought it stood for, as a

22

matter of fact, it had nothing to do with this

23

cause of action, Ayyildiz was all about a

24

different kind of cause of action, and I

25

suggested that it wasn't supported by the law,

Within two or three days of the hearing

I gave him the cases they

I told him that Ayyildiz didn't
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1

there was no special injury, and

2

that he nonsuit.

3

stands in Virginia, you know, he had a problem

4

there, but he waits until last week and

5

without comment whatsoever, even though I

6

requested that he nonsuit, I get something in

7

the mail that's just a motion for nonsuit and

8

an order and a notice saying, "I'm going to

9

present the order on such and such a date".

I

suggested

And, clearly, as the law

10

Now if he's going to say that from April 13th

11

to June 8th was an unreasonable time for me to

12

look into this and the other problems in the

13

case, if you add his time he's actually a few

14

days longer.

15

to open this, but, you know, he suggested that

16

I

17

didn't sit around and do nothing, however, if

18

you look at his bills from about July up until

19

about five days ago there's not really

20

anything going on in the Deal camp, according

21

to the bills.

22

So,

I

mean,

I

wasn't even going

spent an unreasonable amount of time.

I

Now, Judge, I also want to point out that

23

wherever the Court's leaning today I'd like

24

the opportunity to respond to this.

25

16-page brief with 53 pages of attachments and
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1

it arrives in my office yesterday at 1:30.

2

bearly had time to even read the whole thing

3

much less research it, pick it apart, or

4

anything like that.

5

bill entries that I saw in my first review go

6

to their counterclaim and I would say that

7

alot of the billing go to this motion for

8

sanctions and I don't think that's proper.

9

looked to me personally, and I could be wrong

For example, alot of the

10

and I'd have to go back and actually add it,

11

but half of the billing looked to me like it

12

was a post-court decision on the nonsuit

13

issue.

14

that.

15

I

It

I think you should go back and look at

Now he then goes on and says that what I

16

think is irrelevant.

If I had a good faith

17

basis for filing the suit, as I did, then that

18

is relevant.

19

is a good faith basis to believe that that

20

changed the Common Law and now everything

21

that's a contract claim is assignable.

22

think there is a good faith basis for that.

I think in reading 8.01-26 there

I

23

As far as the statute of limitations

24

issue, Mr. Deal got up here and the first

25

thing he said is, "I don't think my
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1

representation had to do with Mary

2

Morton-Parsons", but when I produced the

3

agreement the very first thing it says is the

4

residual Mary Morton-Parsons issue.

5

were other issues in the first draft of this

6

motion for judgment, but I determined I've not

7

no leg to stand on to bring these other issues

8

and I tossed them out.

9

were the issues that somehow tied into Mary

There

The remaining issues

10

Morton-Parsons, one continuing course of

11

representation relating to Mary

12

Morton-Parsons, which I believe ended on March

13

23, 1992, under my belief that I was operating

14

under a five-year statute of limitations.

15

This action was filed within the statute of

16

limitations period and my belief was based

17

upon the fact that there was a written

18

agreement with Dr. Jarrett, the fact that the

19

same firm continued to represent his interest

20

albeit as an estate, and maybe I made a jump

21

there from Jarrett to Estate of Jarrett, and

22

the fact that the termination letter of

23

Mr. Deal said, "We can no longer honor our

24

brother's contract with you".

25

certainly indicates that the parties were
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operating under that written contract.
As far as this issue about

3

non-assignability because of the agreement,

4

number one, they're not third-party

5

beneficiaries of it.

6

not really upset about the fact that Cardinal

7

Holding was a Plaintiff, he was upset about

8

the fact that his clients were Plaintiffs,

9

which I did because in reading "Bryson's

10

Handbook" on bringing assigned causes of

11

action he has this couple of sentences in

12

there and what it says is if something is

13

completely assigned then the assignors don't

14

need to be named in the suit, however, if

15

everything's not completely assigned they're

16

necessary and indispensible parties.

17

sitting around going, "Oh, My God, what does

18

this mean?", so out of an abundance of caution

19

I named the assignees.

20

Number two, Mr. Test was

I'm just

Now Harry Jarrett, I believe the second

21

brother of the Estate, and Alvin Q. Jarrett,

22

you know, I wanted to make sure that this is

23

not a case that's going to get kicked out over

24

an indispensible party missing because I was

25

aware that we butted up against the statute of
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limitations and nothing I could do after the

2

fact, even if I nonsuited, would fix if there

3

was an indispensable party missing.

4

proof is in the pudding that the Jarrett's and

5

Mr. Test really don't care that Cardinal is

6

the Plaintiff because he never moved to

7

dismiss it.

8

issues.

9

Now the

It really wasn't one of his

He just wanted the Jarrett's off.

Now the letter that Mr. Test proffered,

10

it says in there that personal property and

11

assets are assignable.

12

to him seeking some interpretation and changes

13

in language we thought was ambiguous prior to

14

filing the suit.

15

because we were corning up against the statute

16

of limitations and he writes back and he says,

17

"Well, rights aren't assignable, but assets

18

and property are".

19

versus Powell 276 Virginia 36, what is a cause

20

of action, it's a personal property right.

21

is ownership of personal property.

22

I did write a letter

I had to file the suit

Well, according to Lee

It

Now I would also point out that just

23

because a contract, which his clients aren't

24

even a party to, is unassignable on it's terms

25

that doesn't mean you can't assign it.
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That
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1

means that the original assignor may have a

2

cause of action for damages, but that doesn't

3

mean that it's suddenly unassignable.

4

that's got nothing to do with them.

5

didn't have a problem.

6

don't think they should have been assigned to

7

Cardinal, but he never moved it to be

8

dismissed on that basis and, quite frankly, he

9

told me, "I don't care who the Plaintiff is as

Anyway,
Mr. Test

He said, you know, I

10

long as the Jarrett's are taken out".

11

Judge, he made a comment and the

12

comment's troubling me.

13

I addressed the statute of limitions issue

14

because I was concerned about it.

15

Court realizes I addressed the statute of

16

limitations issue because he brought it up.

17

think I'd look pretty silly sitting here just

18

saying I'm going to pass that one over.

19

His comment was that

I think the

I

Judge, according to what the Supreme

20

Court say in MNC the suit was non-assignable,

21

but if you look at the language before I think

22

there's a reasonable basis for anyone reading

23

that to think it is.

24

waited almost two months to actually notify

25

people of the nonsuit, I think that's

Now the fact that I
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1

reasonable.

2

you know what, I'm going to cross my "t's" and

3

dot my "i's" before I voluntarily dismiss any

4

suit, much less a suit of this size, and I

5

think that that amount of time is clearly

6

reasonable, because as demonstrated by the

7

Defendant's own actions, that's the amount of

8

time he took to nonsuit his action after I

9

pointed out that his had problems and couldn't

10

This is a fairly large suit and,

possibly be won.

11

As to the statute of limitations issue, I

12

pointed out to the Court five years because of

13

the written contract and the brothers wrote

14

saying, "We can't honor our brother's contract

15

anymore".

16

five years, for all the causes of action and

17

five years from the last date of

18

representation.

19

point out again if the Court is inclined to

20

rule against me or if the Court wants to take

21

this under advisement, I think, in all

22

fairness, I ought to be allowed to respond to

23

this 16-page brief with 53 pages of

24

attachments that I received only yesterday

25

because, otherwise, it's unfair.

I equated that as one contract,

You got it.
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1
2

simply be unfair.
But in sum, everything I did is in good

3

faith and everywhere I've done something I've

4

pointed to why it was done that way or why I

5

thought it should be done that way.

6

good faith.

7

It's not something like, you know, I thought

8

the sky was red, so

9

pointed particularly in each case to something

10

which I think objectively, and I can guarantee

11

you subjectively, were considered a good faith

12

basis.

13

Defendants, that's ridiculous, and I suppose

14

there's nothing more to say other than if the

15

Court's inclined to rule today or rules

16

against me and doesn't allow me time to

17

respond to this brief I think there's some

18

serious issues of which of these charges are

19

proper and which are improper and if I go line

20

item by line item we're going to be here until

21

6:00 o'clock tonight.

22

position.

23

It's all

None of the reasons are tenuous.

I

thought it was okay.

I

This allegation that I'm harassing the

I think I've stated my

Thank you.
THE JUDGE:

I think I know

24

everybody's position.

It pains this Court to

25

even have to deal with this issue.
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1

somebody makes a motion for sanctions that

2

means that they believe somebody has abused

3

the legal system and has abused the legal

4

process and

I

5

happens.

sit here and watch it happen

6

sometimes and then it makes me very upset if

7

see it happen, but it doesn't make me happy

8

for us to have to be here on this issue in the

9

first place, however, we are, there were some

I

never like to think that that

10

serious questions raised, and I'm going to

11

deal with them.

12

I

Let me first go ahead and say that I

13

don't think that there was anything

14

particularly new, and this isn't a criticism

15

to Mr. Lollar, that was presented in the

16

memorandum that was filed yesterday.

17

most of the ideas that were included in there

18

have been presented one way or the other in

19

past documents that have been provided to the

20

Court.

The Court didn't request anything from

21

anyone.

Mr. Lollar, on behalf of his clients,

22

decided to present that.

23

would have had the opportunity and I would

24

have been glad to read anything that you all

25

came with, but again,

I

355

think

Mr. Smallenberg

don't see that there's
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1

anything in there that should have caught you

2

by surprise.

3

were raised or any new information was raised.

4

It is this Court's opinion that the

I don't think any new arguments

5

Common Law was clear before the MNC case,

6

however, since the Supreme Court deemed that

7

it would consider that case and render a

8

ruling in that case I suppose they thought it

9

was enough of an issue to bring it to the

10

public forefront and I'm not going to hold

11

counsel responsible or any of the parties

12

responsible for anticipating that that was the

13

law when the Supreme Court went ahead and made

14

a decision about it.

15

questions over and above the question of what

16

has the Common Law always been before that

17

Court decision.

18

the Supreme Court rendered the decision in

19

that case, counsel are supposed to be on

20

notice when Supreme Court decisions come down.

21

I can't off the top of my head cite to you

22

instances, but I think we've all seen and read

23

things where cases come down within a week or

24

two of a court hearing and if it's not brought

25

to the Court's attention counsel is held

However, there are

At least as of the time that
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1

responsible for not doing that.

Sometimes I

2

think that it's a super-human task to be aware

3

of everything, but there was more than enough

4

time passed well before the time we came in

5

here for counsel to have been aware of that.

6

The other thing that doesn't escape me,

7

there were opportunities all along the way for

8

telephone calls to be made to say, "Look,

9

we're both expending alot of time and energy

10

here.

11

look into.

12

made a decision".

13

the time.

14

continuances at trial because issues have come

15

up and attorneys want time to research it

16

before they come into Court.

17

court date set on this for trial.

18

nothing impending.

19

been an option to have exercised.

20

You've raised some issues I need to
Don't do anything else until I've
That happens in life all

I mean, I get requests for

There was no
There was

That certainly would have

The case in this Court's opinion should

21

have never been filed for a number of reasons.

22

One of them that doesn't escape me is the

23

statute of limitations question.

24

that I asked counsel was the question in my

25

mind and that is when one has a contract, a
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
{757) 549-2198

357

The question

115
1

personal contract, for personal services to

2

that person.

3

contractor to build my house and I die

4

tomorrow I don't believe my Estate is bound to

5

go forward on that contract.

6

Estate has to deal with what they're going to

7

do with my half-finished house at that point

8

in time and make other arrangements.

9

that simple in this case.

If I go out and hire a

I think my

It's

When Dr. Jarrett

10

died any written contracts for representation

11

that he entered into died with him.

12

attorney's not going to let some judgment be

13

entered for something like that.

14

there is a certain professional responsibility

15

there to protect the interest of a deceased

16

person.

17

attorney to conduct or wrap up matters for the

18

deceased and to take care of Estate matters

19

then that's fine and there needs to be a new

20

written contract or they have what.they had in

21

this case, an oral contract with the statute

22

of limitations that are appropriate, which

23

would have been three years.

24

those things that maybe you might not know off

25

the top of your head, although I think statute

Now the

I mean,

If the Estate goes on to retain an
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1

of limitations should be something that's

2

ingrained in there, but it's something that

3

with very little research would have become

4

evident to counsel.

5

problems that I have.

6

That's one of the first

I can go on with a whole list of things.

7

I mean, that should have prohibited the case

8

from ever being filed.

9

contract and Plaintiffs were added to this

You look at the

10

case that were never even contacted to find

11

out if they wanted to.

12

maybe you may feel people are necessary

13

parties, but when you sign your name to

14

pleadings on behalf of somebody you better

15

figure out if you're retained by them or not.

16

One of the parties is a party who was involved

17

in the settlement negotiations.

18

after the case was filed, but it was around

19

the time it was served and before everybody

20

had done alot of work.

21

settlement agreement that says they can't

22

assign these rights and then they go ahead and

23

proceed with this lawsuit anyway.

24
25

Now I understand that

Maybe it was

They signed a second

For all of those reasons and with the
exception of maybe a $500 award here and
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1

there, it's going to be the first time that

2

this Court has ever awarded sanctions in the

3

amount of $22,181.17 and a further award of

4

$10,000.

5

Court's opinion without any further argument

6

that that would be awardable against the

7

Plaintiffs and the law firm and the lawyer

8

signing the pleadings.

9

me how we would get Mr. Ayers in there

10

Now, Mr. Lollar, it would be this

You need to explain to

personally.
MR. LOLLAR:

11

Your Honor, I think

12

that Mr. Ayers formed a shell corporation and

13

in that sense maybe that's the answer.

14

I'm going to have to go after Cardinal and

15

establish that's a shell and I'll redo it that

16

way.
THE JUDGE:

17

Maybe

In a separate

18

proceeding.

The judgment would be entered

19

jointly and severally.

20

I think that maybe you might have been, my

21

hunch would tell me, more of an innocent

22

bystander in this thing.

23

hadn't been there when the history of all this

24

happened.

25

we all need to learn.

Now, Mr. Smallenberg,

As you said, you

Unfortunately, it's a lesson that
That when you sign your
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1

name to something, it's your name on there,

2

not somebody else who convinced you to sign

3

it, or not any of your partners in the law

4

firm.

5

lesson to learn being a new lawyer, I

6

understand that, but jointly and severally

7

against Mr. Smallenberg, the law firm, and

8

Cardinal.

It's your name on there.

MR. LOLLAR:

9

It's a tough

Your Honor, I have an

10

order with everything but the blanks for the

11

amount.

12

be easily stricken.

13

order entered.

14

It does have Ayers on here.

It can

I would like to get the

THE JUDGE:

If you would like to do

15

that and take a moment for everybody to take a

16

breath and let Mr. Smallenberg take a breath

17

and see if you can come up with something, I

18

will be glad for you to hand it up to me.

19

there's a problem that we need to go back on

20

the record about, I will be glad to do that.

21

I know Mr. Smallenberg would like to note his

22

exceptions to everything I just said for the

23

reasons that he's already said on the record.

24
25

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Yes.

But also,

Judge, I don't think I should endorse it
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If

1

today.

I think I should take it back to

2

Richmond, I mean, there's a firm involved here

3

who should be informed and a company.
THE JUDGE:

4

He may have a good idea,

5

Mr. Lollar.

I think that there are other

6

forces here beyond his, so I would request

7

that I hear something from you.

8

4th.

9

know if a week is enough time, but I don't

Today is the

We're closed on the 18th and I don't

10

want to let this drag on.

11

that an order endorsed be back to me--

12

much time do you need, Mr. Smallenberg?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

13
14

Judge.

15

Court's hands?

Ten days.

16
17

I would request
How

This is a holiday,

Or, actually, in the

THE JUDGE:

How about by the 16th of

September?

18

MR. SMALLENBERG:

19

THE JUDGE:

That's fine.

And I guess the only

20

other thing that needed to be dealt with there

21

is your nonsuit order, Mr. Lollar.

22
23
24

25

MR. LOLLAR:

Yes.

We would like

that entered.
THE JUDGE:

If no one has any

objections, I'll go ahead and enter the
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1

nonsuit order if the clerk can fish it out of

2

the documents that I've got there.
MR. LOLLAR:

3

Your Honor, I'm going

4

to tender to you the order that I have enacted

5

as a copy for the purpose of showing the Court

6

what I'm giving Mr. Smallenberg to take back

7

with him.

8
9

THE JUDGE:

If we need to deal with

this, if there are questions as far as what's

10

in the order, since you're leaving me a copy

11

maybe we could do it by way of a telephone

12

conference if we need to with counsel.

13

MR. LOLLAR:

That's the reason I did

14

that now, so that you would have it before you

15

and we could schedule something like a

16

telephone conference and we all could address

17

the objections.

18

THE JUDGE:

19

MR. LOLLAR:

All right.
Thank you, Your Honor.

20

21

(Whereupon, the taking of this hearing

22

was concluded at 12:38 o'clock, p.m.)

23
24
25
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1

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA AT LARGE, to wit:
I, Marie Woods Lawson, Notary Public and

2

3

Court Reporter, do hereby certify that I did appear at

4

the aforescribed hearing held before Judge A. Bonwill

5

Shockley, commencing at 9:30 o'clock, a.m., on Wednesday,

6

the 4th day of September, 1998, at the Virginia Beach

7

Circuit Court, Virginia Beach, Virginia:

8

witnesses were duly sworn and cautioned to tell the

9

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth;

that the

that

10

the foregoing pages constitute a true and accurate

11

transcript of their testimony given at that time and

12

place.

13

I

further certify that I am not of counsel

14

or kin to any of the parties to this cause of action, nor

15

am I

16
17

interested in any manner in its outcome.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have hereunto set my

hand and seal this the 11th day of October, 1998.

18
19
20

21
22

~W-~
Marie Woods Lawson, Notary

23

Public, State of Virginia at

24

Large.

25

February 28, 1999.

My commission expires
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ElltC A. HAUSER

(757} 473 .. 5

MICHCLLti A. lf1JOftES ..
Stll\NMON L. KNIGln'
SAMUEL M. gROU.

ADMl:r.ln g•

Al.S'O
ADMITTm IH

CIO.\"•I

FJU!DERIC T.STAHi,JR
oPi~Jl.

April

°'11.

tlo"UWIH.

49-064-009

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers &: Stolte
Hamilton Professional Building
710 N. Hamilton Street
Richmond, Virginia 23221-2035
Re:

The Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett

Dear Mr. Smallenberg:
I reviewed your letter of March 13 with my clients.
will address Mr. Ayers' concerns in the order of your letter.
1.

The restriction on assignment contained in

~

I

141 of

the Second Settlement and Release Agreement prevents the aesignTent
only of the Agreement itself and the rights of the parties.
It

specifically does not restrict assignment of assets and property.
We have no objection to your client disposing of any of I the
px-ope7ty which is his. ~owever, we will object to the A9feement or
an ri hts conve ed under the A reement bein assi ne
I
consent. Accordin 1
14 will not be deleted.
2.
The Second Settlement and Release Agreement def· nes
Executors as "the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, deceased, represe ited
·by its co-executors, T .. Roy Jarrett:, Jr .. and Harry w. Jarre t. 11
Accordingly, the reference in , 9 to Executors includes the ri hts
of the Estate.
ln addition, 4l 9 begins with the phrase ••the
Executors irrevocably assign, grant and convey to Ayers all t air
right, title and interest . . . ,, 11
Accordingly 1 the Se ond
Settlement and Release Agreement does transfer ":rights" rega I ing
claims against Deal and others. Mr. Ayers' concerns are clearly
addressed in the language already present in , 9.
I
•

I

3.
I request that Mr. .Ayers prepare and sign. a jLost
Note Affidavit regarding the Vince Robinson note.
r look fo:l1Ward
to receiving it promptly.
/
I
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CLARK & STANT, P.C.
Robert H. Smallenberg, Bsguire
Page 2
April 16, 1997

4.

9lients assigned and conveyed all of the Estate's
C1 4 of the
Second Settlement and Release Agreement) . Whether that interest
turns out to be one-third o:r two-thirds is irrelevant to ~
clients.. Accordingly, Mr. Ayers' ownership interest is clear to us
regardless of whether Mr. Ayers must in the future obtain Mr.
Preaaier's signature on a deed.
Mr. Ayers obtained the entire
interest of the Alvin Q. Jarrett Estate and that of the Executors
in the Kelsey mine property by the Second Settlement and Release
Agreement.
.,Mv;

and the Executors' interest in the Kelsey mine property

This addresses all of the concerns raised in your March
13, 199? letter.
Accordingly, we conaider that the Second
Settlement and Release Agreement, having been signed by all

parties, is final and binding. Please provide me the Lost Note
Affidavit regarding the Vince Robinson note as soon as it is ready.
lf you have any othGr questions or concerns, do not hesitate to
contaot me.

silicerely,

~t
SGT:tlh

cc:

Dr. T. Roy ~arrett, Jr.
Dr. Harry W. ~arrett

~9064009/l~rbo4.ogt
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j

I

SETTLEM£NT A.NP RELEASE bGREEM.EHT

THIS SETTLEMENT AND RELEASE A:EEI'1ENT ( "Sett.leme!l::.

AgreementaJ is made as of the~ day of June, 1993, by and
between THE ESTATE OP ALVIN

JARRETT, JR. and

HARR~

w.

o.

JARRETT, Deceased and

JARRETT,

Co~Executars

~-

ROY

of the Estate of

Alvin Q. Jarrett, Deceased (nExecutors'1 ) , parties of the first
pare, and ClIAliLES E. AYERS, JR.
ASSOCIA'L'ES I

p. c.

( "Ayers, p. c.

("Ayers")' AYERS and AYERS &

") ,

and A

& H DEVI:!LOFH.E:.NT COMPANY,

a Virginia corporation \"A & H"}, part.ies of the second part:.

W I T N E S S E T JI:
WHEREAS, on or about August a, 1990 Alvin Q. Jarret.t, M.D.,
aG Plaintiff, commenced a chancery accion against Ayers, P.C., ·

and Ayers and A & H, aa Defendancs, by the filing of a Bill to
Declare and Enforce a Resulting T~-ust in the Circuit Court of th~

City of Richmond, Virginia, in a case styled Alvin o. Jarrett.
M.D. v. Ayers and Ayers & Associates. P.C.,
identified as Case No.

760-CH90A00872~0o

PC.

al., and

and later assigned Case

No. HA 872-4, in which the Defendants asserted a Counterclaim

against the Plaintiff, which action is now pending in said Court;
and
WHEREAS, in the Fall of 1990, Alvin Q.

Ja~rett,

M.D., as

Plaintiff, commenced a civil action against Ayers and Ayers,
P.C., as Defendants, by filing a Mocion for Judgment in the
ci~cuit

Courc of the City of Richmond, Virginia, in a case styl d

Alvin Q. Jarr9tt. M.O. v. Charles E. Avers,

370
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and !acer assigned Case No.

~S-375l,

which

accion is now pending in said Courc; and

WHEREAS. Alvin Q. Jarrecc, M.D.,

depar~ed

this life on

March 27, l991, and the gxecutors qoalified in enc Circuic Court
of the

Ci~y

of Virginin Beach aa such on March 29, l991 and have

been acting in said capacity since such time, including becoming
the successor parties Plaintiff in the actions pending in the

Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Virginia; and
WHEREAS, the Circuic courc of tne City of Richmond encered
an Order in 1991 consolidating the actions pending therein

bearing Case Nos. H872-4 and LS-357i, which

consolidac~d

action

is likewise pending in said Court; and

WHEREAS, on or about December JO, 1991 Ayers, as Plai11tiff,
commenced~

civil action against the Executors, as Defendants, by

filing a Motion for Judg1nent in the Circuit Courc of the Cit.y of

Virginia Beach, Virginia, in a case styled Charles E. Avers. Jr.
y, Eqtate of Alvin o . .rarrect, and ident.ified as Case No.
CL9l~JB69,

which action is pending in said Court; and

WHEREAS, Ayers served and acted as legal counsel to Alvin Q.
Jarrett, M.D., on various occasions and in various matters prior
to the latter's death in 1991; and

WHEREAS, the actions conunenced by Alvin Q. Jarrect, M.D.,
against Ayers and Ayers, P.C., and A & Hin the Circuit Courc of
the City of Richmond relate to Ayers' representu.cion of Alvin Q.

• JUN-08-98 MON 04: 35 PM : '.~rf&L
.
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~ar~~t:,

FAX NO.

·'

X.D .. as his counsel and

between Ayers and Alvin Q.

"/(:_::.~.::012~41
"...,._~·

ce~:~in busi~2ss rl~al1ngs

Ja~=etc,

M.D.; and

WHEREAS, Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D., Ayers and others entered
inco an Agreement dated June 10, 1988 relacing to a prospective

business arrangement among the parties, to be known as Gateway
!ncernational Limited ("Gateway Agreement"), which is the subject
of the litigation inscituted by Ayers against the Executors in
the Circuit Court of the

Ci~y

of Virginia Beach,

idc~tif ied

aa

Case No. CL91-3869; and
WHEREAS, it has become apparent that: the cost of the

prosecution and defense of the actions pending in the Circuit
court of the City of Richmond and in the Circuit cour= of the
0

City of Virginia Beach is extraordinarily hi9h for all parties;
and

WUEREAS, the Exccutoro, Ayers, and Ayers, P.C., and A & H
agre~

thae it is in eheir respective best interests to cffecc a

$Otclement of all the pending litigation involving said parties,

ta resolve all outscanding claims and differences
upon the tcnns and in the manner hereinafter set

b~tween
for~h,

them

and to

dismiss all of the accions aforesaid pending in the Circuit Cour
of the City of Richmond and in the Circuit

Cour~

of the City of

Virginia Beach and provide for the liquidation of cercain assets

and righcs belonging to the

Esta~e

cf AJ.vin Q. Jarrect,

sec forr.h below;
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THEREFORE, Eor and

~OW,

~n

o! :h2 9remises and

conside~at~an

the muc.ual promises, covenanc:s and agreements

herei::~ft.er

sec:

forr:h, it is agreed among c.he parcies as follows:
Settlement

1.

~E

In

gending litiaation.

sac~s~accion

of

the claims of the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett:, M.D., and the
agains~

Executoro

Ayers, and Ayers, P.C., and A & Hand the

claims of Ayers, and Ayers,

~.c.,

and A &

a

againsc the Estate of

Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D., asserted in their Counterclaim, upon
execution of this Settlement Agreement, Executors ar.d Ayers shall

cause ca be dismissed

wit~

prejudice all

in

claim~ ass;~ced

Chancery Case No. H872·4 by causing the entry of a

C~smissed

Agreed Order, a copy of which is attached hereto as £xhibit A.
In satisfaction of the clnimo of Alvin Q.

Executoro against

\

Aye~s,

M.D., a.nd

et al, case No. LS·37Sl, ur.on execution

of this Settlement Agreement,

~xecutors

shall cause :o be

dismissed with prejudice Case .No. LS·375l by

a Disrnissad

Jarrs~t,

c~usin~

the enci:y of

Agreed Order, a copy of which is attach=d hereto as

Exhibit B.
In satisfaction of the claims of Ayers against che Estate of

Alvin Q.

~arrett,

M.O., pending in the Circuit Court of the City

of Virginia Beach as Case No. CL91-3869, upon

execut~on

of this

Settlement Agrcemenc, Aycro ohall cause to be dismissed with
prejudice Case No. CL9l.·3869 by causing the entry of a Dismissed

Agreed Order, a copy of which is attached hereto as ::xhibit C.
2.

Settlement of Monetary Claims.

In sacisfaction of the

claims of Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D., against Ayers, and Ayers, P.C.,
..

_

.. 4 •

3?3

• JUf'l-UtMltl rJUf'I Uq: ;lb I'll

,.o;q~llL r"

t ttl\ l'tU, 'f·:.<; pl ~~41

.

and A

& i{ and :he

Jarrett, upon

t

·

............

I

ltJi
I

'""""'

cla.:.:ns of ,;yers agal.nst th·e Estate a:: Alvin

~xecu~i~n

of

t~is

secclemenc

Agre~ment,

agrees immediately to use his best ef forcs to commence

Q.

Ay~~o

coll~ction

act:ivicies in pursuit: of cer::ain assec.s, righcs and i11terest.s in

the Estate of Alvin Q.

Jarre~c,

M.D., on the following tarms and

conditiono;
(a)
collec~

Ayers

~ill

use due diligence and best efforts

~a

on all notes made by 8. Roland Freasier. Jr. and owned by

Dattle!icld Conscruccion company, which notes will be first
assigned to the Estat2 of Al·1in Q. Jarrett M.D. and any recovery,

after deduccing the reasonable costs of collection, shall be
divided equal.ly bet.ween Ayers and the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett,

M.D.
(b)

Ayers will use due diligence and best: effort:s to

liquidate a real estate partnership interest of the Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D. in Ash uimited, a Virginia liroited
partner~hip,

a limited partner of Goochland Dover Limited

Partnership, and his

interes~

in Goochland Dover Limited

Partnership and any recovery, after deducting the reasonable
costs of collection, shall be divided equally between Ayers and

the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarretc, M.D.
(c)

Ayers wi11 use due diligence and besc cfforcs

have the Pathfinder Corporacion stock, f ormcrly MII stock of
~arrect,

transferred in such a manner so that the same may be

liquidated, with the proceeds thereof being divided equally
between Ayers and the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D.
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Cd)

liquidate the

t" tih C'lU.

,,-..,

Aye~s

dil~gence

will use due

~

. .;.,., l"'r

and bes:

of che Estace of Alvin Q.

i~teres~

r. cu

Ii-· ~ . ;lH ~j'! 1

in the Kelsey Mine property, wich the proceeds

~f!~r:s

Ja~~~ct,

c~ere~f

divided equally between Ayers and the Estate of

Alv~~

co

~.D.,

being
Q. Jarrett.

M.D.

(e}

Ayers will use due diligence and

bes~

liquidate the interest of the Estate of Alvin Q.

efforcs to
M.D. in

Jar~ett,

666,667 shares of stock in Unioil Corporation, the

:.s million

shares of Unioil Corporation stock option rights in che Escate of

Alvin Q. Jar=ett, M.D. and the potential inceresc o= said Estate
of Joseph Associates of

Gre~ley,

Inc., with the proceeds thereof

being divided becween Ayers and the Escate of Alvin Q. Jarrett,
M.D., so that

will receive seventy-five

Ayer~

the proceeds and the
r~~eive

E~tate

perce~c

{75~)

of

of Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D. will

twenty-five percent (25%) of the proceeds.
(f)

Aycra will uac due diligence and best efforcs to

collect on the note made by Vincent G. Robinson dated April 12,
1989,

wi~h

a remaining balance of approximately $75,000, and any

recovery, after deducting the reasonable costs of

ccllec~ion,

shall be divided between Ayers and the Estat:c of Alvin Q.
Ja~rett,

(75~)

M.D., so that Ayars will receive seventy five percenc

of the proceeds and the Estate of Alvin Q. Jar=ett, M.D.

will receive twenty·five percent (25%) of the proceeds.
be within Ayers' sole discretion to setcle such
Vincenc G. Robinson
appropr~ate

i~

clai~

It shall

againsc

less than a full recovery is che mcsc

disposition of such claim.
·6-
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Ayers

corope~enc

K~~612341

wil~

use due diligence and best

actorney(s),

assist~~

and fully

eff=:~s

c~operace

tc

wich

the prosecution of the potential malpractice action againsc .
John F. Deal, Esquire. his law firm, and Roberc DeVos and Popham,
Haik, Schnobrich & Kaufman, Ltd., which action is to be handled

on a one-third contingency fee
other fee

a.

~greemenc

basi~

by said attorney(s), or such

that is satisfactory to ehe Estate of Alvin

Jarrett, M.D., and any resulting net recovery shall be divided

equally between Ayers and the Estate of A1vin Q. Jarrect, M.D.
With respect to these monetary macters, Ayers in no way
represents or warrants the value or collectability of these
assecs and Ayers' duty is solely limited to using his best

efforts to reduce the claims or assets into money to be divided

in accordance with this Agreement.

Should at any time Ayers

conclude in his sole discretion that these assets have no value,

then he shall notify the

Esca~e

of the conclusion and surrender

any right!J he has to those assets, at which tinie he ::ihall haV'e no

further obligation to the Estate with respect to that particular

asset.
Mutual Releases.

3.

Agreement, the Estate of
E~ecutors,
Ayer~,

Upon execucion of this Settloment

~lvin

Q. Jarrecr., deceased and the

as first parties, and Ayers, on behalf of himself,

P.C. and A & H, as second partieo, their respective

officers, directors, employees, successors, assigns, affiliates,
and their heirs, executors and adtniniscracors, as the case may

be, hereby mutually release and forever quitclaim and discharge
-7-
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claim ::o nor r:ght, :::::.:!.e or =...:tteres&: !.!1 any of :he property

dealc with by this Secclemenc Agreement

othe~

than as set forth

under the terms hereof.
6.

Status Renorcz.

Ayers agrees to

p~ovide

the Executors

with status reports of his actions pursuant to this Settlement
Agreement no leos frequently than quarcarly, wich the first

status report being due October 1, 1993 and quarterly thereafter
un~il

all ot the property and assets dealt with in this

Settlement Agreement have been liquidated and the proceeds
discribuced, or until Ayers haa concluded in his
tha~

there is no value in

~y

o~n

discretion

assec and has so advised the Bstate

as set forth herein.
7.

Actions Necessary to Complete Settlement.

At any time

hereafter, each party hereby agrees to execute and deliver all

such other docuntents or inscruments and to take any action as may
be reasonably required in order to effect the transactions

contemplated by this

Settle..~ent

Agreement4

The executors and

Ayers agree to reasonably cooperate in any sf forts by Ayers to
enforce or collect claims, rights or interests of the Estace of
Alvin Q. Jarret:.t, M.D. as set. forth i11 this Settlement Agreement.

e.

Time of Perfopnance and Termination.

In performing any

ace under this Settlement Agreement, t.he parties agree that to
maximize any return, all accions must be taken expeditiously and
timely.

Should it be determined in

the future that

Ayers is not

using his best efforts to timely pursue these assets, then and

only then may the Executors give notice to Ayers af his failure
-9-
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each other.

c~~l~ r.e~~s.

~~ecutors.

·t:.;·)ol~~4L
. _

.. ..

r-.

administrators and assigns,

or their officers,· directors, employees, successors. assigns,

I
I

I

affiliates and subsidiaries, as the case may be, from any c¥1d all
I

claims, demands, damages, actions, causes of action or liability
of every kind or nacure whatsoever that the Estate of

Alvin Q. Jarretc, deceased or the Execucors, as first parties,
and Ayers on behalf of himself, Ayers, P.C. and A & R, as second

parties, ever had or now have against each other up to and
including tne

ef!~ctivc

dute of thili Setclement and Release

Agreemenc, including buc not limited to, any claims, demands,
damages, actions, causes of action or liability arising ouc of
related to the claims, crossclaims,

coun~erclaims

r

and third par ·y

claims asserted in the litigation described herein.

4.

The Execucor and the Estate of hlvin Q. Jarrett, M.D.

have not made and make no representations or warranties as to the
ownership of or

in~eresc

corporate stock, real
interest~

~.

in the notes, partnership interests,

esta~e

and stock option rights or other

referred to hereiri.
This Settlement Agreement and the referenced Mutual

Releaaco will not

~f fcct

the property interests and rights

by tlle Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, M.D., and the Estar.e of Alvi

Q. Jarrett, M.D. retains its ownership rights and interests in
a.11

prop~rty,

real and personal, concerning which Ayers is

due diligence and besc efforts to liquidate and distribute
pursuant co chis Settlement Agreement.

Ayers, and Ayers P.C. j1d

A & H, and each of them, acknowledge and agree that they have
-8·
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l'tlh liU.

.

~

co pu:-sue
d~ys

t::.es~ cl~~:H~t:s,

within

whic~

, · .01~~'tl
·.. ·'

t',

~

.:iC

~i1ich

co cure said defoult.

to cura chc dct.1ult during that. t

~ixty

:ime A.ye-::s sh.J..:.: havr;;

i111Q

Ln the

t:rarne.

t.he~1

Ayers

~venc

the

l60)
fail~

~xe<:ut:.m:s

rnay terminate Ayers' invol ,1ement with respect: to the liquidation

of the assets, at which time ·A.yer!:3 shall Eorthwith deliver to
Executors all work product, correspondence, pleadingo.

wt·iting~J,

research, and other documentation of every 11aturc .:lnd description
in its

posses~iort

relacing to tho pursuit of the claims, righto

.and interests of t.hc EGtat.:.e of Alvin Q. Jarrm:t, M.D., decensed,
and

the~eafter

share, on
rculi~ed

~\

Ayers shall only be entitled to that proportionate

ommtum meruir. theory, of any ultimat:e proceeds

as a direct result of his efforts to collect and

liquidate the claims, rights and interests of the Estate purr;uant
to t:his Settlement Agreement:..

Aa previously stated herein, if at any tim~ Ayers, in his
sol~

discretion, determines that the aasctG that he is pursuing

have no value or have only nominal value, then Ayers may ao

notify the Estate. at which t:irne Aycr::i uhull deliver over to the

Estate that particular asset, together with all work product
relating to the collection efforts made on behalf of that asoet,
at which tin1e Ayers shall have no further obligations to pursue
that particular a:.;tict, nor

ah~ll

he be entitled to any proceeds

in t.he event that asset: is later liquidated.
9.

Benefit:.

This Settlement

Agr~ement

shall be bindi11g

upon, and inure c:o the benefit of, tlle r:espective legal

·LO-

3?9

~~

l'tlh l'lU.

assigns of each at the
10.

hereto.

par~ies

Appl ir::able Law.

t' I c.

This Sett!cment

Ac~:-:ccment

shall be

governed in all respects hy, and shall be incerpreced in
accordance with, the laws of the Conunonwealth of Virginia.
11.

Counr.~rnart:s.

This Settlement Agreement m.::i.y be

executed in two or more counterpart!f, each of which shall be

deemed an original, but: all of which !Jhall
same

in~trumcnt..

12.

ocher

corwt itut:e one a11d the

Rnr- in~ 1\a-x.·~~m~nt..

~greement~

Thi:J Set:clemenc Agreecr.ent,

and the

specifically referred to herein, couscitute the

entire agreement between

and tuo Estate of Alvin Q.

Ayer~

Jarrett, ?4.D. and shall not be modified except by written
agreement of the partie!.i.

There '\re no

L1romise~,

terms.

conditions or obligation!J other th~n those contained het"ein, and

this Settlement Agreement ohall supersede all previous
co1tanunication~,

r~pre!.ir:!ntc.ttion!J

or

r.lgt.·,~~!nents ~

either verbal o:t.·

written, between the parties or their counsel on the subject

hez:eof.
13.

Warr.:inti1~~

of Ant:hority.

Ea.ch party hereto represents

and warr~11t:s to all other parties hereto that he has authority t 1o

execute this Agreement. in hif:> individual and/or representative
capm:ity a.nd t:hc:it:. thio Settlement Agreement:. i~ binding upon all

individuals and represented parties hereto.

-11-
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Settlement.

A~Jre~~nt:!llt

Hu.

t?:c parcies have

as of :.he date and

r. c:u

~xecuc.~d :~u.s

y~ar

fi::-st above written.

ESTATE OF ALVIN Q.

JJ'\RR~TT,

M.D.

r_~~~~t~

T. ROY J

RE

, JR. ,

CO· t::XECUT R.

Witness

Witness

By:

CHARLES E.
AYJ:;RS AND AYERS

By:

Witness

&

ASSOCIAl"ES,

P .. C.

GaUCl-· j ~
CHARLES E. AYERS,

PRINCIPAL
J'\ & H

Dh"VELOP~IEl:·IT

-12-
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'

'

OF.ED QI·· 1'tW!iT

N01'1~

Hiclnnon<.\, V ir<.J 111 l .lj

$150,000,00

l\pi:il 12, 1909/

FOR VAI .. Ul~ RECEIVED, the uncle rn igncd pi.·omit:cs to pay t~
Q. ,lJ\fUtE"l".l', or Oi:<lcr, at '1704 Ocean F1:onl:. Virgini''
Deach, Virginia, 01· at such othc1: pl~cc as the holder
clc:;il)nato in writing, the sum of ONE llUNOHED FIF'l"Y TJIOU51\N~

1\LVIN

may

~NO 00/100 DOLLAns ($150,000.00l plus interest at the primi
r i' bl ch a r g c cl by so v r. an D;ink , N • J\ • , plus 0 n c l; er cent ( 1?. )
adju~tctl on the first day of cnch month, par ~nnum, on th

unpaid principdl balance thereof from the diJ te hereof uoti
pclid.
'l'hc Olltzt«nding
principal balance and
accrueb
inLcru~t, if not ~oonc!I" p~id, t;hull become due aml payu.blr
011 /\pr:i.l 12,
l~,l.
/\ll pnymcntr. t;h.:ill b': .:'lpplictl fii.·:.;t tf.
th7 p~yrncnt of all .accrued nncl u.npilic.l intcrc~t on all unpnj: u
principal ~muunth and the rcm~undcr applied to the unpn d

principal

bal~ncc.

l

•1•ha riqht: is re~,ervcd to onticip«tc this note (rom ti, o
to time, in wiwlu or in purt, without ponu.lty.
The mukor hereof hu.ccby MJL"ccz:

if tlcfoult: be made

n

the payment of Lise principal sutn abovo mentioned, OX' o y
inst;1] lmcnts thereof or any int.ore.st thci·con as abayc
provided or if c.lofault be nwuc in the pcrtormancc or 4>r
compliance with «ny o! Lhc covenants ;mcl condition.s of t~1c
deed of trust, if there is one, 5ccuring this note, then ln
uny or all sucJ1 avant.s the entire ~mount unpaid of. t~1u
px-incipal of this notu with u.ll intcrc5t thun accruc.d shv.l,O..,
il.t l:ht~ option Of the holclcr Qt l:.hiS note
bCC0fl10 due and
I

pnyablc, tin\c bainq of the cs~rnncc of thi::; o<J roemcn t; thi!>
note is further subject Lo all other tci:ms, cond.i. t.ioru;, und
provisions of s~id deed of trust, if the.re i~ one, to wa~vc
demand, prc~cntmcn t, protest and fl\"> lice of di:;honor, nncl \'Jhc

benefit of the homestead exemption or ~ny other exemption or
insolvency laws as to this obligation.

Tho maker hereof do~s hereby mukc, con:;titutc and
uppoint
Scott
o. Stol.tu, 710 North ll~milton
t,
f(ichrnond,
VirginiD
23221
ils
my
true
Dnd
l.aw ·ul
n t torncy-in- .fu.c t, in my name, place mul s tccJd 1 with f · 11
power .1nd nuthoi:ity to ~ppca1: !or '''c in 4rny court of
cl·mtpctcnt j\lriscliction ~t any time, to waive il jury tri«.l 01·
.lny other right which I nmy po~~C"3, to ~n:;.wc.r or da.fentl i"Y
such suit or m~Ltcr to confess judgment in favor of Alvin Q.
Jttrrctt, without the !;Crvico of procc:;s upon me for such

Strei'

LAW On'tCF.3

AVERS & A\'J!nS
lt.Ulll.lurf t?CnY.'5.'CJIOJ.
llUIUllJolC

bi'IH 11.\Mrt.tunnct.I

iw.. ···ot<D. VlKGlllfA
(

J(l~41JI

amount as m~y be ot may appear to he due and unpaid by m~e to

the :;aid hlvin Q. Jarrett, Logcthcr \./ith. all costs nnd
expcnscn incu.i:rcl1 in the collection of nny amount:. PilY blc
Pnqc 1 of 2 rages
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hereunder ~(bu· l:hc ~~me l..Jccomc!a due unt.1 unt.il paid,
including rcn:;onablc .1ttor.nuy •:; (cc::; for nny :;um collectocJ
with Lhc aid of un illtorncy at lLlW cJnd to consent to ~n
immediate entry ot juc.lt;mcnt. untl Lhc i~!iu\lncn of .:in execution
th~1·con.

/\ny (ailui;c of lhc holder to cxci:Ci!;~ any right
hereunder sh~ll "ot be con~truad ns d w~ivcr of the right to
exercise the sumc or ~my other right at any time.
No
agreement with respect to this Noto or any coll~tcral shall
be bindin';)' upon th~ holder. ur1lc.:!:.s i11 writing ~nd signed by
it.
'this Not:u .i!.i !im:un~u by lhc licm of £\ de!cd of trust of
even date herewith on tl1at ccrt.:lin [Jropcrty locatc<l in th<?
County of llcnrico, Vir')inia and known us 11? Longstreet
Avenue, Uighlnnd Springs, V.i..n; inia, ilnd by the lien ot u
deed of tru.!.tt of e'lcn date hc.rcwith on ii ,3 ucr~s of lancl
fronting on U .s. Route JGO in Uirnovcr Count}, Vil."ginia known
ati Uattleficld Green Office P'1i:k, and lJy the.! Mclkcr• s pledge
of his twcrnl:y percent {20t) intcrcrnt in Thi:cc-Dixty Limited
[>nrtncrship, ai Vi.a:gini~ lin\it:.cd part1\crship .

....

WITNESS ~he following siqn~turc:
~,-.

u.womc.:..~

A\"ERS & AYERS
1Wfl\.l11Pf '120fT.!o.SlOl'AL
n~U>wr.

N "· u1U1a.f()r( inr.u

R.lf'''fQND. VlRCINIA
(

llCJr.tcJll
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SECOND SETTLEMENT l"ND RELEJ\SE AGREEMENT

THIS

SETTLEMENT AND RELEASE AGREEMENT
~

SECOND

Settlement Agreement") is made this

~S

("Second

- day of February, 1997 by

and between tne Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, deceased, represented :
by ics Co-Execucors T. Roy Jarrect, Jr. and Harry W. Jarrett (all

collectively the "Executorsn) and Charles E. Ayers, Jr., Ayers &

Ayers and Associates,

Virginia

co1~poration

{all collectively

WHEREAS, the

which

provided

for

is

attached

to

various
A

this

a

Company,

Ayersr').

and Ayers signed a Settlement and

Executo~s

obligations among the parties.
Agreement

11

("First Sectlement Agreement:")

Release Agreement:
1~93

and A & H Development:

P.C.

assignments,

dated June 17,

and

releases

copy of the Fi1·st: Settlement and
Second

Settlement Agreemont

as

Exhibtt 1; and
WHEREAS,

the Executors and AyBrs desire now to provide

for certain new and different assignments, waivers, releaseo and
indemnities,

~nd

further desire to terminate r:he First. Settlement

Agreement and to provide for mutual, complete and final waivers and
releases of any and all claims between or among them.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the

rece:i.pt and sufficiency of wh:i.cb :i.s hereby acknowledged,
cona ideration

includco

the

assignment.a,

wai vcrs,

whicj

releases

an

indemnities set:. forth below in this Second Settlement. Agreement.,
tho Executors and Ayers agree as follows:
1.

Ayers irrevocably assigns, grants and conveys to th

Exccuto:t·o all of his right,

title and

interest

in and to

th

capital, assets, profits and losses of Ash Limited Parcnership,

384
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Ayers agrees to sign all documents

necessary to allow the prompt transfer and assignment: of these

rights, ·
Ayers irrevocably assigns, grants and conveys ·to the

2..

Executors all of his right,
capital,

assets,

title and interest

do~umem:s

o! thlllse

tha

profits and losses of Goochland Dover Limited

Partnership, a Virginia limited partnership.

all

in and to

Ayers agrees to sign

necessary to allow the prompt transfer and assignment.

:r:ights.

3.

Aye1:s irrevocably assigns, grants and conveys to the

Executors all of his right, cicle and interest in that certain
promissory note made by Vincent G. Robinson dated April 12, 1989

(the "Robinson Note 11 ) .

A copy of the Robinson Note is attached c:.o

this Second Settlement Agreement as Exhibit 2.

Ayers agrees to

endorse and deliver the original Robinson Note to the Executors at

the time of signing this Second Settlement hgreement.

If for any

reason, the original Robinson Note cannot be located by Ayers, then

.

Ayers will sign u.nd deliver a lost note affidavit to the Executors
at the time. of signing thls Second Settlement: Agreement.

4.

The Executors irrevocably assign. grant ahd convey

to Ayers all their right,

property.

title and interest in the Kelsy Mine

This trans.fer will be via a

quit claim deed.

The

Executor£: agree to sign all documents necessary to allow the prompt

transfer and assignment of these
5.

The

Executor~

~ights.

irrevocably

assign~

grant and convey

to Ayers all their right, title and interest in G66,667 shares of
- 2 ..
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ccock

Unioil,

a

corpor~tion,

Nevada

reprenented

by

share
I

1. S 1nillion shai.·es of Unioil stock opt:io~

certificate JI 19050,

rights and any potential interest in Joseph Aesociates of Greeley,
Inc.

The Executors agree to sign all documents necessary to allow

the prompt transfer and

a~slgnmenc

of these rights.

The Executors irrevocably asaign, grant and

6.

I

conve~

to Ayers, without recourse, all of their right, title and interest
in

all

not.es

made

by

8.

Roland

Battlefield Construction Company,
formerly

Corporation,

MII.

The

Fre1:1sicr,

Jr.

and

owned

b~

and all stock of Pathfindej
Executors

agree

to

sign

all
I

documents necessary to allow the prompt transfer and assignment of
these rights.
'1.

J\yero hereby releases and forever discharges th

a11d their employees,

Executors

agents,

attorneys,

accountants

heirs, successors and assigns of and from any and all manner a
actions,

causes of action,

covenants,

contracts,

suits,

dabts,

controversies,

'1ccounts,

reckonings

agreements,

damages
I
I

judgments, claims and demands (collect:ively •claima and demands"j

whatsoever, in law or in equity that Ayers ever had, now has, or
that he nnd

hi~

agents, attorneys, accountants, heirs, executoro

successors and assigns hereafter con, ohall, or

m~yhave,

by reasof

of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever, and Ayers represents i~

good fait:h that there are no •clpims or demands" to his knowledgr
and belief other than as set

forth in this Second Set.tlemenr

Agreement.

-

J -

38S ·

.. :....

~

; ...

U~

~-··\

The Executors hereby rclettsc ..'lnd :orcver discharge

0.

Ayers

P.
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and

his

partners,

officers,

employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, hairs,
assigns of and

from

shal.·eholders.

di rectors,

successo~s

any and a.11 manner of ac'tions,

and

causes of

accion, suits, debts, accounts, reckonings, covenants, contracts,
controversies, agreements, damages, judgments, claims and demands
(collectively ''claims and demands") whatsoovar, in law or in equity
the Executors ever had, now have, or that they and their agents,

attorneys, accountants, heirs, executors, successors and assigns
hereafter can, shall, or may have, by reason of any matter, cause
or thing whatsoever, and the Executors reprcscnc in good faith that

there al.·e no

11

claims or demands.. to their knowledge and belief

other than as set forth in this Second Settlement Agreement.
9.

The Executors irrevocably assign, grant and convey

to Ayers all their right, title and interest in any and all claims

the Executors may have of any kind, type or description, whether
such claims relate to prior legal representation, fiduciary duty,
or any other relationship against John F.

Deal,

Esquire and his

present or former law firm and any of their employees, officers,
directors,

agents,

representatives and successors,

and

again~t

Robert Devos, Esquire and Popham 1 Haik, Schnobrich ' Kaufman, Ltd.
or

any.

of

their

i·epresentatives
Claims") .

directors,

employee a,

officers,

successors

(colleccively,

agents,

tha

"Deal/DeVos

Ayers shall unconditionally, absolutely,

jointly and

and

aeverally indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Executors from
any and all claims, damages, liabilities and expenses,
- ·4 -
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limitation,

attorneys

fees.

kind,

~ny

of

description arising dircccly or indirectly as

~

type

or

resulc of Ayers

taking any action of any kind relating to che Deal/Devos Claims,
including but; not

cou11r.e1·claims,

sanctions,

other

limited to claims

legal

or

agc'l.insc:

cross-claims,

equitable

claims

or

(collectively, the "Indemnified Claims").

the Executors

third-part:y claims,
demands

of

for
or

kind

u.ny

The Executors and Ayers

i1tt.end this indemnity and hold harmless t.o be absolute

and total, and to require Ayers to pay all costs of defense,
and appeal of any Indc9mni.fied Claim, includin

all costs

fees, expert witness fees and any or.her cost or expense of any kinq

pr nar.ure whatsoever that may be incurred and all damage awardd1
r

relating to any Indemnified Claim.

The Executors represent thac

John F. Deal, Esquire and hio law firm formerly represented
Ta

the

best

of

the

Executors

information

and

them~

belief,

representation by John F. Deal, Esquire and his law firm may
lasted until March 23,

1992 which is

th
hav~

I

the date that the Supreme

Court of Virginia entered an Order allowing the withdrawal of thj
case first filed in the Circuit court of the City of RichmondJ

styled The Estate of Mary Morton Parsons v.
No. LS-3054.

Alv~n O.

Jarrett,

Lat

The Executors make no representation or warranty thaj

any applicable statute of limitations as to the Deal/Devos claim~

has not already expired.
10.

i

This Second Settlement Agreement shall be governed,
I

interpreted, com2trued and enforced in accordance with the laws of

the commonwealth of Virginia.
- 5 -
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1'his Second Settlement. Agreement and the respective

representations,

warranties,

provisions,

covenants,

terms,

condit:ions and agreements contained herein is binding on and shall
inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective

heirs, representatives successors and assigns.
12.

The

Executors

and Ayers both agree

t:hat

if any

provision of this Second Settlement Agreement is determined by a
court

of

competent

jurisdiction

to

be

iµvalid,

illegal,

unenforceable or in conflict with any law of the Commonwealth of
Virginia, then the .remaining pore.ions or provisions shall not: be

affected and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be

conscrued, interpreted and enforced as if this Second Settleine11c.
Agreement did not contain the part, term or provision held to be

invalid.
l.3.

The waiver by either party of any breach of any

provision of this Second Settlement Agreement or the failure to
exercise any right, power or remedy undor this Second Settlement
Agreement shall

no~

be deemed a continuing waiver or a waiver of

any subsequent breach, whether of the same or another provision or
in

~ny

way impair any right, power or remedy.

14.

This Second Settlement Agreement and the rights of

either party herein may not be

a~signed

without the prior written

consent of the other party.
15.

The Executors and Ayers each agree to promptly sign

and deliver all documents or instruments necessary, or to take

other action as may be reasonably required in order complete the
- 6 ..
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transactions and obllgar.ions referred to·:.n this Second Settlement
Agreement..

I

16.

This

Second

Sectlement

Agreemen~

may

not

be

supplemented, modified, changed, waived, discharged, terminated,
I

modified or amended except by written instrumenr. signed by both th~
Executors and Ayers.

the

entire

This Second Settlement Agreement const:ituteh

agreement

and

understanding

supersedes all previous negotiations,

of

the

parties

anr

discussions and agreement

between the parties and no parol evidence of any prior or othc
agreement shall be permitted to contradict: or

vat~y

its t:erm.

Ther

are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other than thosf
contained in this Second Settlement Agreement.

expressly

acknowledge

that

the

First

The parties hercb~

Settlement

Agreement

i~

terminated and no longer of any force and effect whatsoever.
17.

The Executors and Ayers each represent and warra~

that .they have independently and thoroughly
Settlement Agreement,

review~d

this Second

they have each been advised by their o+

independent counsel .'.ls to its content, meaning and intent, and thjy
are

signing

thio

second

Settlement

Agreement

freely

njd

voluntarily, without any undue influence or duress and with a fujl

and

complete

obligations.

understandincr of

all

their

rights,

duties

ajd

There arc no other representations or warrantie ,

either express oi.- ilnplied, other than as expressly set forth

this Second Settlement Agreement •

.. 7 -
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WITNESS the following :Jignat.ures:

THE ESTATE OF ALVIN QI JARRETT

, JR., Co- xacutor
of Alvin Q. Jarrett

a-Executor
lvin Q. Jarrett

- a-
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t J11\

.-

COMMONWEALTH OF VlRGINIA
C:tTY/COtnrrY OF •. \ .
I

•

l't!J.

I :· . IU l.~JL\ 1
\ .. •'

... r"

\

•,,t, .. ~ ~
The foregoing inat.rurocnt was acknowledged before me t.his
;.'.I l
day of -February; 1997 by CHARLES E. J\Y'ERS, JR., individually
and in hin capacity as Principal of Ayers & Ayers and Associates~

P.C. and in his

capuci~y

as Director of A & H Development Companyt

.

. • ,~ •

, f·

1

•

....

I " r , ., r

t1 , , •

Nocary Public·
'

I

My Commission Expires: '1 J."-,, /: ·t .'

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
CI'I'Y'yCOUN'F-Y 01" \) I \7.'C'":x\,~l f\

2C: day

&t:A<l..(

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me thi

of Febl.Llary, 1997 by T. ROY JARRETT, JR., as co-Executo
of the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarret~.

My Commission Expires~

?-~/ ·).t)t'.:>0

COMMONWEALTH OF ~INIA

CITY/eOUNT¥ OF

c:E,t,

instru~~

CA.
The foregoing
was acknowledged before me
~day <:>f February, 1997 by HARRY w, JARRETT, as Co-Executor

the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett.

d~~
~Otar¥ Publ~c

My

Commis~don

Expires:

--:f?"~. ~,;; /yp· 9'

- 9 -

392

-------------------------------------------------1-1

VIRGINIA:

2
3

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE COUNTY OF HENRICO

4
5
6

7

CHARLES E. AYER
PLAINTIFF
vs.
Case No.
CL 93-287

8
9

JOHN F. DEAL
DEFENDANT

10
11
12
13

Transcript of the Hearing, in the above

14

when heard on May 28, 1993, before the Honorable

15

LEE A. HARRIS, Judge.

16
17
18
19

ORIGINAL

20
21
22
23

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES, INC.
4914 Fitzhugh Avenue
Richmond, Virginia 23230
Tel. No. (804) 355-4335

24

-- -..

25

·..__,,I

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES,
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1 APPEARANCES:
2
3
4
5
6 MR. ·scOTT DAVID STOLTE

710 North Hamilton Street
7 Richmond, Virginia 23221
8

MR. CHARLES M. LOLLAR
700 Newtown Road
23502
10 Norfolk, Virginia
9

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23
24
25
J
_/

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES,

INC.

---------------------------------------------------,
I
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3

filed by the defendant; is that correct?

6
7

/

'· ...

In

the matter of Ayers vs. Deal, demur

5

I

All right.

2

4

,.

THE COURT:

MR. LOLLAR:

That's correct,

Your Honor.
THE COURT:

Is evidence ready

to go forward?
STOLTE:

8

MR.

9

THE COURT:

Yes, sir.
I have received the

10

demur in the memoranda on behalf of the

11

defendant. Are are any comments you wish

12

to make on the behalf of the defendant.

13

MR. LOLLAR:

I would -- Your

14

Honor, my name is a Charles M. Lollar.

15

And I am an attorney with Helig,

16

McKenry, Fraim and Lollar representing

17

the defendant John Deal.

18

that we filed,

19

succinct as I possibly can focusing on

20

the issues and I did want to emphasizes

21

a couple of things to Your Honor, this

22

morning but I think that the focus is

23

very important in arriving at this

24

decision, since i t ' s on a demur and

25

there is a natural reluctance of the

I think,

And the brief
I tried to be as

_)
CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES,
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Court to sustain the demur with

2

prejudice and I want Your Honor to want

3

that is what we are asking Your Honor

4

to do is to dismiss this case by

5

sustaining did he this a prejudice

6

because on the fact that had been

7

presented within the pleadings, the four

8

corners of the pleading including the

9

reference to documents and information

10

that you can take judicial notice there

11

is no way that the plaintiff can

12

establish by allegationss even the

13

necessary element of lack of probable

14

cause this is a negative lack of

15

probable cause and based upon that,

16

being a necessary element, the case

17

fails and cannot be pled to satisfy the

18

requirements. And I wanted Your Honor to

19

focus on this issue of lack of probable

20

cause.

21

I don't think we need the

22

element of the malicious prosecution

23

arising_ out of a criminal matter.

24

not sure you've had an opportunity to I

25

need your help if quarter not what

_,.

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES, INC.
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1

familiar.
THE COURT:

2
3

and reviewed the law.
MR. LOLLAR:

4

.

I have reviewed it

The elements of

5

which

6

go into the first two.

7

are without probable cause and with

8

malicious one important thing that I

9

site in the brief is that malicious lack

I

don't believe apparently need to
The last two

10

of probable cause cannot be inf erred by

11

malicious or through malicious so you

12

can't set out facts from which a reason

13

person could inf er malice and then from

14

that infer lack of probable cause.

15

And lack of probable cause has to be

16

independently alleged and allegations

17

need to be factual not conclusory

18

Now, when you look at just probable

19

cause, within the pleading we have the

20

motion of judgment, you see that the two

21

indictments were issued, and they were

22

based upon the testimony of one witness

23

a Mr. daisy whom I assume the Court is

24

familiar with.

25

transcript of the two motions to strike

And also we attached the

!

·~.....;/
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1

at the trial, which gets into a probable

2

cause analysis, both of which were

3

denied by Judge Parsons.

4

probable cause exists here as much as

5

any of the case I have read and several

6

of the cases that we cited in fact that

7

the supreme Court of Virginia suggests

8

and my reading of the opinion that the

9

trial court and two cases, one the demur

The element of

10

was denied, and the jury verdict was

11

rendered against the defendant; and the

12

other one, it just went to the jury the

13

Supreme Court seemed to suggest that the

14

judge should sustain the demur based

15

upon what they saw as clear probable

16

cause as a matter of law.

17

cases are the American Railroad Express

18

Company vs. Stevens and the Virginia

19

Railroad and Power Company vs. Cliff.

20

I cited both of those opinions, I think

21

I've also given Your Honor copies of the

22

opinion there.

23

you f ac~ fall back from this probable

24

cause unless you also have a subissue of

25

advise of counsel.

And those two

You also have whether

I
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1
2

case as far as we're concerned.

The

3

fact that the Commonwealth attorney was

4

the one that set this matter on foot.

5

The Commonwealth attorney took it to the

6

grand jury.

7

like you had in Stevens where an

8

Assistant Commonwealth attorney was

9

hired by the defendant.

We didn't have a situation

The court,

10

supreme court of Virginia and Stevens

11

even said that that doesn't matter, the

12

Commonwealth attorney still advised him

13

in the assist absent -- even though he

14

was paid for his fees, were paid for by

15

the defendant Railroad Express Co.

16

were acting upon advice of counsel.

17

that is a absolute defense in a case

18

like this.

19

clear on this point, and they all have a

20

common thread when you read them as far

21

as the policy is considered here.

22

that is that that make the prosecution

23

as a cause of action arising out of

24

criminal proceeding are not favored in

25

the law.

They
And

The cases really are very

And

There are strict limitations,

·J
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and to allow them to go on under these

2

circumstances would certainly have a

3

chilling effect on citizens reporting

4

for authorities.

5

precedent, Your Honor.

6

It would be a bad

And I think that that is a very

7

valid concern that this Court needs to

8

consider.

9

burden of alleging, we're not trailing

The burden of proof of the

10

just the burden on the allegations is on

11

the plaintiff here.

12

allegations give you enough facts to

13

know that as a matter of law, because

14

you view this as of the time, the action

15

was taken as a matter of law, probable

16

cause did exist and they certainly have

17

not alleged facts from which you can

18

infer that probable cause didn't exist.

And the

19

THE COURT:

All right.

20

MR. STOLTE:

Scott Stolte for

21
22

Mr. Ayers, Your Honor.
It's, of course, our position

23

that this is not a demurrable issue that

24

we feel alleged suf f icients fact to get

25

us to indicates and that we have down

_)
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the road a problem with our burden of

2

proof, but that is not what we're here

3

for today.
THE COURT:

4

5

have alleged and point it out?
MR. STOLTE:

6

..

Tell me what you

We have -- well,

7

we have alleged that the prosecution in

8

this criminal matter was set afoot by

9

Mr. Deal; that the prosecution was

10

instituted procured through Mr. Deal as

11

an agent working for Mr. Deal that there

12

was not probable cause for the

13

prosecution; and that the instituted

14

that criminal activity was malicious.

,

15

16

MR. STOLTE:

That it was

brought about -THE COURT:

19
20

What does that

mean?

17

18

THE COURT:

What are you

saying?

21

MR. STOLTE:

22

in short -- we're saying --

23

THE COURT:

What we're saying

Tell me what you

24

allege that Mr. Deal did that would

25

bring this matter to a malicious

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES,
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prosecution situation?
That criminal

MR. STOLTE:

2
3

activity was brought about, for his gain

4

in a civil matter.

5

THE COURT:

What did he do

6

wrong?

What are you alleging that he

7

did.

8

you alleging that?

9

alleging that what he told the

are

Did he lie to the police,

I mean, are you

10

Commonwealth attorney or the

11

investigators was in fact not true?

12
13
14

MR. STOLTE:

No, we're not

stating that he lied.
THE COURT:

So

All right.

15

you're not stating that the information

16

he gave to the police was not true?

17

MR. STOLTE:

18

THE COURT:

That is correct.
All right.

So, you

19

have alleged that he contacted the

20

police, gives them information that is

21

true; and that the police, with his

22

assistance, conduct an investigation.

23

After they conduct the investigation,

24

they confer with the attorney for the

25

Commonwealth.

After that conferring

)
.../
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1

with the Commonwealth for the

2

Commonwealth, the matter is put forth

3

before a grand jury.

4

returns indictments finding probable

5

cause.

6

The evidence the put on; motion to

7

strike is made in the criminal case. The

8

circuit court trial judge finds there is

9

in fact probable cause based on the

10

evidence that is brought forth, and

11

denies the motion to strike.

12

case is put on.

13

made, denied; goes to the jury.

14

jury finds the defendant not guilty.

15

Where is the malicious prosecution?

16

What in all of that have you alleged

17

that Mr. Deal did that would amount to

18

malicious prosecution?

19

The grand jury

The matter is set for trial.

The entire

Motion to strike is

MR. STOLTE:

The

I guess, Your

20

Honor, we would have to step back a

21

little and look at the history of it

22

prior to it getting to the Commonwealth

23

attorney if I might spend a moment on

24

that.

25

THE COURT:

From your

)

·· ..-/

CRANE-SNEAD & ASSOCIATES,

403

INC.

-------------------------------------------------121

pleadings, now, tell me what in the

2

pleading and that is what I'm dealing

3

with that is alleged that

4

let's make a long story short.

5

you not agree Mr. Stolte, that from th

6

reading of your pleadings, and I have

7

for the demur situation read the

8

pleading, given all reasonable

9

inferences therefrom, that your

well,
Would

·o

10

pleadings and the reasonable inferences

11

show that although obviously, from youri

12

pleadings, Mr. Deal certainly contacte

13

the police, he certainly assisted in the

14

investigation by giving information, but

15

that the decision to go forward as far

16

as criminal indictments was made throu h

17

the advice of the Commonwealth

18

attorney.

19

reasonable inference that can be drawn

20

from your pleadings?

21

didn't go to the grand jury.

22

did not get a warrant.

23

pleadings -- he gives information to the

24

State Police who contacts the

25

Commonwealth attorney, and then the

Is that not the only

I mean Mr. Deal
Mr. Deal

You, from your

·•.. ;'

···-
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decision is made to go to the grand

2

jury.

3

MR. STOLTE:

4

TH:e: COURT:

All right.
All right.

So the

5

advice is from counsel, Commonwealth

6

attorney at that point.

7

information he has, is that not true?

8
9
10
11

MR. STOLTE:

Based on the

I'm not sure that

I would agree that the Commonwealth
attorney is Mr. Deal's counsel.
THE COURT:

Well, no, I didn't

12

say he was, but their advice is from the

13

Commonwealth attorney based on the

14

information provided from Mr. Deal and

15

from the State Police investigation.

16

MR. STOLTE:

Yes, sir.

17

THE COURT:

In that factual

18

situation, would you not have to allege

19

in order for this case to go forward,

20

that the information given by Mr. Deal

21

was false and it was done maliciously

22

either intentionally or without proper

23

investigation or what have you, would

24

not have to allege that under this

25

factual situation to go forward?

·~..;)
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1

MR. STOLTE:

Yes, sir.

2

THE COURT:

Do you allege

3

MR. STOLTE:

clearly as we could and to that extent

5

would state that in a worse case senari

6

that Mr. Ayers should have the

7

opportunity to amend the plea.

9

Were you alleging

THE COURT:

that what Mr. Deal told the police was

10

false and you have told me as an off ice

11

of the Court, no.

12

question to you is; are you in a

13

position as an officer of the court to

14

make an allegation in this motion for

15

judgment and you understand what

16

inquiries must be made and what you

17

have, that the information provided by

18

Mr. Deal was in fact false and

19

intentionally false for the end that

20

allege in your motion for judgment?

21

·-

I guess as

4

8

·..

No,

that~

So, I guess my

MR. STOLTE:

I believe that

22

have not made that allegation, but can

23

make that allegation.

24

THE COURT:

All right.

25

MR. STOLTE:

And would ask for

)
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the right to amend the pleadings.
THE COURT:

2
3

Any comments on

that Mr. Stolte?
MR. LOLLAR:

4

5

Honor.

6

but

I

Your Honor, I am quite shocked
would submit.
THE COURT:

7

Lollar, Your

have to take

I

8

representations as officers of the court

9

as they're made.
MR. LOLLAR:

10

I

understand that,

11

Your Honor.

12

Honor's comments about the requirements

13

should have been noted, and I certainly

14

noted them.

15

facts,

16

understand, that there are not facts

17

that would constitute any false

18

information.

19

And I think that Your

Your Honor, there are no

I will tell you from what I

THE COURT:

Well, it's my

.20

understanding of the law, and as

21

everyone here knows, I've been wrong

22

more than once, probably will continue

23

to be on occasions; that under this

24

factual situation in order for a

25

pleading to survive, there has got to be

..._.)
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1

an allegation that it somehow or another

2

that the information provided by Mr.

3

Deal was in fact false and maliciously

4

done.

5

nothing in the pleadings that can show

6

lack of probable cause.

7

the advice of the Commonwealth's

8

attorney and no allegation that there ib

9

any connivence or anything of that

10

nature, but that is my view of it.

Because absent that, there is

MR. LOLLAR:

11

Plus, you hav[
\

I would agree, You

12

Honor.

13

allowed to amend it, because number one,

14

they haven't alleged it, and now I

15

that they will be digging themselves

16

into a hole by trying to allege it;

17

number two, the grand jury indictments

18

reflect on their face that there was no

19

testimony by Mr. Deal and that is very

20

important.

I

don't think they should be

THE COURT:

21

Well,

I

thin

think the

22

pleadings do show, the pleadings here,

23

do show-that information was in fact

24

provided by Mr. Deal and factually, tha

25

is --

w
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MR. LOLLAR:

2

THE COURT:

That is correct.
And let's say that

3

i t could have alleged and proven that

4

Mr. Deal made up all of this

5

information, it just flat out was not

6

true and he did for the purpose of

7

getting this advantage in the civil case

8

as alleged here, do you not agree that

9

if that could be shown and proven that

10

that would amount to a malicious

11

prosecution situation?

12
13

MR. LOLLAR:

I agree, Your

THE COURT:

Now,

Honor.

14

mean that is

I

15

my thought on it.

16

with it,

17

for judgment as i t now stands, states a

18

cause of action.

19

sustain the demur.

20

days to amend your pleadings.

21

Obviously, if they are not amended then,

22

that is the end of the case.

23

are amended, then i t will have. to be

24

looked at, at that time.

25

will make the final comments

I'm going to do this

I do not think that the motion

So, I'm going to
I will allow you 15

I

If they

guess I
here~

• •: _ ... .A
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today.

2

pleadings are filed and the attorney

3

files them, that they stand behind them.

4

And if pleadings are filed at some late

5

time that the court finds are not based

6

on the reasonable inquiry.

7

hesitate to impose proper sanctions on

8

any party that would file such a

9

pleading.

We all know, that when

r

MR. LOLLAR:

11

THE- COURT:

Yes, sir.
I will sustain the

12

demur.

13

amend, if you can do so.

14

continue from that point.

16

will not

All counsel understand that?

10

15

I

I will allow you 15 days to
And we will

NOTE: Whereupon the proceeding
ended.

17
18

19
20

21
22
23

24
25
... __ ,,.

..
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1
2

3
I, ANGELA BURT, hereby certify that I,

4
5

having been duly sworn, was the Court Reporter in

6

the Circuit Court of the County of Henrico,

7

Virginia, on the 28th day of May 1993, at the time

8

of the hearing.
I further certify that the foregoing

9

10

transcript is a true and accurate record of the

11

testimony and other incidents of the HEARING

12

herein.

13
14

Given under my hand this 4th day of June
1993.

15
16
17
18
19
20

------~v~~-nd__
)

r)

ANGELA BURT

21
22
.23

24

25
. . . ~}
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VIRGINIA:

. ..
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR HENRICO COUNTY

CHARLES E. AYERS, JR.~

Plaintiff,

v.

CASE NO. CL93-287

JOHN F. DEAL,
Defendant.
0 RD ER

THIS MATTER came on for hearing. on May 28, 1993.' upon .the

I

demurrer filed by the defendant, John F. Deal, to the motion for
judgment filed herein by the plaintiff, Charles E. Ayers, Jr.,

Jnd

the argument of counsel, ore tenus.
UPON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, it appearing that the demurrer
should be sustained, it is therefore
ORDERED that the demurrer of the defendant, John ··F. Deal,

e,

and hereby is, sustained on the grounds set forth therein;
motion for judgment is dismissed,

with leave granted to

plaintiff to file, on or before June 12, 1993, an amended mot·on
for judgment·alleging specific allegations of untrue statements by
the defendant to the

per~ons

investigating the underlying cr.imi al

proceeding, to which ruling the plaintiff respectfully objects
excepts.
ENTERED this

:en

W dayofA:~.,
Judge

nd

·:"·

...

cs;~~
counse~Deal

Of

SEEN AND OBJECTED TO:

Jd/~~
Of Counsel for Charles E.
Ayers, Jr.
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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE COUNTY OF HENRICO

CHARLES E. AYERS, JR.

I

Plaintiff,

v.

CASE NO.

CL9~-287

JOHN F. DEAL,
Defendant.
0 RD ER
THIS

CAUSE

came

to be heard

on

Defendant's

Motion

f~r

Sanctions, and was argued by counsel.
IT APPEARING that Plaintiff, Charles E. Ayers, Jr., and

counsel, Scott D. Stolte, have signed and filed pleadings in t
proceeding which failed to comply with

~~~ 1 ~ourF,~s

Jl'b..~:f-'9"'1"~t{

ruling

~n_tqir··

·7
I9J

. tWA :~:: ~~() u.lw -t;tt:a.A.1.4 6 If

matter at a hearing on May 28, 1993, arid in violation of Code o
Virginia ·§8.01-271.1, 1950, as amended, it is therefore

ORDERED that Charles E. Ayers,_Jr. and his attorney, Scott D.
Stolte,
$

pay

to

t/q.5$, o'-f

the

Defendant,

John

F.

Deal,

the

sum

of

, as sanctions to reimburse Defendant for his cojts

and attorney• s fees expended in the defense of this proceeding, jnd
that judgment be granted in favor of John F. Deal against

Char~es

E. Ayers, Jr. and Scott D. Stolte, jointly and severally, in
amount of $

'f 'l 5! 0 L{ ,
1

to which ruling Plaintiff and his coun

object and except.
ENTER this

;).2

ed. day

of

D d;Fi~
ENTER:

Judge
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1993.

he

... , ·..

. ·::·

··•··

..

··~··

·-· ......

E. Ayers, Jr.
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EXHIBIT B

VIRGINIA: IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF VIRGINIA BEACH
T. ROY JARRETT, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

v.

Law No.:

CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et al.,
Defendants.
AFFIDAVIT OF COUNSEL FOR HENRICO ATTORNEYS
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA)
).
CITY OF NORFOLK

to-wit:

This day came Charles M. Lollar, having been first duly s [rn,
who made oath as follows:
1.
That he is an officer, shareholder and attorney . ith
Heilig, McKenry, ·Fraim, and Lollar, P.C., .a Virginia professi['nal
corporation ("the Firm") .
2.
That on or about March 26, 1998, the Firm
represent the interests of John F. Deal, Esquire,
Wells, Esquire, and John F. Deal & Associates
Attorneys"), to file responsive pleadings on their
appear and defend them in this proceeding.

was engag d to
Rhonda Cob er(the "Hen ico
behalf., an to

3.
That attached hereto as Exhibit "A", and by this
reference made a part hereof, are all billing statements for lfgal
services rendered by this aff iant and the Firm, including cost and
expenses, during the course of this proceeding, from March 26,
1998, through August 31, 1998, which total $9,709.52. I esti ate
an additional $1,350 in legal fees will be expended through the
hearing on September 4, 1998 .
. 4.
That a total of· $11, 059. 52, representing 73. 8 at to ney
hours, has, or will be, incurred by the Henrico Attorneys for the
Firm's representation for this matter from March 26, 1998, thr ugh
the hearing on September 4, 1998.

©

5.
That such services were necessary in order to defend the
interests of the Henrico Attorneys~

Charles M. Lollar

1

416
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.....
·~·

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
CITY OF NORFOLK, to-wit:
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN·TO before me, a notary public in and for
the jurisdiction aforesaid, this 2nd day of September, 1998, by
Charles M. Lollar.

:t!n&utL~
Notary PUbliC
My commission expires:

July 31, 2002.

2
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Heilig, McKenry, Fraim & Lollar. P.C.
700 Newtown Road, Suite 15
Norfolk, VA 23502
757-461-2500
Fed ID#54-1134418
June 10, 1998
Billed through 06/10/98
Bill number

10042-00040-010 CML

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
ATTN: Wendy Inge, Esquire
P.O. Box C85058
Richmond, VA 23285-5058
T. Roy Jarrett & Harry W. Jarrett, Co-Executors 9f The Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, & Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett,. and Alvin Q.
Jarret, Deceased, and Cardinal Holding Company, assignee
v. John F. Deal, Esq., & Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esq., & John F.
Deal & Associates, & Robert Devos, Esq. & Popham, Haik,
Schobrich & Kaufman, Ltd.; Case# CL97-787; CC of Virginia Beach
FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED
'26/98 CML

03/27/98 CML

Initial telephone conference with Wendy Inge,
Esq., regarding claim filed 3/21/97 in Virg_in_ia
Beach Circuit Court and served 3/20/98

hrs

Receipt and extensive review of Motion for
Judgment and exhibits

hrs

03/30/98 CML

Draft disclosure letter and mail to John F. Deal,
• Esq.
(No charge)

hrs

04/01/98 CML

Extensive telephone conference with John F. Deal,
Esq., regarding facts

hrs

04/02/98 CML

Receipt and review of correspondence from Mr.
Deal

hrs

04/09/98 CML

Draft correspondence to Honorable Thomas s.
Shadrick, Chief Judge of Virginia Beach Circuit
Court, requesting poll of the judges; Receipt and
review of correspondence from Mr. Deal enclosing
available dates; Fax responsive pleadings to
Robert McFarland, Esq., Office conference with
Mr. Deal regarding Estate of Jarrett suit;
Telephone conference with Belinda of State
Corporation Commission regarding Cardinal Holding
Company

41.8

1.

o

hrs

....· ..
·:'·

PAGE

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number
10042-00040-010 CML
'10/98 JGK

04/10/98 CML

04/11/98 CML

04/17/98 CML

04/21/98 CML
04/22/98 CML

22/98 CML

04/28/98 CML

05/01/98 CML

05/05/98 CML

2

Review of legal research; Review all pleadings;
Draft counterclaim for malicious abuse of powers;
Draft Motion for Sanctions

1. 60 hrs

Draft Demurrer, Special Pleas in Bar, Motion
Craving Oyer, revise Counterclaim and Motion for
Sanctions; draft letter to Clerk of Circuit
Court; file pleadings in Clerk's Office

2.80 hrs

Receipt and review of correspondence, Special
Plea, Demurrer and Motion Craving Oyer from
Robert w. McFarland, Esq.

.90 hrs

Receipt and review of faxed correspondence from
Patricia D. Wills, Legal Assistant to Mr. Deal,
and revised itinerary for Mr .. Deal; Receipt of
Notice of Docket Call from Virginia Beach Circuit
Court Clerk's Office

.SO hrs

Telephone conference with Norma, Judge's
secretary'· to check on poll of the judges

.20 hrs

Telephone conference with Mr. McFarland regarding
status of designation and/or assignment to judge;
Review of file

.40 hrs

Telephone conference with Judge David Adams
regarding Roy Jarrett and his knowledge of suit
filing

.40 hrs

Telephone call from Norma, judge's secretary, to
advise Judge Cromwell had been assigned to the
case; second telephone call from Norma advising
that Judge Cromwell is unable to hear the case
and another judge will have to assigned

.40 hrs

Extensive telephone conference with Stephen G.
Test, Esq., requesting copy of Motion for
Judgment and discussing case; Fax Motion to Mr.
Test

.90 hrs

Receipt and review of letter from Thomas S.
Shadrick, Chief Judge, Circuit Court of Virginia
Beach, assigning case to Judge A. Bonwill
Shockley; place call to Robert H. Smallenberg,
Esq., to obtain available dates for hearing, left
message with secretary, Martha Davis; Draft
letter to Mr. Smallenberg

.90 hrs

4:19

·t'·

I

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number
10042-00040-010 CML
'12/98 CML

05/18/98 CML

05/19/98 CML

05/26/98 CML

26/98 CML

05/28/98 CML

05/28/98 CML

05/29/98 CML

PAGE

3

Receipt and review of correspondence and
Memorandum in Support of Demurrer and Special
Plea from Mr. McFarland; Receipt and review of
correspondence from Mr. Deal enclosing available
dates for hearing

~so

hrs

Telephone conference with Mr. McFarland advising
of available dates for hearing; Telephone
conference with Mr. Deal

I 40

hrs·

Draft correspondence to Mr. Smallenberg, Esq.,
requesting available dates for hearing; Fax to
Mr. Smallenberg

30

hrs

1. 40

hrs

Telephone conference with Ms. Sager in Judge
Shockley's office, regarding additional available.
dates for hearing

• 30

hrs

Telephone conference with Mr. Deal regarding
scheduling hearing on various Motions and moving
for Default Judgment on counter-claim; Place call
to Mr. McFarland's office to obtain availability
on June 19; Telephone conference with Mr. Test's
office regarding obtaining letter advising that
Deal was not authorized to name the Jarretts
as party plaintiffs;· Leave message on voice mail;
Follow-up telephone conference with Judge
Shockley's secretary to obtain another date,
since the court did not have June 19
·

.90 hrs

Telephone conference with Judge Shockley's
secretary regarding hearing date; advised Judge
Shockley can hear case on June 10 at 11:00 a.m.

.40 hrs

Telephone conference with Debi Sager, Judge
Shockley's secretary, Virginia Beach
Circuit Court, regarding hearing o~ Demurrer;
Telephone conference with Mr. Rob McFarland,
attorney for co-defendants, regarding scheduling
hearing; Telephone conference with Mr. Deal
regarding June 12 hearing date;· Place call to Mr.
Steve Test, attorney for Roy and Harry Jarrett,
regarding endorsement of Order Dismissing the
Jarretts as party plaintiffs in consideration
for affidavit from the Jarretts; Review of file

Draft Motion for Entry of Default Judgment and
Notice of hearing; Fax to Mr. Smallenberg
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AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number
10042-00040-010 CML
Oo/01/98 CML

06/02/98 CML

06/03/98 CML

06/08/98 CML

File Motion for Default Judgment and Notice of
hearing; Draft letter to Clerk; Telephone
conference with Mr. Smallenberg and fax
pleadings; Telephone conference with Barbara,
Virginia Beach Circuit Court ~lerk's Office, Law
Division; Fax pleadings to Mr. Test; Fax
.
pleadings to Mr. McFarland; Telephone conference
with Marie Lawson, Court Reporter; Fax pleadings
to Ms. Lawson

4

1.60 hrs

Receive telphone messag~ from Mr. Deal regarding
obtaining a certified copy of the death
certificate of Alvin Q. Jarrett; Fax response to
Mr. Deal

.so

Receipt and review of correspondence from Mr.
McFarland relative to hearing on J~ne 10;
Extensive telephone conference with Mr. Deal
regarding hearing on Motion for Sanctions

.SO hrs

hrs

Telephone conference with Mr. Deal; Telephone
conference with Mr. Smallenberg; Telephone
conference with Rhonda Cobler-Wells;
Receipt and review of correspondence, Notice, and
Motion by Certain Plaintiffs to Dismiss
Themselves from Suit and to Correct Style of
Suit; Revise Brief in Support of Demurrer and
Special Plea in Bar; Draft letter to Clerk's
Office; Receipt and review of correspondence,
Response to Motion for Entry of Default Judgment,
Demurrer to Counterclaim and Grounds of Defense
from Mr. Smallenberg, counsel for Cardinal
Holding Company; Fax pleadings to Mr. Deal

2.10 hrs

Receipt and review of correspondence from Mr.
Smallenberg; Receipt and review of fax from Mr.
Deal; Extensive telephone conference with Mr.
Deal; Telephone conference with Mr. Smallenberg;
Prepare for Hearing

2.90 hrs

06/09/98 JGK

Review of response to Motion for Default Judgment
and Demurrer; Legal research; Office conference.

2.50 hrs

06/10/98 CML

Prepare for hearing; Meet with Mr. Deal and
Rhonda Cobler-Wells; Travel to and from Vriginia
Beach Circuit Court; Attend hearing before Judge
Shockley; Draft interrogatories to Cardinal
Holding Company; Follow-up telphone conference
with Wendy Inge, Esq.

7.80 hrs

06/09/98 CML

$ 5,399.50

Total fees for this matter

42i.
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3ill number
10042-00040-010 CML

PAGE

s

JJ. ... dURSEMENTS

)4/14/98

Clerk, Virginia Beach Circuit Court--filing fees
for Counterclaim

)6/10/98

Clerk, Virginia Beach Circuit Court--additional
filing fees for Counterclaim
Telecopies, mobile phone, and other
miscellaneous charges

16/10/98

Long Distance Telephone Charges

>6/10/98

Photocopies

)4/15/98

Total disbursements for this matter

64.00

$

lILLING SUMMARY
TOTAL FEES

$ 5,399 so

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS BILL

$ 5,643 57
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Heilig, McKenry, Fraim &. Lollar. P.C.
100 Newtown Road,
Suite 15
Norfolk, VA 23502
757-463.-2500
Fed ID#54-11344J.8
July 16,

1~98

Billed through 07/16/98
Bill number

10042-00040-015 CML

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
ATTN: Wendy Inge, Esquire
P.O. Box C850S8
Richmond, VA 23285-5058
T. Roy Jarrett & Harry W. Jarrett, Co-Executors of The Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, & Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, and Alvin Q • . .
Jarret, Deceased, and Cardinal Holding Company, assignee
v. John F. Deal, Esq., & Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esq., & John F.
Deal & Associates, & Robert Devos, Esq. & Popham, Haik,
Schobrich & Kaufman, Ltd.; Case# CL97-787; CC of Virginia Beach
Balance forward as of bill number 012 dated 06/10/98
Payments received since last bill (last payment 06/19/98)

$ 5,648.32
$ 5,643.57

•

$

~

balance forward

---------4.75

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED
06/09/98 JGK

06/10/98 CML

Extensive review of Response to Default
Judgment, Demurrer, and Grounds of Defense;
Research on claims made therein and on issues
relating to special injury; Extended interoffice
•• meeting with Mr. Lollar regarding Non-Suit issues
(no charge)

3.90 hrs

Receipt and review of correspondence from Stephen
G. Test, Counsel for Jarretts; Draft
interrogatories and letter to Mr. Robert
Smallenberg, Counsel for Cardinal Holding
Company; Receipt and review of fax from Mr. Deal
relative to grounds for sanctions under Sectio~
8.01-271.1

1.80 hrs

..

06/11/98 JGK

Review of research; Draft internal memorandum

06/12/98 CML

Review of notes from June 10 Hearing before
Judge Shockley; Review of Virginia cases,
particularly Virginia Code Sections 8.01-380 A.,
on whether an issue has been submitted to the
court for determination, so as to preclude a
Motion to Non-Suit; Review of section 8.01-380

423

.40 hrs
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1ERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
L~~ number
10042-00040-015 CML

PAGE

--

C., relating to counterclaim proceeding
independent of the Non-Suited Claim; Review of
cases dealing with issue of "special entry"
supporting a claim of malicious abuse of process,
Ayyildiz v. Kidd; Draft letter,.to Judge Shockley
enclosing copy of excerpt from Wells v. Lorcom;
Draft Order encompassing Court's rulings as to
the Henrico attorneys' hearing on June 10, and
fax copy to Mr. Smallenberg for his review and
comments
16/15/98 CML

2.90 hrs

Revise Order encomp·assing ruling of Judge
Shockley on June 10; Draft letter to Mr.
Smallenberg

l6/17/98 CML

Receipt and review of correspondence from ·Mr.
Smallenberg, responding to request.for dates for.
hearing on Motion for Sanctions, and addressing
"special injury" issue; Review of t=ases cited in
Ayyildiz v. Kidd, Headnote 2; Draft letter to
Mr. Smallenberg

06/18/98 CML

Review of cases; Revise letter to Mr. Deal; Draft
letter to Mr. Smallenburg, enclosing original
Order for endorsement

06/19/98 CML

review of correspondence from Mr.
Smallenberg to Judge Shockley in support of
Non-Suit

06/24/98 CML

.SO hrs

l..91

·1

Receipt~and

.3

Telephone conference with Mr. Deal regarding
scheduling hearing on Motion for Sanctions;
Telephone conference with Ms. Debi Sager, Judge
··Shockley's secretary; Telephone conference with
Mr. Smallenberg regarding rescheduling hearing on
Motion for Sanctions; Receipt and review of faxed
correspondence faxed from Mr. Deal

·a6/25/98 CML

2

hrs

hrs

• o hrs

Draft status letter to Wendy Inge, Esquire;
Enclose invoice for Court Reporter at hearing on
June 10 hearing .

·r

$

Total fees for this matter

hrs

hrs

1,s a.so

..
DISBURSEMENTS
06/12/98

Norfolk Law Library/ copy of case regarding the
file
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10.75
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10042-00040-015 CML

PAGE

3

....

Telecopies, mobile phone, and other miscellaneous
changes

10.45

>7 /16/98

Long Distance Telephone Charges

13.59

)7 /16/98

Photocopies

).

.6/98

.·

Total disbursements for this matter

40.25

---------75.04

$

3ILLING SUMMARY
TOTAL. FEES

$ 1,848.50

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$ ··

TOTAL CHARGES FOR THIS BILL

$ 1,923.54

NET BALANCE FORWARD

$

TOTAL BALANCE NOW DUE

$ 1,928.29

7s.04

----------

......
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Heilig, McKenry, Fraim & Lollar. P.C.
700 Newtown Road,
Suite 15
Norfolk, VA 23502
757-461-2500
Fed ID#54-1134418
August 31, 1998
Billed through 09/02/98
Bill number

10042-00040-021 CML

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
ATTN: Wendy Inge, Esquire
P.O. Box c0sos0
Richmond, VA 23285-5058
T. Roy Jarrett & Harry W. Jarrett, Co-Executors of The Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, & Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, and Alvin Q.
Jarret, Deceased, and Cardinal Holding Company, assignee
v. John F. Deal, Esq., & Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esq., & John F.
Deal & Associates, & Robert Devos, Esq. & Popham, Haik,
Schobrich & Kaufman, Ltd~; Case# CL97-787; CC of Virginia Beach
Balance forward as of bill number 015 dated 07/16/98
P~yments received since last bill (last payment 08/04/98)

$ 1, 28.29

u~t

$

balance forward

$ 1,928.29
I
.00

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED
06/01/98 JGK

Review of all pleadings; Legal research for Brief
in Support of Demurrer and Special Plea

06/05/98 JGK Legal research en recent cases; Draft Brief in
• Support of Demurrer and Special Pleas in Bar
07/17/98 CML

08/13/98 CML

08/27/98 CML

Receipt and review of letter ruling of Judge
Shockley permitting Non-Suit against Deal et al;
Fax copy to Mr. Deal

1.80 hrs
2.90 hrs

.40 hrs

Telephone conference with Mr. Deal regarding
Non-suiting his counter-claim against Cardinal
and hearing on September 4; Draft Motion,
Notice and Order of Non-suit; Draft letters
to Mr. Smallenburg and to Clerk of Court

1.40 hrs

Review of summary of evidence to be made 9/4/98
at Hearing on Motion for Sanctions; Draft letter
to Mr. Deal enclosing list of fees and expenses
charged to date; Begin drafting Memorandum in
Support of Motion for Sanctions

2.20 hrs

426

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number
10042-00040-021
~

./28/98 CML

08/31/98 CML

PAGE

2

C~L

Extensive review of pleadings and notes in file;
Work on Memorandum in Support of Motion
for Sanctions; D~aft letter to Judge Shockley

1.80 hrs

Extensive Review of file and· pleadings; work on
Memorandum in Sunoort of Motion for Sanctions;
Draft Statement
Case and begin draft of
Statement of Pertinent Facts

2.90 hrs

of

Total fees for this matter

$ 1,751.50

DISBURSEMENTS
06/10/98

Lexis-Nexis legal research (JGK)

40.10

06/17/98
08/31/98

52.41

09/02/98

Lexis-Nexis legal research (JGK)
Telecopies, mobile phone, and other
miscellaneous charges
Long Distance Telephone Charges

09/02/98

Photocopies
Total

disbursemen~s

38.71
2. 9.4
2.00

for this matter

$

136.16

BlLLING SUMMARY
TOTAL FEES

$ l, 751. so

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$

TOTAL CH1tRGES FOR THIS BILL

$ 1,887.66

BALAi'lCE NOW DUE

$ 1,887.66

TOT~..L

42?

136.16

June 22nd, , "q,.

Marie W. Lawson, Reporter.
Chesapeake, Virginia .
. (757) 549-2198
TO:

~.essrs.

Heilig, McKem::y, Fraim
and IDllar, P.C.
Charles M. IDllar, Esquire.
700 Newta,,,n P.oad, Suit£~ 15.
Stoney Point Center.
Norfolk, Va. 23502-3999

T. Roy Jarrett, et als I -vsJohn F. Deal, Esquire, et als.
case No. CT.87-787.

,...
t .~

FOR:

Hearing held l:efore Judge BorMill Shockley, cannencing at 11:00
o'clock, a.m., on Wednesday, the lOt.i-i day of June, 1998, at the
Virginia Beach Circuii.: Court, Va. Beach, Va.

Appearance fee only

$125.00

Total ••••••••.•••••• $125.00

Tltank You

Please Make Clzeck Payable To:

1lfarie W. Lawson, Reporter.
301 Esplanade Place.
Chesapeake, Va. 23320
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VIRGINIA: IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF VIRGINIA BEACH
T. ROY JARRETT, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

v.

Law No.:

CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et-al.,
Defendants.
MOTION

COME NOW defendants, John F. Deal, Esquire, Rhonda CoblerWells,

Esquire,

and John F.

Deal

&

Associates

(the

"Henrico

Attorneys" ) , by counsel, and move the Court to enter the order (the
"Sanctions Order") prepared by its counsel, in accordance with the
Court's rulings on September 4, 1998, awarding sanctions in this
proceeding and judgment against plaintiff, Cardinal Holding Company
("Cardinal")

and its attorneys,

jointly and severally,

in the

amount of $32,181.17 (the ·"Sanctions"), and further to note on the
Sanctions Order that it is entered .mmg, pro tune September 4, 1998,
and in support thereof, state as follows:
1.

The motion for sanctions of the Henrico Attorneys was

filed with and as a part of their counterclaim (the "Counterclaim")
against Cardinal, which was filed in response to the motion for
judgment filed by Cardinal against the Henrico Attorneys.
2.

This Court granted the motion and awarded the Sanctions to

the Henrico Attorneys, against Cardinal and its attorneys, while
the Counterclaim remained pending.
3.

At the conclusion of the hearing on September 4, 1998,
1

429

this Court was presented with the Sanctions Order, but did 1ot
enter the Order at that time, as a courtesy, to give counsel tier

.

Cardinal until September· 16,
changes

to the Sanctions Order with counsel

Attorneys.

I

1998 to coordinate any requested

This Court did,

however,

for

I

the Henrfco

following the hearing on

September 4, 1998, enter the order nonsuiting the Counterclaim ( he
"Counterclaim Nonsuit Order").
4.

Having not heard anything from counsel for Cardinal,

counsel for the Henrico Attorneys faxed him a letter on Septe Jer
15, 1998, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A", and by
this reference made a part hereof.
5.

Instead of requesting any

ch~nges

to the Sanctions Ord r,

or endorsing and returning the Order, as drafted, by September

6,

counsel for Cardinal insisted on scheduling a hearing on the s
jurisdictional objection argued at the beginning of the hearing on
September 4, 1998, or on a motion to reconsider, which has not e en
been filed.

A copy of the letter of counsel of Cardinal, da ed

September 15, 1998, responding to Exhibit "A", and returning
endorsed Sanctions Order to counsel for the Henrico Attorneys,

he
1

Ut

requiring that it be held in escrow (and presumably not entered),
is attached hereto as Exhibit "B", and by this reference madJ a
part hereof.
6.

Counsel for the Henrico Attorneys promptly responded by

letter of September 16,

1~98,

faxed.that same day, a copy of wh ch

is attached as Exhibit "C", and by this reference made a p rt
2
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hereof.

Subsequently, counsel for the Henrico Attorneys received

a letter dated September 16, 1998, a copy of which is attached
hereto as Exhibit "D", and by this reference made a part hereof,
advising that counsel for Cardinal would not be available for a
telephonic hearing with this Court until Monday, September 20,
1998, relative to the entry of the Sanctions Order.
7.

Since

counsel

for

Cardinal

appears

determined,

as

evidenced by Exhibits "B". and "D", to reargue its jurisdictional
objections, which were disposed of by.this Court initially, during
the September 4 hearing, and to further delay the entry of the
Sanctions Order (a pattern similar to the delay in scheduling the
September 4 hearing) ,

this Court s:Q.ould immediately enter the

Sanctions Order, and make such entry
1998; or, alternatively,

nYnQ

pro tune· September 4,

if more appropriate,

the Counterclaim

Nonsuit Order entered September 4, 1998, should be set aside and
suspended, to prevent the expiration of twenty-one days (21) days
after the entry thereof, and avoid the anticipated argument of
Cardinal, on appeal, that more than twenty-one days had expired
since the entry of the Counterclaim Nonsuit Order, thus further
depriving this Court of jurisdiction to enter the Sanctions Order
(after Friday, September 25, 1998).
WHEREFORE defendants, John F. Deal, Esquire, Rhonda CoblerWells, Esquire, and John F. Deal & Associates, pray that the Court
immediately take such action and/or enter such orders consistent
with this motion, and with the Court's rulings on September 4,
1998.
3
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JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE
RHONDA COBLER-WELLS, ESQUIRE
and
JOHN~ & ASSOCIATES

By~'- ~~---Of Counsel

Charles M. Lollar, Esquire
HEILIG, McKENRY, FRAIM & LOLLAR, P.C.
700 Newtown Road, Suite 15
Norfolk, Virginia 23501
(757) 461-2500
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that true copy of the foregoing Motion
Non-Suit was sent by facsimile and by U.S. Mail, First-Cla
postage pre-paid, to Robert Smallenberg, Counsel for plaintiffs,
Ayers & Stolte, P.C., 710 North Hamilton Street, Richmond, Virgi
23221, this 17th day of Septemb~L

0::2

\cml\anlir\deal\motion.npt
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EXHIBIT A

HEILIG, McKENRY, FRAIM
.JOHN A. HEILIG •
PAUL D. FRAIM
GEORGE .J. DANCIGERS
CHARLES M. LOLLAR •
CAROLYN P. CAST

TERESA R. WARNER
THOMAS C. DAWSON, .JR.
PETER S. LAKE
TODD M. FIORELLA
ROBERT £. MORE:LAND •
A. WILLIAM CHARTE:RS •
•ADMITTED IN
NORTH CAROUNA

LOLLAR
DEBRA L. MOSLEY

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELLORS AT LAW
STONEY POINT CENTER
700 NEWTOWN ROAD
NORFOLK. VIRGINIA 23~02·3999

.JOSEPH T. McFADDEN• .JR. •
COLLEEN T. DIO<E:RSON
.JASON £. DODD
DEBORAH S. PRINCE
THOMAS S. BERKLEY

TELEPHONE (7!57) 461·2!500

PATRICK M. MAYETTE

FACSIMILE 1757) 461•2341

BRYAN K. MEALS
SHAWN RENtE: SALYER

211 NORTH MARKET STREET. SUITE 204
WASHINGTON. NORTH CAROLINA 27889

TOCO D. ANDERSON

TELEPHONE 12!521 948•0!559

GEORGE H. HEILIG. JR.
c1942•1997)

September 15, 1998

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers & Stolte, P.C.
710 North Hamilton Street
Richmond, VA 23221
Re:

AND

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

JAMES R. McKENRY

THOMAS O. DUFF'EY

ADMINISTRATOR

VIA FACSIMILE # 804-358-6206

T. Roy Jarrett, et al.
v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al.
Virginia Beach Circuit Court Law No.:

CL97-787

Dear Robert:
I am following up on my letter to you, dated September 4,
1998, the day after the hearing on our motion .for sanctions.
I
enclosed with that letter a copy of the order which I had prepared
and had handed to you at the conclusion of the hearing, for your
endorsement. As Judge Shockley indicated, you were to provide me
with any changes you desired, or return the endorsed order, as
drafted, back to me, no later than tomorrow, September 16.

If you have no changes, please endorse and return the original
order to this office, by mail, faxing me an endorsed copy, so I may
expect it. I will then present the original order to the Court for
entry, and request that a certified copy be mailed to your office.
If you are requesting some changes, simply fax them to me, and if
I have any problems, we can schedule a telephone conference with
Judge Shockley, as was suggested at the hearing.
In either event, it is imperative that I hear from you by
tomorrow. If I do not hear fr9m you, NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, that
on this Friday, September 18, 1998, at 9:30 a.m., we will present
the Order, as originally drafted, to Judge Shockley, for entry,
without your endorsement, pursuant to Rule 1:13 of the Rules of the
Supreme Court. With kind regards, I am

~~

CML:nsm
~8 SEP 17 ~.Ml I: 45
cc: Honorable A. Bonwell Shoc kl ey, J uuge

J. ._: J :~ Tl S F,: t.XI. CLER K
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EXHIBIT B

.,..

LAW OFFICES

AYERS & STOLTE

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
HAMILTON PROFESSIONAL BUILDING
710 N. HAMILTON.STREET

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23221-2035
(804) 358-4731
FAX (804) 358-6206
CHARLES E. AYERS, JR.
SCOIT DAVID STOLTE
ROBERT H. SMALLENBERG
JAMES B. CHRISTOFFERSENt

t ADMITTED IN VA & TN

September 15, 1998
FILE NO.

LC96-0138
Via facsimile 757/461-2341
and fust class mail
Charles M. Lollar, Esquire
Heilig, McKenry, Fraim & Lollar
700 Newton Road
Norfolk, Virginia 23502-3999
RE:

Cardinal Holding Company v. Deal, et al.
Case No.: CL97-787

Dear Mr. Lollar:
I am in receipt of your correspondence dated September 4, 1998 and your
correspondence of today. While I have no problem with the language of the order, I do
have an acute problem with something else. The authority you submitted at the
September 4, 1998 hearing for the proposition that the trial court had jurisdiction to
entertain a sanctions motion more than 21 days after the entry of a nonsuit order was the
opinion in Anderson v. Busman, 22 Va. Cir. 93 (1990). In fact, in determining that she
had jurisdiction, Judge Shockley noted that she agreed with Judge Annunziata' s
reasoning in that case. However Anderson, was reversed by the Virginia Supreme Court
(See Anderson v. Busman 26 Va. Cir. 26 (Va. 199l){a copy of which is attached hereto).
I am a bit disturbed that this occurred because all one had to do to detennine that the
Anderson decision you submitted to the court was reversed was to shepardize the case.
As I see ·it, there are two ways we can proceed. First, we can schedule a hearing

on the jurisdictional issue before Judge Shockley enters the order. Second, Judge
Shockley can enter the order and a hearing on a motion to reconsider be scheduled for a
date not less than 21 days from entry of the order.
Accordingly, I am sending you the endorsed order to be held in escrow until we
can confer and determine how the Judge desires to proceed.

434

-.
AYERS &

STOL~

·'I'·

P.C.

Charles M Lollar, Esquire
September 15, 1998
Page2
I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely yours,

PS: I received your fax after first dictating this letter. I am not available on September
18. I am available, however, on September 25 and October 2.
RHS/swl
CC: A Bonwell Shockley, Judge
F:\PRJVATE\R.OB\DOCS\LTR\Jam:U I.doc

•
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EXHIBIT C
HEILIG, MCKENRY, FRAIM
.JAMES R. McKENRY
.JOHN A. HEILIG •
PAUL D. F'RAIM
GEORGE .J. DANCIGERS
CHARLES M. LOLLAR •
CAROLYN P. CAST

LOLLAR
DEBRA L.. MOSLEY

ATTORNEYS ANO COUNSELLORS AT LAW
STONEY POINT CENTER
700 NEWTOWN ROAD
NORFOLK. VIRGINIA 23502-3999
TELEPHONE (757) 461·2!300

TERESA R. WARNER
THOMAS C. DAWSON, .JR.
PETER S. LAKE
TODD M. FIORELLA
ROBERT E. MORELAND •
A. WILLIAM CHARTERS •
•ADMITTED IN
NORTH CAROUNA

FACSIMILE 1757) 461•2341

211 NORTH MARKET STREET. SUITE 204
WASHINGTON. NORTH CAROLINA 27SS9
TELEPHONE 12S21 948-0!589

September 16, 1998

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers & Stolte, P.C.
710 North Hamilton Street
Richmond, VA 23221
Re:

AND

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

VIA FACSIMILE # 804-358-620

T. Roy Jarrett, et al.
v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al.
Virginia Be~ch Circuit Court
Law No.: CL97-787

Dear Robert:
I just received your letter of September 15, and I have cal
Debi Sager, Judge Shockley's secretary, to see if we might sched
a telephone conference with her tomorrow.
I understand she
available at 9:30 a.m.
I feel that there should be no furt
delay in the entry of the order we have prepared.

ed
le
is
er

With regard to the Busman case, I specifically recall
indicating to the Court that it was a Virginia Circuit Co~rt
decision, which would not be controlling, and that I had found the
case in the closed file that I had retrieved from storage, relat~ve
to the Henrico Suit.
I was not aware that the Virginia Supr~me
Court had reversed the decision of the Fairfax Circuit Court, si~ce
I did not have an opportunity to shepardize the case, prior to 9ur
hearing, having found it in the old file, while in Virginia Beach
Circuit Court.
.

J

In any event, Judge Shockley was well .aware that Busman as
not a decis·ion binding upon this Court.
The order in Bus an
appears to have been determined by the Virginia Supreme Court to~be
final, because it sustained the defendant's demurrer, w th
prejudice. I recall the Court's ruling, which is reflected in he
record transcribed by the court reporter, to have been based u on
Judge Shockley's determina~ion that there was a matter pending in
our case, upon which the motion could be heard. Our countercl im
remained pending, and your order for nonsuit of your clie~
claims against our clients, without prejudice, entered on Au
10, 1998, was not intended to be a final.order in this case. Ju
Shockley did comment that the United States Supreme Court case
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Cooter & Gell appeared persuasive.
There the petitioner argued
(similar to your argument here), that the filing of a notice of
voluntary dismissal, pursuant to Rule 11, automatically deprived
the court of jurisdiction.over the action, rendering it powerless
to impose sanctions thereafter. The U.S. Supreme Court noted that
Rule 4l(a) (1) and Rule 11 were both aimed at curbing abuses of the
judicial system, and that plaintiff's right to one free dismissal
did not secure the right to file baseless papers. Justice 0' Connor
stated that "if a litigant could purge his violation of Rule 11
merely by taking a dismissal, he would lose all incentive to "stop,
think and investigate more Garefully before serving and filing
papers." (496 US 384, at 398).
Here, our motion for sanctions, filed with our counterclaim,
had been pending since April 10, 1998, and we had been diligent in
trying to obtain a hearing on the motion,. at the earliest
opportunity. You will recall that we first noticed the motion for
sanctions for hearing on June 10, but the Court did not have time
to entertain a full evidentiary hearing on the motion at that time,
primarily because much of the Court's time was devoted to your
motion for nonsuit, which was never noticed and not even filed
until the morning of the hearing, June 10.
In Judge Shockley's
letter of July 15, 1998, granting your motion for nonsuit, the last
two paragraphs read ·as follows:
"The plaintiff's motion for nonsuit is therefore
granted.
Mr. Smallenberg is requested to prepare and
submit the appropriate Order.
In addition, I understand counsel for the defendants
to pursue its Motion for Sanctions. Please call
my secretary, Debi, with a mutually satisfactory date on·
which the hearing may be set."

~ntends

On July 27, 1998, fourteen days prior to the entry of the non-suit
order, the Court ordered that our motion for sanctions be scheduled
at a later date to be obtained by you and me. It there.fore· becomes
quite apparent that all parties understood that there was a matter
pending in this case, upon which the motion for sanctions could be
heard.
The· fact that you continue to argue that your nonsuit
order, entered more than 21 days before the hearing we were able to
schedule, deprived our clients their right to be heard on their
motion for sanctions, further justifies and supports the Court's
award of sanctions and judgment against you.
You appear to be trying to receive a windfall, under Rule 1:1,
for succeeding in delaying the Court's ruling on our motion .for
sanctions, until 24 days after the entry of the order for nonsuit.
Your continued attempts to delay the entry of the order granting
judgment against you is consistent with this strategy. Under these
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September 16, 1998
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facts and circumstances, our motion for sanctions was granted w ile
this matter was pending, the order for nonsuit of the cl ims
against our clients was not intended to be final, and the awar. of·
sanctions and judgment against you, in the amount of.$32,181.17 is
entirely proper and justified.

(J):llJL
Charles M. Lollar

CML:nsm
cc:

Honorable A. Bonwill Shockley, Judge
via facsimile # (757) 426-5860
John F. Deal, Esquire
via facsimiie # (804) 236-0133

\cml\anlir\deal\smalnbrg.904 ••••• 10042.40
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CHARLES E. AYERS, IR.
SCOTT DAVID STOLTE
R.OBEllT H. SMALLENBERO
JAMES B. CHRJSTOI=FERSENt

OF COUNSEL
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September 16, 1998

J. fLIPPO HICKS
1962--1995

RLENO.

LC96-0138
Via facsimile 757/461-2341

Charles M Lollar, Esquire
Heilig, McKenry, Fraim & Lollar
700 Newton Road
Norfolk, VJ.rginia 23502-3999

RE:

Cardinal Holding Company v. Deal, et al
Case N~.: CL97-787

Dear Mr. Lollar:
I am in receipt of your letter today. You presented the Busman case to the court
as persuasive authority. In light of the fact that the case you submitted was subsequently
reversed by the Supreme Court makes it no authority for you and, in fact, makes it
bindina authoritv for mv position. I also find it a bit ironic that you expect me to be held
to answer for the "MNC Credit. case when you presented 0. oaoe which WU reversed to the
court as authoritative and your only explanation is that you did not have time to
shepardize it.
• • Researching the subsequent history of the Busman case is by no means the only
research I have done. The Virginia Supreme Court has spoken to the issue of sanctions
after the 21 day period on a number of occasions. Sanctions under Va. Code Ann. § 8.01271.1 (1950, as amended) cannot be ordered more than 21 after entry of final order, even
where the trial court takes the motion for san<;iions under advisement before entering~ .
final judgment. kabort-'...Y· Clar.Ke, 34 va a: ltt-~ ~~-~~J(pe~ curiam opinion1: 1-0ther
opinions of the Supreme Court
in accord. ~ Smithy. Stanaway. ~z-va:-21$, 289,
410 S.E.2d 610, 612 (1991); Murmyv. Hadid. 238 Va. 722, 733, 38~ S.E.2d 898, 905
(1989)(Despite·trial court's stated intention to deal with sanctions separately, motion
arose under same cause of action upnn which trial court enterd final judgment more than

are

21 days earlier).

The various circuits have also addressed the 21 day question, Judge Annunziata's
decision in Busman. which was reversed, was the only opinion I could locate where any
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Judge stated that sanctions could be entered after the running of the 21 day period.
Mickle v. Largent's Great Falls Stables, 34 Va Cir. 143 (1994)(.Annunziata J.);
Coyington v. Haboush, 28 Va. Cir. 360 (1992); Mdicott Hills Com. v. Leort 29 Va Cir.
367 (1992Xorder granting sanctions untimely if presented more than21 days after entry
of final order even if court orally awarded sanctions within 21 day period).

I have read Cooter v. Gell and that case is inapplicable. No one is asserting that a
voluntary dismissal automatically deprives the court of jurisdiction over a sanctions
motion. In fact, it is quite clear that a court may enter sanctions after a nonsuit, however,
it must be done within 21 days of entry of the filial order.. The Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure contain no parallel provision to Rule 1: I.
·
I also do not believe that when one reviews the law that there can be any question
that a nonsuit is a final order for purposes of Rule I: I. It should be noted that the actual
heading of Va. Code Ann.§ 8.01-380 (1950, as amended) is "Dismissal of Action by
Nonsuit" The effect of a nonsuit is to put an end to the present litigation. Thomas
Gemmell. Incorporated v. Svea FU"e and Life Ins. Co, 166 Va. 95, 184 S.E. 51
(I936)(citing Burks' Pleading and Practice (3d Ed.), p. 580); Payne v. Buena Vista
Extract Co., 124 Va. 296, 98 S.E. 34 (1919); Goodman v. Hammim,19 Va. App. 71, 448
S.E.2d 677, (1994); Clar~ v. Clark, 11 Va App. 286, 398 S.E.2d 82, 1990 (1990). The
Virginia nonsuit statute has as its purpose the voluntary dismissal of an action by a
plaintiff without prejudice at some stage of a proceeding. Scoggins v Douglas, 760 F.2d
535 (4th Cir. 1985). A nonsuit is taken for an entire cause of action, which the Virginia
Supreme Court defines as all the operative facts which, under the substantive law, may
give rise to a right of action. Winchester Homes. Inc. v. Osmose Wood Preserving.. Inc.,
37 F.3d 1053 (4th Cir. 1994). A dismissal of an action without prejudice is a final order
for purposes of the 21 day jurisdictional limit contained in Rule I: 1. Pmhm v. Anderson..
220 Va. 74, 255 S.E.2d 491 {1979). A voluntary nonsuit order under Va. Code§ 8.01-380
(1,92) is a final judgment in a civil case appealable under Va Code§ 8.01-670 (1992),
McManama v. Plunk. 33 Va. Cir. 348 {1994) (citing Wells v. Larcom House
Condominiums' Council, 237 Va. 247 (1989)). "An order of nonsuit is final for
purposes of appeal, and presumably, for purposes of Rule 1:1 where the parties
dispute the propriety of the trial court's action in granting the nonsuit"; Chandler v.

Signet Bank/Virginia. 20 Va. Cir. 447 (1990Xciting Wells v. Lorcom House
Condominiums' 9>unci1, 237 Va. 247, 377 S.E.2d 381 (1989)).
The fact that your counterclaim remained pending is of no consequence. The
courts entering of a nonsuit order while you had then pending a counterclaim represents a
judicial finding that your counterclaim could be independently adjudicated. The
plaintiffs' claim was voluntar.ily dismissed without prejudice on August 10, 1998 and that
date is the date from which the 21 day jurisdictional limit begins to-run for purposes of
Rule 1:1.
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Finally, I do not know why you feel compelled to carbon copy all of your letters
to Judge Shockley. However, since you chose to do so, I feel that I must also carbon
copy my response to her.
As always, Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate

to call.

Sincerely yours,

~~·
Robert R Smallenberg

)

PS: I have received a telephone call from Judge Shockley• s office requesting a telephone
conference call tomoll'OW at 9:30 am. I am in co\Ulat that time. I am informed that
Judge Shockley wishes to speak to us tomorrov{oefore 3:00.~r on Monday. I am
available all day on Monday. Please call and adVise what time would be convenient for
you.
RHS/swl
CC: A Bonwell Shockley, Judge (via facsimile 757/426..5860)
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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH

T. ROY JARRETT, et als.
Plaintiffs

v.

!

Case No.:

CL97- 87

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et als.
Defendants.

v

MEMORANDUM iN RESPONSE TO JURiSDICTIONAL
OBJECTiON TO SANCTIONS AWARD

NOW COME John F. Deal, Esquire,
and

John

F.

Deal

& Associates

R~onda

Cobler-Wells, Esqui e,

(collectively

the

Attorneys") , by counsel, and respectfully submit this memorandum in
response to the jurisdictional objection of plaintiff Cardi al
Holding

Company

("Cardinal"),

and

its

attorneys,

Smallenberg ( 11 Smallenberg 11 ) and the law firm of Ayers

Robert
&

Stol e,

P.C. (collectively the "Ayers Firm"), to the motion for sancti
filed by the Henrico Attorneys and the award and judgment gran ·ed
by the Court, at the hearing held in this matter on September 4,
1998.

CHRONOLOGY OF PROCEDURAL EVENTS
This matter was commenced by the filing of a ·motion ~or
judgment (the "Motion for Judgment") on March 21, 1997, by t-!he
Ayers Firm, on behalf of T. Roy Jarrett, Harry W. Jarrett,

o-

executors of the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, and the Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, and Alvin Q. Jarrett, deceased (collectively
"Jarrette"), and Cardinal, as assignee.

Jhe

The Motion for Judgm nt

contained twelve pages, with six counts, and fifty-eight pages of
exhibits attached.

It named the Jarretts and Cardinal as

he

"Plaintiffs," and sought a judgment against the Henrico Attorne s,

and others, in favor of the Jarrette and Cardinal, in the amount of
$24,250,000.

It was signed by Smallenberg, on behalf of the Ayers

Firm, as counsel for the Plaintiffs.

Smallenberg failed to serve

the Motion for Judgment on the Henrico Attorneys for 365 days,
until on March 20, 1998.
On April 10, 1998, the Henrico Attorneys filed· responsive
pleadings to the Motion for Judgment, including a counterclaim (the
11

Counterclaim 11 ) against Cardinal for malicious abuse of process,

for filing and serving the Motion for Judgment, and attached to the
Counterclaim,

a motion for sanctions

agains.t the Ayers Firm.

(the

11

Sanctions Motion")

On June 1, 1998, the Henrico Attorneys

filed a motion for entry of a default judgment ("Motion for Default
Judgment") on the Counterclaim against Cardinal, more than 21 days
having passed since it was served upon Cardinal, and a notice of
hearing scheduled for June 10, 1998, on their Sanctions Motion,
their Motion for Default Judgment, and other responsive pleadings.
On or about June 8,

1998,

the Jarretts,

by and through their

attorney, Stephen G. Test ("Test"), filed a motion (the "Jarretts'
Motion") to dismiss them and the estate from this proceeding, and
to correct the style of this lawsuit.

Smallenberg also filed a

response to the Motion for Default Judgment, stating in

~

3 thereof

that "Counsel for plaintiff treated the [Counterclaim] as a motion
for an award of sanctions as contemplated by Section 8.01-271.1 of
the Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended.

11

At the hearing before this Court on June 10, 1998, on the
various matters noticed, Smallenberg delivered for the first time,
2
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to counsel for the Henrico Attorneys, a copy of a motion, on beh lf
of "your plaintiffs", for nonsuit (the "Nonsuit Motion") of fhe
Motion for Judgment, the original of which was then filed, and tbis

I

Court then heard the various motions and matters noticed.
Court · first

heard the

argument of Test,

as

counsel

•he

for

he

Jarretts, on the Jarrette' Motion to dismiss the Jarrette from t is
proceeding, and to correct the style of this suit.

The Court

granted the Jarretts' Motion, and directed Test to prepare an
to remove the Jarretts as named parties to this
restyle the suit

(the "Jarrette Order"),

pro~eeding

or~er

and to

and to circulate

he

Jarret ts Order to the other counsel for their endorsement, prior to

entry.

The Jarretts Order was prepared that same day by Test jnd

mailed

to

Smallenberg,

with Test's

letter,

stating

that !he

Jarrette were "reserving [their] rights to pursue my motion
sanctions.

or

Therefore this will not be an Order that dismisses ,he

matte:r:: entirely from the docket." (emphasis added).

Smallenb rg

never endorsed and returned the Jarrett Order to Test, and Test

as

recently filed a notice of his intention to present the Jarr tt
Order to this Court for entry on October 2, 1998.
Following argument on the Jarrette' Motion, the court herrd
argument on the Nonsuit Motion, which was opposed by the Henr co
Attorneys, but was not opposed by the other named defendants,
also on the demurrer of the Henrico Attorneys to the Motion
Judgment.
entered

or

At the conclusion of the hearing on June 10, the Co rt
an

defendants,

order

whereby

the

plaintiffs

nonsuited

other than the Henrico Attorneys.
3
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This order

as

endorsed by counsel for the defendants and by Smallenberg,
"Attorney for Plaintiffs".

as

The Court then took Cardinal's Nonsuit

Motion,

as to the Henrico Attorneys,

Henrico

Atto~neys

and the demurrer of the

to the Motion for Judgment, under advisement.

Due to the lack of time at that point, the Court was unable to hear
argument of the Sanctions Motion, which had been noticed prior to
the other motions and should therefore have been heard prior to the
Nonsuit Motion and the Jarretts' Motion.

The Court requested that

counsel for the Henrico Attorneys schedule with Smallenberg another
mutually acceptable date in the future.

Counsel for the Henrico

Attorneys, at the direction of the Court, then prepared an order to
that effect, and forwarded it to Smallenberg for his endorsement on
June 18, 1998.

Smallenberg subsequently endorsed and returned the

order, and it was then entered by this Court.
ordered that the Sanctions Motion

11

It specifically

be scheduled for hearing at a

later date to be obtained by counsel for Cardinal [and the Henrico
Attorneys]".
By letter dated June 17, 1998, Smallenberg provided counsel
for the Henrico Attorneys with his avoid dates for the hearing on
the Sanctions Motion,

and after being advised by the Judge's

secret_ary, Ms. Sager, that the Court was not available the entire
month of August, counsel for the Henrico Attorneys, on.July 1,
1998, being previously advised that the date was available, mailed
Smallenberg a notice of hearing on the Sanctions Motion (originally
noticed on April 10 for hearing on June 10), for September 4, 1998,
which notice was filed by hand-delivery on July 1,

1998.

4
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Pursuant to the Court's request, the Henrico Attorneys afd
cardinal submitted authorities in support of their respectire
positions regarding Cardinal's Nonsuit Motion, as to the Henrico
Attorneys, and the Henrico Attorneys' demurrer to Cardinal's suil.
By letter dated June 17, 1998,

Smallenberg referenced "Cardin 1

Holding Company v. Deal, et al., Case No. CL97-787" and argued "T e
plaintiff is entitled to its nonsuit pursuant to Va. Code Ann.
§

8.01-380 {1950, as amended)" (emphasis added).

By letter dated

July 15, 1998, addressed to Smallenberg and counsel for the HenriJ o
Attorneys, this Court noted that "This case is before the Court

n

Cardinal Holding Company's motion for nonsuit" (as to the Henri o
Attorneys), and ruled that the "plaintiff's motion for nonsuit ·s
. . . granted"

{emphasis added) , further stating "In addition,

I

understand counsel for the defendants intends to pursue its Moti n
for Sanctions.

Please call my secretary, Debi, with a mutualty

satisfactory date on which the hearing may be set."

This ruli g

was encompassed in an order {the "Nonsuit Order") entered
Court on August 10,

1998, under the caption "CARDINAL

COMPANY, Plaintiff, v. JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et al., Defendants.

1

,

which recited that "Plaintiff desires a nonsuit of its
against the Defendants .... " (emphasis added).
At the hearing on September 4, 1998, smallenberg first claimrd
he never received notice of the hearing, notwithstanding the noti e
previously mailed to him on July 1.

Smallenberg then objected

o

the jurisdiction of this Court to hear the Sanctions Motio ,
argui~g,

notwithstanding the clear intent, since June 10, 1998,
5
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the Henrico Attorneys to proceed with their Sanctions Motion, and
the clear intent of this Court to hear argument on that motion,
that the Nonsuit Order was a final order under Rule 1:1.
beginning of the hearing,

At the

this Court summarily rejected that

argument and overruled that objection,
evidence on the Sanctions Motion.

then proceeded to hear

At the conclusion of the hearing

on September 4, the Court awarded the Henrico Attorneys sanctions
in the amount of $32,181.17, and directed counsel for the Henrico
Attorneys to prepare an order (the · 11 sanctions Order")
judgment in accordance with that ruling.

granting

Smallenberg has endorsed

the Sanctions Order, but requested that it be held

11

in escrow".

In

a telephone conference with counsel on September 21, 1998, this
Court scheduled a hearing on Smallenberg's verbal request for a
rehearing on the jurisdictional objections he previously argued,
and that hearing is presently scheduled for October 2, 1998, at
11:00 a.m., at the same time Test intends to present the Jarretts

Order, which Smallenberg has failed to endorse, to the Court, and
at the same time that Test intends to seek an award pursuant to his
previously filed motion for sanctions against Smallenberg.

ARGUMENT
Rule 1 : 1 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia
provides that:
All final .
. orders . . . shall remain under the
control of the trial court and subject to be modified,
vacated, or suspended for twenty-one days after the date
of entry, and no longer (emphasis adde9).
As stated Daniels Truck Corporation, 205 Va. 575 (1964):
. 6
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r.
v·' ..'

"'A final order is one which disposes of the whole
subject, gives all the relief contemplated, provides with
reasonable completeness for giving effect to the
sentence, and leaves nothing to be done in the cause save
to superintend ministerially the execution of the order. '
March' t & Taylor Mathews
4 Minor's Institutes, 860".
Co., 139 Va. 723, 734, 124 S.E. 420; 21A M.J., Words and
Phrases, p. 319; see also Ballentine's Law Dictionary, p.
504 (emphasis added) .
Smallenberg argued at the beginning of the hearing herein on
September 4, 1998, and continues to argue, that the Nonsuit Orler
is a final order for purposes of Rule 1:1, depriving

t~e

Court of

jurisdiction to hear the Sanctions Motion, since the Nonsuit Order
was entered by the Court on August 10, 1998, and there was no
request that it be held or suspended pending any hearing on
Sanctions Motion.

Smallenberg originally cited Smith v. Stanawa ,

242 Va. 286 (1991), both in his letter to counsel for the Henr'co
Attorneys, dated September 3, 1998, and at the hearing on Septe
4, 1998, to support his position.

The facts in

===-----....;......;~-=-------....;.--..-

are distinguishable from the facts in this case, in that there
trial

court

sustained

the

defendants'

motion

to

strike

plaintiff's evidence, at the conclusion of the plaintiff's ca
and the order expressly and specifically stated that the case
dismissed and removed from the docket.

That order, unlike

Nonsuit

type

Order

in

this

case,

was

the

of

"final

contemplated in Daniels, supra, in that it disposed of the
subject, giving all the relief contemplated.

Likewise, the

in Anderson v. Busman, 26 Va. Cir. 26 (1991), which Smallenberg
argues

supports

his

position,

was

an

order

sustaining

defendants' demurrers, without leave to amend, which the Supr
7

448

...

Court of Virginia, upon appeal, found to be the type of final order
contemplated in Daniels.

Smallenberg argues that the Nonsuit Order

is a final order in this case, and therefore,

since more than

twenty-one days passed since it.s entry on August 10, the Court lost·
jurisdiction to impose sanctions on September 4.

Smallenberg cites

Robert v. Clarke, 34 Va. Cir. 61 (1994 per curiam opinion), for the
proposition that the trial court loses jurisdiction even when it
takes a motion for sanctions under advisement before entering the
final

judgment.

However,

like

the

other

cases

cited

by

Smallenberg, Roberts v. Clarke is distinguishable from our case, in
that there the trial court sustained the defendants' demurrer and
dismissed the plaintiff's action, with prejudice.
argues that an order of nonsuit is final for

Smallenberg

purpose~

of appeal

(and therefore final for purposes for Rule 1: 1) , when a party
disputes the proprietary of the trial court's action in granting
the nonsuit, citing Chandler v. Signet Bank/Virginia, 20 Va. Cir.
447

(1990),

which cites Wells

v.

Lorcam House

Condominiums'

Council, 237 Va. 247 (1989).
The Chandler opinion notes that the Supreme Court has held
that an order sustaining a demurrer is not a final order unless it
dismisses the case,

c~ting

Bibber v. McCreary, 194 Va. 394 (1952).

In Bibber, the court reversed the trial court's determination that
it was without jurisdiction to allow leave to amend more than
twenty-one days after entry of the order sustaining the demurrer.
The Supreme Court held that the case, which had not been dismissed,
was still pending on the

docke~.

Id, at 397.

a
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I_n his letter of September 16,

1998,

to counsel for the

Henrico Attorneys, Smallenberg also cites Covington v. Haboush, 28
Va. Cir. 360 (1992).

The Ayers Firm had, five years prior, in

he

proceeding pending in Henrico County, under very similar procedural
circumstances, cited both Covington and Wells, supra., to suppl.rt
their argument that a nonsuit order was a final order dismiss"ng
the action, depriving the trial court of jurisdiction to entert in
a motion for sanctions.

This argument was summarily rejected

Judge Harris at the hearing on October 22, 1993, and was simila ly
rejected by this Court at the hearing herein on September 4, 19. 8.
In the Covington case, the trial court held that sancti
under Virginia Code §8.01-271.1 have to be sought by a motion i
pending action.

a

In Bibber, supra., the Supreme Court correc ly

held that the trial court did have jurisdiction to act more t an

twenty-one days after the entry of an order dismissing a demurrlr,
where the case was still pending on the docket.

Counsel for

he

Henrico Attorneys have gone to great length to set out, in gr at
detail, the complicated chronology of procedural

eve~ts

in t is

case, in order for the Court to fully appreciate the fact that

~jis

proceeding is still pending on the docket, and that the Sanct1 ns
Motion was sought and heard in a pending action.
In Concerned Taxpayers v. County of Brunswick, 249 Va.
(1995),

20

the Supreme Court recently distinguished the Smith v.

Stanaway case, noting that in Concerned Taxoayers, the order sta ed
that

the

request.

court

would retain

jurisdiction over

the

sancti ns

Likewise, in this case, this Court, in its letter rul'ng
9
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u. ,_,,

dated July 15, 1998, had, after granting Smallenberg's motion for
nonsuit, specifically directed that a mutually satisfactory date be
scheduled on the Sanctions Motion, and by order entered July 27,
1998, this Court specifically ordered that the Sanctions Motion be
scheduled at a later date.

More importantly, the Nonsuit Order

prepared by Smallenberg, entered by this Court on August 10, 1998,
which Smallenberg argues is a final order contemplated under Rule
1: 1 divesting this Court of the jurisdiction to entertain the
Sanct~ons

Motion, lists only Cardinal· as a party plaintiff.

It is

quite clear that, in addition to the claim of Cardinal against the
Henrico Attorneys, there are two other claims which are currently
pending in this action:

the legal malpractice claims of the

Jarrette, as plaintiffs, against the Henrico Attorneys, which ought
to be

(but have not yet been} dismissed upon the entry of the

Jarrette' Order, and the malicious abuse of process claim of the
Henrico Attorneys against Cardinal in the Counterclaim.

All these

pending claims provide sufficient basis to hold that this matter is
a

"pending action," under which the Court has jurisdiction to

entertain the Sanctions Motion, and to enter the Sanctions Order.

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated herein, defendants, John F. Deal,
Esquire,

Rhonda

Associates,

Cobler-Wells,

respectfully

Esquire,

request

that

and
the

John
Court

F.
1)

Deal

&

overrule

Smallenberg's objection and enter the Sanctions Order; 2) award
them their additional attorneys' fees and costs incurred herein
10
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since September 4, 1998; 3) enter judgment against Cardinal Holding
Company,

Charles E. Ayers, Jr., Ayers

&

Stolte, and Robert H.

Smallenberg, jointly and severally, in such amounts.

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE,
RHONDA COBLER-WELLS, ESQUIRE,
and
JOHN F. DEAL & ASSOCIATES

Bye!J~~U:J-·
·

Of Counsel

Charles M. Lollar, Esquire
Heilig, McKenry, Fraim & Lollar, P.C.
700 Newtown Road, Suite 15
Norfolk, Virginia 23502-3999
(757) 461-2500
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true copy of the foregoing Memoran
in Response to Jurisdictional Objection to Sanctions Award
forwarded by First-Class, U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid to Robert
Smallenberg, counsel for plaintiffs, Ayers & Stolte, P.C.,
10
North Hamilton Street, Richmond, Virginia 23221, and to Stephen G.
Test, Esquire, of counsel for T. Roy Jarrett, Jr., et al. at Cl~rk
& Stant, P.C., One Columbus Center, Virginia Beach, VA 23462, ttiis

rYJ

28th day of September, 1998.

~~
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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF VIRGINIA BEACH

T. ROY JARRETT, et als.
Plaintiffs,

v.

CASE NO.:

CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et als.
Defendants.

SUPPLEMENTAL MOTION FOR SANCTIONS

NOW COME John F. Deal, Esquire, Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esquire,
and

John

F.

Deal

& Associates

{collectively

the

"Henrico

Attorneys"), by counsel, and pursuant to Va. Code §8.01-271.1, and
move the Court to award additional and supplemental sanctions
against

Cardinal

Smallenberg

Holding

Company

{"Smallenberg") ,

{"Cardinal"),

and Ayers and Stolte,

Robert
P. C.

H.
{the

"Ayers Firm"), a Virginia professional corporation, jointly and
severally, and in support thereof, state as follows:
1.

At

a

hearing

in

this

Court

on September . 4,

1998,

Cardinal, Smallenberg and the Ayers Firm {hereinafter collectively
the "Ayers Group") objected {the "Jurisdictional Objection") to
this Court's jurisdiction to hear the original motion for sanctions
{the

11

Sanctions Motion") previously filed by the Henrico Attorneys

in this proceeding on April 10, 1998, arguing that the entry of an
order by this Court on August 10,

1998,

453

nonsuiting Cardinal's

claims against the Henrico Attorneys, was a final order wh ·ch
effectively ended this matter, so that the Sanctions Motion

0

longer remained in a pending.action.
2.

This Court rejected the Jurisdictional Objection and

granted the Sanctions Motion, awarding judgment in favor of t e
Henrico Attorneys, against the Ayers Group, in the amount of
$32, 181.1 7,

and directed counsel for the Henrico Attorneys lo

prepare the order (the "Sanctions Order") granting such award a, d
judgment, and to present it to Smallenberg for his endorsement.
The Court gave Smallenberg until September 16 to endorse t e
Sanctions Order and note his objections thereon.
3.

Smallenberg, by letter dated September 15,

the Sanctions Order, but requested that it be held in escrow "unt · 1
we can confer and determine how the

J~dge

desires to procee . "

Smallenberg also confirmed his previous statements of his intenti[n
to schedule a hearing on his motion to reconsider the Sanctio[s

Order, on the basis of the
this

letter is

Ju~isdictional

attached hereto as

11

Objection.

Exhibit A",

A copy ff

and by thlis

reference made a part hereof.
4.

In a telephone conference with the Court on September 2 1,
1

1998, Smallenberg again raised the Jurisdictional Objection, and
requested a hearing on an oral motion to reconsider.

The coJrt

scheduled a hearing for October 2, 1998, at 11: 00 a. m., and enteJed
an
11

order vacating

an order

nonsuiting the

counterclaim

Counterclaim 11 ) of the Henrico Attorneys against Cardinal.

2

454

(Jhe

5.

The Jurisdictional Objection is clearly without merit, in

that there are several claims currently pending in this action:
the claims of the plaintiffs, other than Cardinal, against the
Henrico Attorneys; and the claim of the Henrico Attorneys against
Cardinal, under the Counterclaim.
6.

The Jurisdictional Objection in support of Smallenberg's

oral motion to

reconsider is not

warranted by existing law or a

well grounded

good faith

in fact

argument

and

for

the

modifi.cation or reversal of existing l·aw, and was made in order to
unnecessarily delay the entry of the Sanctions Order, and increase
the cost of this litigation to the Henrico Attorneys.
7.

As

a

result,

the

Henrico

Attorneys

have

incurred

additional attorneys fees and expenses, since September 5, 1998,
totaling

$3,163.25,

representing

19. 5

attorney

hours,

and

anticipate that they will incur another $600.00, representing four
attorney hours, through the hearing scheduled for October 2, 1998,
at 11:00 a.m., all as itemized in the affidavit of their counsel
attached hereto as Exhibit "B", and by this reference made a part
hereof.
WHEREFORE John F. Deal, Esquire, Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esquire,
and John F. Deal & Associates pray that the Court:
1)

award additional sanctions in this proceeding for the

additional attorneys fees they have incurred;
2) enter another judgment against Cardinal Holding Company and
its attorneys, Robert H. Smallenberg and Ayers & Stolte, P. C.,
jointly and severally, in the amount of $3,763.25; and
3

455

..

"·~7
.J
.....
\

3)

for such other relief as the Court may deem just

nd

proper.

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE,
RHONDA COBLER-WELLS, ESQUIRE,
and JOHN F. DEAL & S CIATES

~~

B

Y.ofOUilSel
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NOTICE

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on October 2, 1998, at 11:00 a.m., or
as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, the undersigned, by
counsel, will bring on for hearing their attached Supplemental
Motion for Sanctions and their previously filed motion seeking the
entry of the Sanctions Order

~

pro. tune September 4, 1998,

before the Honorable A. Bonwill Shockley.

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE,
RHONDA COBLER-WELLS, ESQUIRE,
and JOHN F. DEAL &
OCIATES

Bym

Of Counsel

Charles M. Lollar, Esquire
HEILIG, McKENRY, FRAIM & LOLLAR, P.C.
700 Newtown Road, Suite 15
Norfolk, Virginia 23502
(757) 461-2500
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true copy of the foregoing
Supplemental Motion for Sanctions and Notice was faxed and mailed
by first class U. S. Mail, postage prepaid, to Robert H.
& Stolte,
Smallenberg, Esquire, Counsel for plaintiffs, at A
this
P.C., 710 North Hamilton Street, C ! Jon
i c Virg· ia
29th day of September, 1998.
I

L_

-

~=":"':~~:.__ __
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AYERS. & STOLTE
A PROFESSIONAL CCJlPORATIDN

HAMlaoN PJtoPESSmHAL SUUJ)ING
710 N. HAM1aaN STREEr
RICHMOND, Ym.GINIA 23221-2035
(804) 358-4731
FAX (804) 358-6206

CHAR.LES E. A YES. JR.

OFCOU.
1.P.BO"x

SCOITDAVID STOLTE
ROBERT H. SMALLENBERG
JAMEs B. CHRISTOFFERSENt

C.FI.IPPO
•AJlMatEDa;

t AOMJr."m l:'f VA A r.-1

September 15, 1998

I.FLIPPO
1962-J!

FIUNO.

LC96-0138
Via facsimile 751(461-2341
and first class mail

Charles M Lollar, Esquire
He!lis?,
- ~cKenrv. ' Fraim & Lollar

700 )le\vton Road

Norfo~ Virgini~ 235~2-3999

RE:

Cardinal Holding Company v. Deal, et al.
Case No.: CL97-787

Dear :Yfr. Lollar:
I am in receipt of your correspondence dated September 4, 1998 and y ur
correspondence of today. While I have no problem with the language of the a der, I do
have an acute problem with something else. The authority you submitted at th
September 4, 1998 hearing for the proposition that the trial court hadjurisdictipn to
eptertain a sanctions motion more than 21 days after the entry of a noDSUit ordf was the
opini.On in Anderson v. ~usmm 22 Va. Cir. 93 (1990). ·In fact, in determinin~ that she
had jurisdiction, Judge Shockley noted that she agreed with Judge .Annunziata s
reasoning in that case. However Anderson. was reversed by the Virginia Supr me Court
(See Anderson v. Busman 26 Va. Cir. 26 (Va. 1991)(a. copy of which is amch d hereto}.
I am a bit disrurbed that this occwred because all one had to do to determine
the
Anderson decision you submitted to the court was reversed was to shepardize e case.
1

hearing·

·
As I see it, there are two ways we can proceed. F°ll'St, we can schedule I
on the jurisdictional issue before Judge Shockley enters the order. Secon~ Ju ge
Shockley can enter the order and a hearing on a motion to reconsider be sched eel for a
date not less than 21 days from entry of the order.·
Accordingly, I am sending you the endorsed order to be held in escrow until we
can confer md determine how the Judge desires to proceed.
·
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jiiries M. Lollar, Esquire·

September 15, 1998
Page2
I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely yours,

PS: I received your fax after first dictating this letter. I am not available on September
18. I am available, however, on September 25 and Octob.er 2.
. RHS/swl

CC: A Bonwell Shockiey Judge
F:\PIUVATE'.R.08\00CSILTilUam:d 1.40ci

..
•
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EXHIBIT B

VIRGINIA: IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF VIRGINIA BEACH
T. ROY JARRETT, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

v.

Law No.:

CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et al.,
Defendants.
AFFIDAVXT OF COUNSEL FOR HENRXCO ATTORNEYS

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA)
)
CITY OF NORFOLK

to-wit:·

This day came Charles M. Lollar, having been first
who made oath as follows:
1.
That he is an officer, shareholder and attorney w"th
Heilig, McKenry, Fraim, and Lollar, P.C., a Virginia professio lal
corporation ("the Firm").
2.
That on or about March 26, 1998, the Firm
represent the interests of John F. Deal, Esquire,
Wells, Esquire, and John F. Deal & Associates
Attorneys"), to file responsive pleadings on their
appear and defend them in this proceeding.

was engaged to
Rhonda Cobl r(the "Henrico
behalf, and to

3.
That attached hereto as Exhibit "A", and by t~is
reference made a part hereof, is a billing statement for le9jal
services rendered by this af f iant and the Firm, including costs a.Ind
expenses, during the course of this proceeding, from September 5,
1998, through September 29, 1998, which total $3, 163. 25.
I
estimate an additional four hours, or $600 in legal fees will e
expended through the hearing on October 2, bringing the total f es
charged since September 5, 1998 to $3,763.25.

·

4.
That such services were necessary in order to represlnt
the interests of the Henrico

AttornC!f:_~-

Charles M. Lollar

FILED
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COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
CITY OF NORFOLK, to-wit:
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me, a notary public in and for
the jurisdiction aforesaid, this 29th day of September, 1998, by
Charles M. Lollar.

-,;~Lil~.-~
Notary Publil
My commission expires:

July 31, 2002.

Fl LED
V ,'. . E [/'. CH Ci ~ CU! I CC(; ~:·

93 SEP 29 PH l1: 38

2

461

EXHIBIT -A
Heilig, McKenry, Praim & Lollar. P.C.
700 Newtown Road,
Norfolk, VA

*
* billing timekeeper Charles M. Lolla
* date of last bill
09/18/98
* date of last reminder

Suite 15
23502

* last bill through date 09/02/98
bill type code
s-02
action
to
be taken
*
O•hold
entire
bill
3asummary[ fees and exp
*
l•a/r
reminder
4abill
fe s and exp
*
2abill
exps,
hold
fees
5
...
summary
fees/detail e
*

*

757-461-2500
Ped ID#54-1134418

*
*

September 29, 1998

•
•

Billed through 09/29/98
Bill number

current
30 days
60 days
90 days

.00

.oo
.oo
.00

*
* 120 days

10042-00040-024 CML

.oo

*
AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU

•

ATTN:

P.O. Box C85058

* last payment
09/18/98
188 .66
* billing realization
100 t

Richmond, VA 23285-5058

*

Wendy Inge, Esquire

*

*
*
*
*
*
*
*

T. Roy Jarrett & Harry W. Jarrett, Co-Executors of The Estate of
Alvin Q. Jarrett, & Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett, and Alvin Q.
Jarret, Deceased, and cardinal Holding Company, assignee

billing frequency

M-01

800-284-8847
899 .so
46 .02
899 .so
46 .02

fees billed to date
exps billed to date
fees recd to date
exps recd to date

*

v. John P. Deal, Bsq., & Rhonda Cobler-Wells, Esq., & John F.

*

Deal & Associates, & Robert Devos, Esq. & Popham, Haik,
Schobrich & Kaufman, Ltd.; case# CL97-787; cc of Virginia Beach

*

Balance forward as of bill number 022 dated 09/18/98
Payments received since last bill (last payment 09/18/98)

$ 1,887.66

Net balance forward

$

*
* matter 00040
*
*
*
*

$ 1,887.66

.oo

*
FOR PROPBSSIONAL SERVICES RENDBRBD

* tmkp

09/15/98 CML

Telephone conference with Mr. John Deal regarding
entry of Order granting Sanctions; Review of

* CML

notes of court's rulings on September 31 Draft
and fax letter to Mr. Smallenberg; Receive faxed

*

date

hours

rate

amo

t

*

response letter from Mr. Smallenberg
09/16/98 CML

Review of cases cited by Mr. Smallenberg: Cooter
v. Gell US Supreme Court case and Orders and
letters in file; Draft extensive letter to Mr.
Smallenberg and fax; Receipt and review of faxed
letter from Mr. Smallenberg; Telephone conference
with Ms. Debi Sager, Judge's secretary regarding
scheduling telephone conference

09/15/98

1.40

150

210.00

09/16/98

2.50

150

37 .00

*
*
1.40 hrs

*
*

*

CML

*

*
*

*
*
2.50 hrs

*
*
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AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number
09/17/98 CML

PAGE

2

•

Receipt and review of faxed correspondence from
Mr. Smallenberg, dated September 16, 1998,
responding. to my letter of September 16, 1998;

CONTINUED

CML

09/17/98

3.20

150

480.00

* CML

09/21/98

1.20

150

180.00

CML

09/22/98

1.80

150

270.00

CML

09/24/98

1.60

150

240.00

CML

09/2S/98

4.80

150

720.00

CML

09/28/98

3.00

150

450.00

•
•
•
•
•

Draft Motion to Enter Sanctions Order nunc pro
tune 9/4/98, or alternatively, to set aside and
suspend Counterclaim Non-Suit Order; Draft letter
to clerk; Revise Sanctions Order; Place call to
Mr. Smallenberg; Telephone conference with Ms.
Sager; Follow-up call to Mr. Smallenberg's office
and to Ms. sager; Extensive telephone conference
with Mr. Deal; Revise Sanctions Order; Draft
Notice of Request to enter Sanctions Order during
telephone hearing 9/21/98; Draft letter to clerk
enclosing Notice; Draft letter to Judge Shockley

•

•
•

10042-00040·024 CML

•
•
•
•
*

•
3.20 hrs

•
•

09/21/98 CML

09/22/98 CML

09/24/98 CML

Review of letters of September 15 and 16 to and
from Mr. Smallenberg and me and letter to Judge
Shockley; Review of cases cited; Conference call
with Judge Shockley and Mr. Smallenberg
Extensive telephone conference with Mr. Deal and
and his partner, Mr. Tom Lacheny; Review
Order of Nonsuit of Cardinal's claims entered
8/10/98; Review of Order Dismissing Jarrette as
parties plaintiffs and Notice of 10/2/98 Bearing
on Motion to entry Order
Review of Concerned Taxpayers case faxed by Mr.
Lacheny; Review of Daniel v, Truck and Equipment
Corporation case regarding Final Order under Rule
1:1; Begin work on Memorandum responding to
Cardinal's Motion to Rehear on jurisdictional
basis

•
•
1.20 hrs

1.80 hrs

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
1.60 hrs

*

•
09/25/98 CML

09/28/98 CML

Begin draft statement of the case in Memorandum
in Opposition to Motion to Rehear; Extensive
Review of pleadings and correspondence and notes
in file; Draft Motion for Supplemental Sanctions;
Draft letter to Clerk and letter to Judge
Shockley
Work on, revise, and finalize Memorandum in
Response to Jurisdictional Objections; 0135
Telephone conference with Mr. Deal; fax copy to
Mr. Deal; Draft Supplemental Motion for Sanctions
and Notice of Bearing 10·2·98; Draft letter to
Clerk; Draft letter to Judge Shockley

•

4.80 hrs

•
•
•
•
•
•
*
*

•

•
3.00 hrs

•
•

•
•
Total fees for this matter

$ 2,925.00

•
•
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2925.00

AMERICAN NATIONAL LAWYERS INSU
Bill number

PAGE
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10042-00040-024 CML

* CONTINUED

09/02/98

Postage

3.00

*
*
*
*
*

09/12/98

Federal express 9/3/98 #4-641-83491/4143315260

13.45

*

016

09/29/98

Long Distance Telephone Charges

28.30

*

0107 summary

28 .30

193.50

*
*

0111 summary

193 .so

DISBURSBMBNTS

09/29/98

Photocopies

0112 09/02/98

3.00

09/12/98

13 .45

*
*
Total disbursements for this matter

$

238.25

BILLING SUMMARY

*
*
*

238 25

* CML

19.50

150

2925 00

*
TOTAL PEES

$ 2,925.00

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$

TOTAL CHARGES POR THIS BILL

$ 3,163.25

TOTAL BALANCE NOW DUB

$ 3,163.25

238.25

19.50

*
*
*

0107

*
*

0111

*

016

*
*
*
*
*
*
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2925 00

28 30

193f 50
3 00
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CLARK

BRADFORu D. SIMSON
JO ANN BLAIR-DA VIS
LA W1<ENCE H. BRYANT
STEPHEN W. BURKE
MEGAN E. BURNS
DAVID A. CARDON
JOHN F. CARROLL, IV
DONALD H. CLARK
CLIFFORD A. COPPOLA
JOSEPH A. DI JULIO
TIMOTHY W. DORSEY
THOMAS R. FRANTZ
TASOS A. GALIOTOS
MICHAEL J. GARDNER•
S. GEOFFREY GLICK•
ERIC A. HAUSER
MICHELLE A. HUGHES
SAMUEL M. KROLL

& STANT, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS CENTER
VIRGINIA BEACH. VIRGINIA 23462-6762
TELEPHONE: (757) 499·8800
FACSIMILE: (7'7) 473·0395
www.clarkandstant.com
DIRECT DIAL NUMBER

473-5339
stest@clarkandstant.com

CRAIG L. MYTELKA
JOHN M. PARIS, JR.
BRIAN C. PURCELL
ROBERT M.·REED
FRANCES W.. RUSSELL
ROBERT L. SAMUEL, JR.•
C. GRIGSBY SCIFRES
LA WRENCE.-R. SIEGEL
THOMAS E.--SNYDER
FREDERICK.T. STANT, Ill
STEPHEN C;.SWAIN•
STEPHEN G; TEST
A. W. VANDERMEER, JR.
JACK L. YOUNG
"ALSO ADMITIED IN NC

FREDERICK·T. STANT, JR.
OP COUNSEL

May 1, 1998

;:

OUR f1LI! NUMBER

49-064-009
VIA FACSIMILE AND REGULAR MAIL

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers & Stolte, P.C.
Hamilton Professional Building
710 N. Hamilton Street
Richmond, Virginia 23221-2035
Re:

T. Roy Jarrett, et al v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al
Law No. CL97-787

Dear Mr. Smallenberg:
I obtained a copy of the lawsuit you filed in the Circuit Court of the City of
Virginia Beach. It is amazing to me that you would file this suit without providing me a courtesy
copy when it was filed. My clients are very upset this suit was filed in their names without any
notice to them.
The style and caption of this suit should be immediately changed. The Plaintiff
should be the company as the assignee of the executors and the estate. Also, the Settlement
Agreement dated February 25, 1997 provides that the assignee was Charles E. Ayers, Jr.
(individually), Ayers & Ayers and Associates, P.C. and A & H Development Company.
Cardinal Holding Company is not an assignee. The Settlement Agreement also provides that the
rights in the Settlement Agreement will not be assigned without the written consent of my clients
(see, 14).
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CLARK

& STANT, P.C.

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
May l, 1998
Page2

Please call me immediately to discuss these issues.
Sincerely,
,,.,..

'
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Stephen G. Test
SGT:tlh.
cc:

Dr. T. Roy Jarrett, Jr. (via facsimile and regular mail)
Dr. Harry W. Jarrett (via facsimile and regular mail)

49064009/1-rhs-sgt
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CLARK

BRADFORD D. BIMSON
JO ANN BLAIR·DA VIS
LAWRENCE H. BRYANT
STEPHEN W. BURKE
MEGAN E. BURNS
DA VJD A. CARDON
JOHN F. CARROLL. IV
DONALD H. CLARK
CLIFFORD A. COPPOLA
JOSEPH A. D1 JULIO
TIMOTHY W. DORSEY
THOMAS R. FRANTZ
TASOS A. GALIOTOS
MICHAEL J. GARDNER•
S. GEOFFREY GLICK•
ERIC A. HAUSER
MICHELLE A. HUGHES
SAMUEL M. KROLL

& STANT, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS CENTER
VIRGINIA BEACH. VIRGINIA 23462-6762
TELEPHONE: (7S7) 499-8800
FACSIMILE: (7.57) 473-039.S
www.clarkandstanLcom
DIRECT DIAL NUMBER

473-5339
stest@clarkandstant.com

CRAIG L. MYTELKA
JOHN M. PARIS. JR.
BRIAN C. PURCELL
ROBERT M. REED
FRANCES W. RUSSELL
ROBERT L. SAMUEL. JR.•
C. GRIGSBY SCIFRES
LAWRENCE R. SIEGEL
THOMAS E. SNYDER
FREDERICK T. STANT. Ill
STEPHEN C. SWAIN•
STEPHEN O. TEST
A.W. VANDERMEER. JR.
JACK L. YOUNG
"ALSO ADMITl'ED IN NC

FREDERICK T. STANT. JR.
OP COUNSEL

May 11, 1998
OUll FILE NUMBER

49-064-009
VIA FACSIMILE AND REGULAR MAIL

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers & Stolte,. P.C.
Hamilton Professional Building
710 N. Hamilton Street
Richmond, Virginia 23221-2035
Re:

T. Roy Jarrett, et al v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al
Law No. CL97-787

Dear Mr. Smallenberg:
I wrote to you on May 1. I have had no response. I have left several messages
but you have not returned my calls.
If I have not heard from you by this Friday, May 15, I will file the appropriate
motion with the Virginia Beach Circuit Court.

Sincerely,

~c11J+-·
Stephen G. Test

SGT:tlh
cc:

Dr. T. Roy Jarrett, Jr.
Dr. Harry W. Jarrett

4906400911-rhsl-sgt
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CLARK & STANT,

BRADFORD D. BIMSON
JO ANN BLAIR-DA VIS
LAWRENCE H. BRYANT
STEPHEN W. BURKE
MEGAN E. BURNS
DAVID A. CARDON
JOHN F. CARROLL, IV
DONALD H. CLARK
CLIFFORD A. COPPOLA
JOSEPH A. DI JULIO
TIMOTHY W. DORSEY
THOMAS R. FRANTZ
TASOS A. GALIOTOS
MICHAEL J. GARDNER•
S. GEOFFREY GLICK•
ERIC A. HAUSER
MICHELLE A. HUGHES
SAMUEL M. KROLL

P.C.

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS CENTER
VIRGINIA BEACH. VIRGINIA 23462-6762
TELEPHONE; <757) 499·8800

FACSIMILE: (757) 473°0395
www.clartands11n1.com

DIRECT DIAL NUMBER

473-5339
stest@clarkandstant.com

CRAIG L. M~TELKA
JOHN M. PA IS. JR.
BRIAN C. P RCELL
ROBERT M. EEO
FRANCES W RUSSELL
ROBERT L. AMUEL. JR.•
C. GRIGSBY SCIFRES
LAWRENCE R. SIEGEL
THOMAS E. NYDER
FREDERICK T. STANT. Ill
STEPHEN C. SWAIN•
STEPHEN G. TEST
A.W. VAND RMEER, JR.
JACKL. YO NG
FREDERICK T. STANT, JR.
Ol'C UNSEl.

May 12, 1998
OUR

F11

NUMBER

-064-009
VIA FACSIMILE AND REGULAR MAIL
Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Ayers & Stolte, P .C.
Hamilton Professional Building
710 N. Hamilton Street
Richmond, Virginia 23221-2035
Re:

T. Roy Jarrett, et al v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al
Law No. CL97-787

Dear Mr. Smallenberg:
This confinns our telephone conference this morning. You advised me
Cardinal Holding Company, the plaintiff in the above-styled suit, is a corporation whose stoc is
solely owned by Charles Ayers. My clients have never consented in writing to the assignmen of
the claims to Cardinal Holding Company, which consent is required by ~ 14 of the Settle ent
Agreement dated February 25, 1997.
You told me that Mr. Ayers would call me in the next few days to discuss y
request that my clients' names be removed as individual plaintiffs in this suit. I look forwar , to
that call. However, without a prompt commitment from Mr. Ayers and Cardinal Hol ing
Company to remove my clients as named plaintiffs, I will file the appropriate motion as indic ted
with the Virginia Beach Circuit Court. I look forward to hearing from Mr. Ayers promptly.

Stephen G. Test
SGT:tlh

468

...

CLARK & STANT, P.C.
Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
May 12, 1998
Page2

cc:

Dr. T. Roy Jarrett, Jr. (via facsimile and regular mail)
Dr. Harry W. Jarrett (via facsimile and regular mail)

49064009/l·rhsl-sgt

bee:

Jo Ann Blair-Davis, Esquire
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CLARK & STANT, P.C. .
A TI'ORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS CENTER

VIRGINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 23462

_ _Federal ID S4 1041905

Telephone ( 57) 499-8800-

FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RENDERED
Please make check payable to Clark & Stant, P.C.
and include our file number on check

09/30/98
File No.: 49064-013M

Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett
c/o Dr. T. Roy Jarrett, Jr.
700 Oriole Drive, #3138
Virginia Beach VA 23451

New Litigation/Ayers suite against Deal

HOURS

AMOUNT

1.00

17S.OO

.SO

87.50

05/11/98
SGT Telephone conference with Mr. Smallenberg;
Prepare letter to Mr. Smallenberg

1.00

175.00

05/12/98
SGT Telephone conference with Mr. Smallenberg re
Status of Cardinal Holding Company; preparation
Of confirming letter to Mr. Smallenberg

1.00

175.00

.SO

87.50

2.00

350.00

05/01/98
SGT Review suit filed by Mr. Ayers against Mr. Deal;
prepare letter
05/08/98
SGT Telephone conference with attorney Smallenberg re
Response to demands to remove Dr. Jarrett from
Suit

05/26/98
SGT Telephone conference with Mr. Lollar re status of
Suit and setting a hearing date
05/28/98
SGT Draft Motion to Dismiss named plaintiffs from
Suit; telephone conference with Mr. Lollar
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CLARK & STANT, P.C.
ATl'ORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS .CENTER
VIROINIA BEACH, VIRGINIA 23462

-Federal ID S4 104190S,_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _Telephone (757) 499-8800_ _

(Continued)
09/30/98
File No.: 49064.013M

Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett
New Litigation/Ayers suit against Deal

HOURS

AMOUNT

06/01/98
SGT Prepare pleadings to file to remove clients from
Deal lawsuit

2.50

437.50

06/05/98
RRW Prepare letter, Motion to Dismiss, Notice and
Exhibits; update pleadings file and index; fax
And forward pleadings to Mr. Smallenberg, Mr.
McFarland, Mr. Lollar and clients; telephone
Conferences with Dr. Jarrett and Mr. McFarland
Re fax not complete

0.70

38.50

06/08/98
SGT Telephone conference with Mr. Smallenberg re
Nonsuit by Deal and preparation of letter re
Attorney's fees

0.50

87.50

06/09/98
SGT Preparation for court hearing

1.00

175.00

06/10/98
SGT Preparation and court hearing on Motions re new
Suit by Mr. Ayers against Mr. Deal

2.50

437.50

06/11/98
SGT Preparation of letter to Mr. Smallenberg and
Order re Judge Shockley's rulings

1.50

262.50

00928/98
SGT Prepare and file Notice for Hearing

0.50

87.50

09/30/98
SGT Prepare for court hearing regarding sanctions

1.50

262.50
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CLARK &

STANT, P.C.

ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELORS AT LAW
ONE COLUMBUS CENTER
VIRGINIA BEACH. VIRGINIA 23462

--Federal ID S4 104190S_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _Telephone (757) 499-88()()_

(Continued)
09/30/98
File No.: 49064-013M

Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett
New litigation/Ayers suit against Deal

TOTAL FEE DUE THIS BILLING:

16.70

2,838.50

Reproduction of documents
Long distance telephone charges
Mileage
Telecopies

113.25
1.85
3.25
174.00

TOTAL EXPENSES

292.35

TOTAL BALANCE THIS BILLING:

3,130.85

TOTAL BALANCE DUE:

$3,130.85

=========
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1

VIRGINIA:

2

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH

3

T. ROY JARRETT, et als.,

4

Plaintiffs,

5

-vs-

6

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE,
et al.,

7
8
.9

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Law No. CL97-787

Hearing held before Judge A. Bonwill Shockley, at

10

the Circuit Court.of the City of Virginia Beach, Virginia

11

Beach, Virginia, on Friday, the 2nd day of October, 1998,

12

commencing at 11:00 o'clock, a.m.
u
0

13
14

t--

15
16

For the Plaintiffs

17

OJ

18

Messrs. Clark & Stant, P. C. ;:
By: Stephen G. Test, Esquire.
Virginia Beach, Virginia.

19
20
21
22

A-P-P-E-A-R-A-N-C-E-S
0~
Messrs. Ayers & Stolte, P.~~ c:> t!:
By: Robert H. Smallenberg~:x: N c.r>
Esquire.
~ ~ ~
Richmond, Virginia.
w z
::>

For the Defendants

co

O"\

Messrs. Heilig, McKenry, Fraim
and Lollar, P.C.
By: Charles M. Lollar, Esquire.
Norfolk, Virginia.

23
24

OR\G\NAL

25
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198
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1

P R 0 C E E D I N G S:

2

3

THE JUDGE:

Is Mr. Test going to be

MR. LOLLAR:

He has asked me to ask

here?

4
5

the Court's indulgence.

6

with Judge Shadrick in Courtroom 10 and

7

Mr. Test has asked for us to go ahead because

8

he feels that his would properly come behind

9

ours.

Anyway, he said he will get back up

10

here.

He did want me to introduce his client

11

Dr. T. Roy Jarrett, and so I think that that

12

would be appropriate and be the best use of

13

all our time for us to continue with that now
THE JUDGE:

14

He says he's down

I'm happy if you're

15

happy.

I'll be happy not to get anymore faxes

16

for awhile from everyone.
MR. LOLLAR:

17

Your Honor, this is

18

Tom Latchney.

I'd like to introduce him to

19

the Court.

20

in the firm and is an attorney practicing in

21

Henrico County with Mr. Deal.

22

here also.

23

going to be here in his place, but he came

24

back about 2:00 o'clock in the morning.

25

plane got in 2:00 or 3:00 and so he is here

He is a partner of Deal & Latchney

Mr. Deal is

We weren't expecting him.
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3
1

for this hearing today.

2

to him.

It's that important

We're on our motion, at least I've

3

4

noticed it today for our motion, to enter the

5

order that I originally prepared and also I

6

noticed it for our supplemental motion for

7

sanctions.

8

memorandum, last

9

the motion for sanctions filed by us be

I saw in Mr. Smallenberg's
par~graph,

that he moves that

10

dismissed, so in that sense he has a motion

11

also.

12

for the entry of an order dismissing the

13

Jarrett's as Party-Plaintiffs.

14

Jarrett's are the executors.

15

Mr. Test has a motion that he's noticed

The two

There is one other matter that's kind of

16

hanging out there.

I want you to know that

17

I've gone back and I've studied the transcript

18

of the June 10, '98, hearing extensively to

19

make sure of where we were, and that should

20

have been apparent, I hope, in my memorandum

21

statement or chronology of procedural events,

22

to see exactly where we are because it becomes

23

so important based upon the objections that

24

Mr. Smallenberg raised on September 4 and

25

continues to raise to your authority to act in
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
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4
1

this proceeding, and I found that you verballl

2

ruled that the deceased plaintiff in this

3

action, Alvin Jarrett, should be dismissed,

4

but I don't believe there's an order dealing

5

with that and that's something for Mr. Test t

6

address, Alvin Q. Jarrett, deceased, and also

7

the Estate.

8

exchange between you.and Mr. Test.

9

was arguing his motion and you had a

You'll recall that there was an
Mr. Test

10

conversation, in effect, about, "Well, isn't

11

it improper for a dead person to be before th

12

Court?", and, of course, the quick answer was

13

yes and the Estate is represented by the

14

co-executors.

15

exchange between you and Steve Test was that

16

you dismissed the deceased, Alvin Jarrett, an

17

the Estate, however, I've seen no order.

18

Now I don't believe his order, it may or may

19

not, address that and we can get to that

20

later, but that's hanging, too.

21

represents, and he pointed out that he

22

represents T. Roy Jarrett, who is in Court

23

today with us, and also I believe his brother,

24

Harry

25

of Alvin Q. Jarrett and they are the proper

w.

So the conclusion from that

He

Jarrett, co-executors of the Estate
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5
1

parties to represent the Estate, the

2

co-executors.

3

So Mr. Test has a notice and a motion

4

relating to them, but at this point in time

5

procedurally we have rulings by the Court on

6

various matters, we have various orders

7

entered, and then we have this nonsuit order

8

that is the subject

9

Mr. Smallenberg.

~f

the objections by

The nonsuit order is

10

captioned, and I've gone into great detail in

11

my memorandum to address this, Cardinal

12

Holding Company, Plaintiff, singular, versus

13

John F. Deal, Esquire, et al., Defendants, and

14

it states that the Plaintiff desires a nonsuit

15

of it's action against the Defendants and it

16

orders that the action is nonsuited to which

17

Defendant's objected and accepted and, of

18

course, it's been our position on September 4,

19

and it's our position today, that the clear

20

intent of that order was to nonsuit the case

21

without prejudice.

22

prejudice, but they got it without prejudice,

23

a nonsuit pursuant to your consideration when

24

you took the matter under advisement on June

25

10, and it was certainly not to end this

We wanted it to be with
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1

.action in anyway.

The action clearly has not

2

ended because technically we have four

3

Party-Plaintiffs that no written order has

4

been entered by this Court dismissing and the

5

have all, at Mr. Smallenberg's behest, becaus

6

he signed as their counsel in the original

7

motion for judgment, they all have a 24

8

Million 250 Thousand. Dollar legal malpractice

9

claim still pending against Mr. Deal,

10

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells, and the firm of Deal &

11

Latchney.

12

on that point, we know that the written order

13

is what has to dismiss those proceedings and

14

there's no written order entered, so those

15

claims remain pending and that is an action a

16

well as the counterclaim.

17

Even though your rulings are clear

I went back and reviewed what you said,

18

Your Honor, on September 4 and the

19

counterclaim, it's been suggested in letters,

20

and I apologize for the letters back and

21

· forth, but

I

felt it was important that you

22

see what was going on.

23

get an order entered and that was the

24

direction you gave me at the end of the

25

September 4 hearing, was to get the order

I

was simply trying
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7
1

entered, drafted and entered.

I handed it to

2

you at the end of the hearing and you gave

3

Mr. Smallenberg until September 16, which was

4

12 days, to review the order and your word.s

5

were, "If we need to deal with this, if there

6

are questions as far as what is in the order,

7

since you're leaving me a copy, "I handed you

8

a copy, "we can sche4ule a telephone

9

conference as to objections to the order".

10

Not to anything else, but to the written order

11

that I handed you, which was a typed order

12

with blanks because

13

coming into Court that morning.

14

lines and I filled it in with a pen and handed

15

you a copy and handed Mr. Smallenberg a copy.

16

You were going to enter the order right then

17

and

18

proper and appropriate thing to do right then,

19

but he expressed concern about endorsing it

20

because of his partners or the firm back in

21

Richmond and you said,

22

you I will allow you to go back and talk to

23

your partners and I will give you until

24

September 16th".

25

I

I

didn't know the amount
I

left blank

submit to you that would have been the

THE JUDGE:

11

Well, to accommodate

And we' re way down the
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1

road past that.

2

MR. LOLLAR:

3

THE JUDGE:

Way down the road.
We have cases that were

4

cited that have been overruled and we have

5

case law that wasn't cited at the time that we

6

all found in the meantime.

7

different posture than it was the first time.

8

I think maybe,

9

looked at the law.

everybody sat down an,

final~y,

MR. LOLLAR:

10

It's a little bit

Well, that's an

11

interesting point because I want you to know

12

that this thing was not unanticipated.

13

thing being the 21-day objection.

14

read it to you because sometimes it's just

15

good to go back and read what was said at a

16

hearing early on.

17

read to you what I said in response to this

18

issue about the nonsuit.

19

black notebook still in the Court file or can

20

you get it?

This is June 10.

THE JUDGE:

It's here.

22

MR. LOLLAR:

Page 73.

23

THE JUDGE:

25

tabbed.

I want to

I want t

Do you have your

21

24

This

I think I've got it

Yeah, I'm with you.
MR. LOLLAR:

On Page 73, starting
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9

1

with Line 3, you indicate that if you want the

2

sanctions taken care of in an expedited manner

3

there's probably some evidence, but the

4

evidence that would be necessary could

5

probably be somewhat abbreviated, et cetera,

6

et cetera.

7

myself whether we had thought about how we

8

would like to procee.d and I said, "I have and

9

I haven't decided.

You were asking both Mr. Test and

I want to consult with my

10

clients.

And I would say that one concern I

11

have in any order, this is premature, but at

12

some point there may be an order either

13

dismissing the case with prejudice or

14

nonsuiting the case".

15

point in time you had taken the matter under

16

advisement.

17

that verbally, orally.

18

a concern.

19

dismissing this case with prejudice or

20

nonsuiting the case.

21

up with Mr. Ayers in Henrico County he then

22

argued and we had the hearing on the motion

23

for sanctions more than 21 days after his

24

order to nonsuit that there was no basis to go

25

forward.

See, because at that

By Page 73 you had already done
And I said, "I've got

There may be an order either

The last time this came

Judge Harris disagreed, but it had
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0

1

to be briefed and argued and I'll bet there

2

was some $3,000 in legal fees just because of

3

that snafu, so I certainly don't want that to

4

happen again".

5

because I foresaw what has happened with

6

Mr. Smallenberg and Ayers & Stolte.

7

done exactly what they suggested they wouldn'

8

do.

9

Line 3 on Page 74, says, "Judge, if the Court

10

rules whichever way it rules and clearly take

11

the rest of the matters under advisement

12

there's no Rule 1: 1 problem" .

13

And, Your Honor, I am a profi

They hav

Mr. Smallenberg.in the very next line,

How about that?

How about that?

Isn't

14

that interesting?

It's now October 2 and bac

15

on June 10 Mr. Smallenberg said, "That won't

16

be a Rule 1:1 problem", and low and behold he

17

gets the order of nonsuit entered, gets this

18

hearing, defers the hearing, and, quite

19

frankly, Your Honor didn't have any dates in

20

August, so that was a problem, and he's

21

well-aware we scheduled the hearing for

22

September 4, but then has the audacity to

23

suggest that he wasn't aware of it for

24

September 4 knowing that in your ruling you

25

ruled in his favor on his motion to nonsuit,
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) "549-2198

482

...

11
1

but at the end of your July 15 letter ruling

2

you say, you know, schedule the hearing on

3

sanctions, so he knows we haven't dropped the

4

sanctions.
Mr. Test is in the same posture with him.

5
6

In fact, if you follow Mr. Smallenberg's

7

argument Mr. Test has no basis to be here

8

today either.

9

with.

This .case has ended.

It's over

His motion for sanctions can't be

10

heard.

It's beyond the jurisdiction of the

11

Court.

Well, the reason that's not true is

12

quite simple and that is because there are, as

13

I p9inted out in my memorandum, several

14

matters still, even though the Court has

15

orally ruled upon them, not encompassed and

16

reduced to a written entered order, and those

17

are the actions of the four Jarrett's, I'll

18

call them, against Mr. Deal, which they never

19

agreed to.

20

Mr. Smallenberg had signed this pleading on

21

their behalf, and Mr. Jarrett's here to speak

22

to that, and when

23

hearing on September 4 you found that was very

24

much a part of why Mr. Smallenberg and the

25

firm and Cardinal should be sanctioned.

They were shocked that

I

went back through that
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12
1

quote from what you said September 4, You were

2

directing this to Mr. Smallenberg, "When you

3

sign your name to pleadings on behalf of

4

somebody you'd better figure out whether

5

you're retained by them or not".

6

Well, if there's any question that the

7

nonsuit order was applied to anybody other

8

than Cardinal that question should be

9

summarily answered by, and I direct your

10

attention to Page 29 of the June 10 transcript

11

of the hearing, on Page 29 starting with Line

12

3, you say,

13.

client, if I'm understanding correctly

14

you asked me,

15

It's the Cardinal Holding Company?"

16

talking then about the nonsuit and if you want

17

to go a page before that you can see that's

18

exactly the subject of that exchange back and

19

forth from the bench.

20

Holding Company", and then you say, "Is the

21

only one that's asking for the nonsuit?"

22

see that,

23

one that's asking for the nonsuit?", and I

24

say, "That's correct", and Mr. Smallenberg

25

says, "Well, yes, Judge".

11

11

This is only as to you and your

11

11
,

and

Mr. Lollar, is that right?
We're

And I say, "Cardinal

You

Is the only", I emphasize, "only

So it's clear that
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1

Cardinal was the only entity asking for the

2

nonsuit and Cardinal got a nonsuit.

3

key here is your ruling at the end of that

4

hearing on September 4.

5

listened to the exchange and right before you

6

ruled you found very clearly that this was not

7

a final order, this August 10, 1998, order.

8

Those were your words, "This is not a final

9

order.

But the

I went back and

It is not intended to be a final order

10

in this action and it's not a final order".

11

Granted, it might have been an appealable

12

order for us as the parties that were

13

objecting to it to appeal it, but that doesn't

14

mean that it's a final order in this case and

15

it ends the action.

16

back to the cases cited none of the cases that

17

Mr. Smallenberg has cited, none of the nonsuit

18

cases, there are Virginia Supreme Court cases

19

holding that a nonsuit can be a final order if

20

they're objected to, if you look at those

21

cases the question there is whether it's a

22

final appealable order, so that the party

23

that's lost on that ruling, the adverse party,

24

can appeal it.

25

here.

And, clearly, if you go

Totally different set of facts

In that case it would be a final order
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14

1

for the Henrico attorneys, so we could have

2

appealed it, but that does not mean that

3

there's no action, that you can hear this

4

motion for sanctions then.

5

an action.

6

Clearly, there's

If you go back, and I would submit to you

7

that none of those cases come anywhere near,

8

none of the nonsuit cases in Virginia, there

9

are two or three of them that follow the Wells

10

v. Lorcum precedent on this narrow issue, none

11

of them have our fact situation.

12

I believe, are dealing with other issues other

13

than sanctions.

14

it's appealable and matters of that nature.

15

If you go back and look at the case by

16

Judge Hughes in Richmond Circuit Court the

17

Halbish case, and that's been cited in, I

18

think, a couple of other cases and it's good

19

law in Virginia, that the 8.01-271.1 motion

20

for sanctions cannot be an independent action.

21

It has to be made in some pending action, in

22

fact, those were the exact words of Judge

23

Hughes in that part of the appending.

24

saying that there has to be some action

25

pending to support the 8.01 motion.

All of them,

They're dealing with whether
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15
1

"Sanctions under 8.01-271.1 have to be sought

2

by a motion in a pending action".

3

Honor, I don't think we could say it better

4

than anyone.

5

Mr. Smallenberg said it better than anyone,

6

that the nonsuit motion was just a motion on

7

behalf of Cardinal, and he also conceded that

8

there would be no Rule 1:1 problem, but you

9

know something, I think this is very telling

Well, Your

In fact, I think

10

because he was already planning, he was

11

already planning to get one up on the Court

12

and us, and that's the reason I argued that

13

these particular parties we're dealing with,

14

counsel and the party, this straw corporation,

15

they have no respect for the authority of law

16

or the authority of this Court.

17

same argument they made in Henrico County in

18

1993 knowing that they had delayed that

19

hearing and, quite frankly, I disagree that a

20

nonsuit order when there's a pending motion

21

for sanctions, a nonsuit order without

22

prejudice, ends the action.

23

and I don't believe that that's a final order

24

or was ever intended to be a final order, but,

25

Your Honor, you don't have to get that far.
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They made the

It's my position

16
1

You don't have to do that.

2

make that finding of law in this case.

3

you've got to do is find that there's a

4

pending action and that is obvious.

5

You don't have to
All

There are four Plaintiffs that have no

6

entered order as to them.

They have pending

7

legal malpractice claims totaling 24 Million

8

250 Thousand Dollars against these Defendants

9

and there's our counterclaim, and I think the

10

counterclaim would do it.

I went back and

11

studied the record from September 4.

12

ruled finding that the counterclaim was a

13

pending action.

14

order was not a final order in this action,

15

wasn't a final order in this action.

16

have been, and you don't even have to get to

17

this, but it may have been a final order

18

insofar as us wanting to appeal it because we

19

objected to your entry of it overruling our

20

counterclaim argument and our submission

21

argument, it may have been a final order in

22

that sense, but it wasn't a final order in

23

this action.

24

which this motion for sanctions was made in.

25

Our motion was actually made with the

You also

You held first that a nonsuit

It may

There was a pending action,
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1

counterclaim.

2

alleging malicious abuse of process.

That counterclaim was made

3

Interestingly, the first case you cited

4

on September 4 when you ruled was Cooter and

5

Gel v. Hartman Corporation.

6

case, you indicated to me.

7

either were familiar with it or had read it

8

after it had been cited, but you were familiar

9

with it, U.S. Supreme Court.

You had read the
I assume you

You said on

10

September 4, "This is controlling.

11

the highest court in the land.

12

controlling", and you focused on the equities.

13

And, really, the rule of law that Judge

14

O'Connor set out, that a voluntary nonsuit

15

should not end a pending Rule 11 motion

16

because to do so would reward Plaintiffs who

17

file frivolous lawsuits, and that's exactly

18

what Justice O'Connor said.

19

the descent by Justice Stevens, he descended

20

in part, but he said, his comment was,

21

"Despite the changes that have taken place at

22

the Bar since I left the act of practice 20

23

years ago, I still believe that most lawyers

24

are wise enough to know that their most

25

precious asset is their professional
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This is

It's

Interestingly, in

18
1

reputation.

Filing unmeritorious pleadings

2

inevitably tarnishes that asset.

3

not understand that, this simple truth, can be

4

dealt with in appropriate disciplinary

5

proceedings, state law actions for malicious

6

abuse of process, or in extreme cases contempt

7

proceedings".

8

descent, and that was not the rule in the

9

case, he was outvoted, but he said, "Let the

Those who do

So Justice Stevens in his

10

attorneys that are subjected to this and their

11

clients file a malicious abuse of process

12

action".

13

did, that's exactly what we did, and that was

14

pending and not dismissed.

15

enter an order after the hearing, but pursuant

16

to our September 21 telephone conference I

17

understand that order has been vacated, so it

18

is of no effect.

19

Your Honor, that's exactly what we

Your Honor did

So what we have here and what we need to

20

prevent is more legal maneuvering that would

21

in anyway divest this Court of it's power to

22

act when it needs to act as it has acted in

23

this very important proceeding.

24

awarded Mr. Deal and the Deal firm and

25

Mrs. Cobbler-Wells $32,000 for sanctions.
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1

That is behind us.

I see no need, and I don't

2

think it was your intent, to go and rehear

3

that proceeding or that hearing on the motion

4

for sanctions.

5

was supposed to have been raised in the 12

6

days, from September 4 until September 16, was

7

a problem that Mr. Smallenberg or his firm

8

would have with the order, which I handed to

9

him and then I retyped it and just filled in

The only issue, really, that

10

the blanks and mailed it to him, and he has

11

since endorsed it and returned it to me.

12

cover letter said, "In escrow", whatever that

13

means, and just as

14

to you, so you could have it, and it has been

15

endorsed.

16

objection, continuing objection, which

17

Your Honor would need for the purpose of

18

procedural housekeeping to receive as a verbal

19

or oral motion to rehear, if his memorandum of

20

law and his conclusion is not considered a

21

written motion to rehear because that's the

22

only reason we can be on this matter now is on

23

a rehearing.

24
25

I

His

received it I sent it on

However, I think in light of his
I

think

My request is that the order be entered
as I noticed it in my motion to enter the
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1

order.

I filed a written motion, and I put it

2

on the docket today, to enter that order nunc

3

pro tune September 4, 1998, and the reason is

4

obvious.

5

ruled upon and the day that written order that

6

I handed you should have been entered.

7

were trying to accommodate him and give him

8

time to look at it.

9

one objection to the body of that order, or

It needs to read the day it was

We

He's come back not with

10

any word on it, but to the overall award

11

itself on the basis of jurisdiction.

12

not something you gave him the opportunity to

13

dwell on.

14

rehear, and I'm assuming that we are, then the

15

only basis for his motion to rehear, and I

16

read his memorandum at length, is this Court

17

lacks jurisdiction.

18

That's

But if we're here on a motion to

He pointed out that the case that I

19

cited, Anderson v. Busman, was reversed by the

20

Supreme Court of Virginia.

21

to you.

22

I said, "This is a Circuit Court case".

23

You'll recall I couldn't pronounce the judge's

24

name and you knew her and you corrected me on

25

it and you recognized this had no controlling

I cited that case

I went back and studied what I said.
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1

effect whatsoever.

It was another Circuit

2

Court case.

3

than Judge Harris' ruling in Henrico five

4

years prior.

5

that Judge Anunziado applied in finding that

6

the Plaintiff in that case should be

7

sanctioned, because what had happened was the

8

Plaintiff had suffered a dismissal as a result

9

of a demurrer being sustained with prejudice,

It had no more controlling effect

But you did appreciate the logic

10

and I pointed out in my argument to you that

11

our facts procedurally were much better than

12

theirs.

13

sanctions after the entry of that order and

14

the Plaintiff's attorney said he needed to get

15

a new attorney to represent him and he needed

16

time and delayed it beyond the 21 days from

17

the entry of the order sustaining the

18

demurrer.

19

Plaintiff's attorney stood up and said,

20

"Beyond jurisdiction.

21

Can't do it.

22

like Judge Harris in Henrico, got a little put

23

out by it because the judge saw what had

24

happened.

25

to thwart the Court's intention to do what the

But that they filed a motion for

When they had the hearing the

Beyond jurisdiction.

Rule 1:1", and the judge, just

I mean, it was an obvious attempt
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1

Court would have done, certainly, within the

2

21 days.

3

surprised me under those facts that they

4

reversed, but the basis for their ruling, and

5

don't lose track of this, the basis for their

6

ruling was that it was a final order.

There

7

were no counterclaims in that action.

There

8

were no Plaintiffs that remained undismissed

9

or un-nonsuited or whatever.

The Supreme Court of Virginia, it

In fact, it

10

wasn't a nonsuit order, it was an order

11

sustaining a demurrer with prejudice and

12

dismissing the case.

13

the words "dismissing the case", so that

14

clearly is a final order that ended that

15

action.

The order actually used

16

Here we've got alot different set of

17

facts and Mr. Smallenberg will not be able to

18

give you any case that suggests when there's

19

four Plaintiffs that still have not been dealt

20

with in a pending action that you don't have

21

jurisdiction to entertain a motion for nonsuit

22

that was filed long before any of that action

23

took place.

24

that reason we have, and I don't know how you

25

want to do that, but Mr. Test has a motion for

That's the bottom line.
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And for
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1

sanctions.

And we have a supplemental motion

2

for sanctions because I feel so firmly about

3

this, strongly I guess is the word I'm trying

4

to use, that for him to even suggest at this

5

point when all you gave him, you gave him a

6

little opportunity to come back to us with

7

problems with the written order and he's

8

turned that into a full blown objection, a

9

rehashing of this jurisdictional objection,

10

and that is sanctionable because he told us on

11

June 10, and when I read it I had to go back

12

and read it about three times, he told us,

13

"There won't be any Rule 1:1 problem if I take

14

a nonsuit".

15

one, and this is what we've been dealing with

16

with the Ayers firm, Ayers & Stolte, since

17

1993 when I first got involved in defending

18

the Charles Ayers versus Deal suit.

19

the type of thing they did then.

20

ignored it.

21

they appeal this ruling today, the sanctions

22

order, which I have prepared and asked you to

23

enter nunc pro tune September 4, Your Honor,

24

we will certainly oppose it and they will not

25

get a writ under these circumstances for two

And what has he done?

He's found

That's

Judge Harris

They didn't appeal it then.
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1

simple reasons, and I've already been through

2

them, there are four Plaintiffs that remain

3

before the Court and there is a counterclaim.

4

There's nothing he can say that does away with

5

that part of this pending action.

6

So you have a pending action and your

7

sanctions were just as much a part of filing

8

this suit on behalf of the Jarrett's as it was

9

anything else.

It kind of reminded me of the

10

exchange that Mr. Smallenberg had with

11

Mr. Test after he had filed the suit

12

unbeknownst to Mr. Test.

13

Mr. Test saying, you know, "Even though this

14

settlement agreement has been entered we think

15

we can assign these claims", and Mr. Test

16

writes him back saying, "You cannot assign

17

this cause of action.

18

specifically prohibited".

19

occurred after he'd already filed his suit in

20

the name of this new shell corporation,

21

Cardinal Holding Company, unbeknownst to

22

Mr. Test.

23

going on with the Ayers & Stolte firm.

24

could use alot harsher words, but I won't, I

25

don't need to.

He's writing

You can't do it.

It's

That whole exchange

That's the type of activity that's
And I

That's the type of thing.
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1

When he told us on June 10, "There won't be

2

any Rule 1:1 problem", the whole time I'm sure

3

he was looking and thinking about how he could

4

create one.
We don't have a Rule 1:1 problem.

5

6

There's plenty of action pending today.

We

7

need an order entered pursuant to your ruling,

8

which I have drafted nunc pro tune September

9

4.

Thank you.

10

THE JUDGE:

11

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Mr. Smallenberg?
Judge, Mr. Lollar

12

today has argued everything except the very

13

reason we're here.

14

pointed out that the case that he submitted as

15

persuasive authority was overruled and the

16

Court became aware that there was other

17

authority dealing with 1:1, which wasn't

18

addressed, the Court suggested that we all get

19

together and examine the law.

20

Mr. Lollar hasn't examined the law of 1:1.

21

fact, he's glossed over it not only in this

22

hearing, but in his very memorandum and, in

23

fact, made a very strong misrepresentation to

24

this Court.

25

We're here because when I

Well,

I think we need to argue the law, but
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1

there is one thing that I feel compelled to do

2

first and that's because he wants to make this

3

big issue out of the Jarrett's being the

4

Plaintiffs of the suit.

5

wants to invoke the anger, the prejudice, of

6

this Court against me, I suppose, not because

7

it has the slightest thing to do with Rule

8

1:1.

9

right to name the Jarrett's, here it is,

10

Michie's Jurisprudence, Assignments, "An

11

assignee has an absolute right to bring suit

12

in the name of his assignor for his own

13-

benefit".

14

22, the exact same thing.

15

Section 29, the exact same rule.

16

Civil Procedure, Page 160, the exact same

17

rule.

19
20

But as to his suggesting that we had no

ArnJur 2D. Assignments,, Section

THE JUDGE:

18

He does it because he

CJS, Assignments,
Bryson's

And what exactly does it

say?
MR. SMALLENBERG:

"And as assignee

21

might either assert that right in law in his

22

own name by virtue of such statutes or that of

23

the original payee, meaning the assignor, for

24

his benefit.

25

transferred and delivered it is the right of

When a chosen action is
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1

the debtor to sue upon such chosen action at

2

law and, if necessary, to use the name of the

3

legal owner of such chosen action".

4

assignment transfers an equitable right.

5

doesn't transfer a legal title.

6

in the Plaintiff's initial pleading and

7

summonses it is advisable to declare that the

8

assignor sues for the use of the assignee.

An
It

They do note

If you read the very first paragraphs in

9

10

my motion for judgment I made no bones about

11

it.

12

brought and it names the Jarrett's, but then

13

it says the rights have been assigned to

14

Cardinal Holding Company.

15

remaining in the obligee or payee a right of

16

action is incident thereto and the assignee

17

may at his election sue at law in his own name

18

or in that of the obligee or payee for his

19

benefit".

20

even stronger in the other authorities. CJS,

21

Assignments, Section 106, "The assignor may

22

not control the use of his name by the

23

assignee, but, on the contrary, the assignee

24

may use the name of the assignor without his

25

consent and even over his objection.

It states in there that this action is

"Legal title still

As a matter of fact, they go on
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Judge, you know, if he's going to get up

1

2

here and start throwing out,

3

this.

4

to check out the authority.

5

CJS, Amjur, Michie's Jurisprudence, and

6

Bryson, all agree and there's Virginia cases

7

cited in Bryson and Michie's.

8

Amjur or CJS actually cited a Virginia

9

case, but I think it's reasonable when you've

11

Smallenberg did

Smallenberg did that", he might do well
Here you go,

Neither

10

got the two major Virginia authorities and the

11

third major authority on civil procedure in

12

Virginia, in my opinion it's Boyd, Middledish,

13

St. Clair, it doesn't address the question at

14

all, it doesn't talk about assignees or

15

assignors.

16

here's Arnjur, here's CJS, but of course,

17

once again, Mr. Lollar gets up and he starts

18

asserting law and he doesn't know what he's

19

talking about.

20

this case.

21

But here's the major authority,

He's done it three times in

On June 10th he got up and asserted that

22

the case of Ayyildiz versus Kidd supported his

23

action for malicious abuse of process.

24

I suggest that maybe we read that case because

25

it's not even a malicious abuse of process
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1

case.

2

abuse of process.

That's a malicious

3

prosecution case.

It's a totally different

4

animal.

5

Court Wells versus Lorcum House.

6

page.

7

sent the Court the whole thing.

8

you read the actual whole case and read the

9

facts Wells versus Lorcum House, in fact, said

10

quite the opposite of what Mr. Lollar asserted

11

it said.

12

It's got nothing to do with malicious

On the issue of nonsuit he sent this
He sent one

I don't know why he sent one page.

I

Because when

The latest transgression, now we have

13

this issue of Anderson versus Busman.

It's

14

been reversed.

15

ago, Judge, and he should have known that.

16

Now he comes in here and his only excuse was,

17

"I didn't say it was controlling authority".

18

Well, there's two types of authority,

19

controlling and persuasive, and there's no

20

question in anybody's mind that Mr. Lollar

21

came in here and expected this Court to accept

22

Anderson versus Busman as persuasive

23

authority, which the Court did.

24

specifically said, "I agree with Judge

25

Anunziado's logic in that case".

It was reversed seven years
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1

apparently, the Supreme Court didn't, and

2

that's also an issue that he has glossed over

3

today.

4

Now it's very interesting that he has not

5

once said, "Smallenberg has done this.

6

Smallenberg did that", except when he reads

7

from transcripts.

8

refer to is the Ayers & Stolte law firm and

9

what happened back in 1993.

The only people he can

Judge, I received

10

my license in October of 1993 and

11

even work at the Ayers & Stolte law firm until

12

April of 1994.

13

with Mr. Latchney over there.

14

results on the 23rd of October and we were

15

sworn in,

16

was, I believe, mid-November of 1994.

17

wasn't with that firm in 1993 and, you know,

18

to sit here and say that anything I may have

19

done as, "The firm's done this", or, "They've

20

done this", you know,

21

Judge.

22

I

I

I

didn't

graduated and passed the Bar
We got our Bar

don't remember the date, but it

I

I

wasn't even around,

As far as Cooter and Gel,

I

agree that

23

the Court has correctly read what Cooter and

24

Gel said.

25

does not divest the Court of jurisdiction to

It says that an order of nonsuit
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1

hear a motion for sanctions under Rule 11.

2

Well, there's two problems with that.

3

assert that an order of nonsuit divests

4

jurisdiction.

5

you that my research indicates that an order

6

of nonsuit in and of itself, while it does

7

take away everything else that's happened in

8

the case, there is no law of the case, there

9

is no res judicata, there is no collateral

I don't

As a matter of fact, I'll tell

10

estoppel.

11

in and of itself the Court of jurisdiction to

12

enter sanctions.

13

does not have a Rule 1:1 equivalent.

14

simply don't have it.

15

An order of nonsuit does not divest

However, the Federal System
They

There's no equivalent.

Now I said Mr. Lollar made a

16

misrepresentation to the Court.

17

misrepresentation was that I have not cited a

18

case where any judge has said that 21 days

19

after a nonsuit order you can't get sanctions.

20

That's untrue.

21

would direct the Court to the top of Page S,

22

"An order of nonsuit is final for purposes of

23

appeal and, presumably, for purposes of Rule

24

1:1 where the parties dispute the propriety of

25

the Trial Court's action in granting the

His

It's right in my brief.
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1

nonsuit".

Chandler versus Signet

2

Bank/Virginia, a 1990 case, citing Wells

3

versus Lorcum House Condominiums, counsel for

4

that proposition, if I recall correctly, that

5

was written--

I'm not going to say because

6

I'm not sure.

I want to say I think it was

7

Judge Hughes in Richmond, but I'm not certain.

8

I looked at his brief and what's interesting

9

about his brief is he doesn't cite a single

10

case to advance any theory of law, except for

11

one where he simply cites the definition of a

12

final order.

13

simply trying to distinguish the facts of my

14

cases.

15

an order of nonsuit I've cited no cases.

16

Well, I would also suggest to the Court read

17

the Halbish case, Covington versus Halbish, 28

18

Virginia Circa 360.

19

Richmond, but I have no idea who wrote it.

20

Now it's not clear how that case came to an

21

end, but what is clear in that opinion is what

22

happened.

23

the Plaintiff got a new attorney, and this new

24

attorney pushed the suit for a year and a half

25

before the suit finally was dismissed.

He spends the rest of his time

Well, he comes in here and he says for

I know that came out of

There was a settlement agreement,
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1

nowhere in that case does it tell you what

2

exactly was the method of dismissal, but I can

3

tell you that given that the Plaintiff

4

abandoned the claim there's only two things

5

that could have happened, Judge.

6

was dismissed as agreed with prejudice or it

7

was nonsuited.

8

the opinion doesn't tell us.

9

Either it

We don't know which because

I've got one case where a circuit court

10

judge tells you that a nonsuited case is,

11

presumably, since it is final for purposes of

12

appeal if objected to, is also final for

13

purposes of Rule 1.1, and we have Covington

14

versus Halbish where we know that the case had

15

to have been ended one of two ways because the

16

Plaintiff abandoned his claim.

17

dismissed as agreed or it was nonsuited and I

18

would strongly suggest it was probably

19

nonsuited because if it was dismissed as

20

agreed I find it less likely that the

21

Defendant is going to come back and ask for

22

sanctions.

Either it was

23

Judge, I've cited numerous cases for the

24

proposition that when a case is nonsuited, in

25

the face of a counterclaim that independence
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1

means counterclaim stays, the other case is

2

gone, and I've cited numerous cases for that

3

proposition.

4

about what a final order is, where they talk

5

about dismissal.

6

nonsuit the Virginia Supreme Court says is a

7

dismissal without prejudice and Mr. Lollar

8

doesn't even address that.

9

that fact.

I've cited cases where they talk

I've cited cases where a

He simply ignores

10

As far as the argument as to the other

11

Plaintiffs, I think we can agree that a few

12

things are clear.

13

as Cardinal was concerned on August 10th.

14

would point out something that's not actually

15

in the motion.

16

motion, or order rather, addresses

17

Smallenberg, Cardinal, and the Ayers & Stolte

18

law firm.

19

you read Section 8.01-271.1, Judge, the

20

pleading has to be signed by at least one

21

attorney of record.

22

This case was gone as far
I

I did notice that Mr. Lollar's

Let's deal with them in order.

MR. LOLLAR:

Your Honor, I'm going

23

to object at this point.

24

jurisdictional objection.

25

some disagreement for this hearing.

He's now left
There seems to be
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1

to object and interrupt attorneys in argument,

2

but when they slowly go beyond the scope of

3

the hearing, which he has done now, the

4

hearing is jurisdictional objection.

5

wants to rehash sanctions.
THE JUDGE:

6

I'm going to overrule

7

the objection for the moment.

8

he's going.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

9

Now he

Let's see where

"If a pleading,

10

motion, or other paper is signed or made in

11

violation of this rule", and I'm reading from

12

the last paragraph of the section, "the Court

13

upon motion or upon it's initiative shall

14

impose upon the person who signed the paper or

15

made the motion, a represented party or both,

16

inappropriate sanctions".

17

bat we know the only people who can be

18

sanctioned are Cardinal Holding and me

19

personally.

20

nothing to do with it other than Mr. Lollar

21

seems to have a personal problem with the

22

firm.

23

So right off the

The Ayers & Stolte law firm has

THE JUDGE:

Very generous of you to

24

offer to take on all of the responsibility

25

yourself.
MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

36

MR. SMALLENBERG:

1

Well, Judge, I

2

have duties.

I mean, the law is the law and

3

I'm not going to give up anybody just to

4

escape anything myself, but Ayers & Stolte, I

5

think, is clearly out.

6

this suit since August 10th, which leaves me,

7

and his argument about his counterclaim, that

8

just doesn't hold water and he hasn't

9

addressed the cases that are cited.

Cardinal's been out of

But an

10

independent counterclaim is just that, it's a

11

separate case that remains standing after the

12

nonsuit.

13

that remains,

14

and what do you do with the Jarrett problem?

15

Cardinal's gone, so the question
Judg~,

is what do you do with me

Now I understood the Court to say that I

16

wasn't the attorney for the Jarrett's.

17

Mr. Test entered an appearance for the

18

Jarrett's on June 10th and I don't know what

19

to make of it, Judge.

20

know what to make of it, but it's got nothing

21

to do with Mr. Lollar's claim that it would be

22

a dispute problem between me and the

23

Jarrett's.

24

since August 10th, I represent Cardinal, and

25

as to that problem I really don't know what to

I mean, I really don't

Like I said, Cardinal's been gone
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1

make of it.

I just don't, Judge.

MR. LOLLAR:

2

Your Honor, I heard

3

alot of things that I feel are red herrings.

4

I don't want to get distracted because I know

5

that's the intent for raising them, raise a

6

bunch of red herrings and get the Court's

7

attention distracted.

8

what's most revealing about the issue is what

9

someone doesn't say in their argument and

I think sometimes

10

Mr. Smallenberg, other than to talk about the

11

assignments issue on the issue of whether

12

under the Common Law it could be assigned and

13

he could sue in the name of the Jarrett's, he

14

fails to respond entirely to my point, which

15

is a very simple one, that the Jarrett's are

16

still before the Court and there's a pending

17

action.

18

Court.

19

The Jarrett's are still before the

But going back to his point about

20

assignment, and why he would even go into that

21

and rehash that, I don't know, but he totally

22

overlooks what upset Mr. Test so much and that

23

is that the settlement agreement itself

24

specifically prohibited either party from

25

assigning the rights without the prior written
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1

consent of the other party, Paragraph 14, Page

2

6, under Exhibit 5 of your black notebook

3

there, and you specifically found that the

4

agreement prohibited assignment.

5

stretch that, as he seems to stretch

6

everything, to the point of where he can sign

7

this agreement and it was assigned from the

8

Jarrett's, first, to Deal and then Deal turned

9

around and assigned it to Cardinal.

He tries to

So even

10

though Cardinal may be able to file the suit

11

in the name of Deal, and boy, we would have

12

liked to have seen that, they chose to be a

13

little more careful about their Plaintiffs and

14

they chose the Jarrett's instead of Ayers,

15

which would have been the way to do this if,

16

in fact, Cardinal wanted to sue in the name of

17

Cardinal's assignor.

18

Ayers.

19

That would be Charles

The cases and the suggestion that I've

20

misrepresented something to the Court, that I

21

don't know what I'm talking about, well, now

22

we're getting a little personal, and we can

23

get into more of that if we want to, but that

24

doesn't get us anywhere.

25

Getting back to the issue,
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1

found one case.

He cited Chandler v. Signet

2

Bank.

3

share my copy with the Court.

4

not a sanctions case.

5

whether you had an appealable order.

6

no case.

7

whether the party could appeal the nonsuit

8

order the party objected to.

9

the Defendant because of Plaintiff's nonsuit.

I've got it here.

10

I'll be happy to
That case is

The issue there was
I found

Wells v. Lorcum, the issue there is

THE JUDGE:

I assume it was

Let me ask you a

11

question.

12

entry of the nonsuit order and asked to have

13

the order vacated and have the nonsuit wiped

14

out and have the case back on the docket, what

15

do you think the Court would have done?

If you'd come in 35 days after

16

MR. LOLLAR:

You've got to give me

17

more facts than that.

In this case with the

18

other actions pending?

19

asked to vacate the nonsuit order.

20

have simply asked to be heard on my motion for

21

sanctions in a pending action because--

22

THE JUDGE:

23

MR. LOLLAR:

24

THE JUDGE:

25

I wouldn't have even
I would

Not sanctions.
I'm sorry.
In other words, 21 days

after that nonsuit order was entered if
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1

somebody comes back into Court, any Plaintiff

2

in any case, there's a nonsuit and there's

3

still other parties out there and they still

4

have their lawsuit coming, we all agree that

5

35 days after that nonsuit order is entered

6

that that's an appealable issue as to whether

7

the nonsuit should have been granted or not.
MR. LOLLAR:

8
9

No.

The cases, if you

read them, suggest, in fact, Wells v. Lorcum,

10

I believe, says, "Generally, a nonsuit order

11

is not a final order, however, when a party

12

objects to the nonsuit and opposes it it can

13

be a final order for the purposes of appeal",

14

a very narrow ruling.
THE JUDGE:

15

All right.

So that

16

nonsuit order 35 days later could be appealed

17

if somebody had objected to the granting of

18

the nonsuit.
MR. LOLLAR:

19

Well, if it was 35 days

20

it might be beyond appeal time, but your point

21

is taken.
THE JUDGE:

22
23

24
25

Thank you.

Twenty-nine

days.
MR. LOLLAR:

Twenty-nine days,

that's correct, it would be an appealable
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1

order.

2

you go back and you look at the Covington v.

3

Halbish case because there in the opinion they

4

went to great lengths to see if a motion for

5

sanctions could be heard as an independent

6

action and I agree, I agree with the ruling in

7

that case, the legal principle, that an

8

8.01-271.1 motion cannot stand alone.

9

to be in a pending action.

10

But the important thing here is that

It has

Well, the only action they had in that

11

case was the action that was dismissed.

12

That's the only action they had.

13

got an action that has been nonsuited without

14

dismissal and on and on and on, we have four

15

other Plaintiffs, we have a counterclaim.

16

this case there's no ending action.

17

Supreme Court is going to be able to very

18

easily see that and, quite frankly, the only

19

case that I found where you had a sanctions

20

order that was found to be beyond the

21

jurisdiction of the Court would have been the

22

Anderson v. Busman reversal and there the

23

order was completely different.

24

completely different.

25

case as any controlling authority and you

Here we've

In

The

The order was

And I did not cite that
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1

didn't find it to be controlling authority.

2

What you did agree with was the point that the

3

Court made in the written opinion that they

4

have two principles there, the principle of

5

finality and the principle that the frivolous

6

filing of a suit should not go unpunished.

7

The judge granted the motion for sanctions and

8

entered the order awarding the sanctions

9

beyond the 21 days from the order sustaining

10

the demurrer with prejudice and dismissing the

11

case because she felt that that frivolous

12

filing should not go unpunished and you agreed

13

with that logic.

14

you agreed to.

That's the part of the logic

THE JUDGE:

15

For argument's sake, if

16

this Court were to enter the order as you

17

requested what is the authority to award the

18

sanctions against the law f irrn?

19

MR. LOLLAR:

The law firm, in fact,

20

I was looking for that, Your Honor.

The law

21

firm, Mr. Smallenberg conceded in the

22

transcript.

23

this.

24

the first time I've heard it.

25

through the transcript and, number one, the

This is the first time I've heard

This is a whole new objection.
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1

law firm, he assigned the pleadings, in fact,

2

he indicated all along he was there on behalf

3

of Ayers & Stolte, he was there as their

4

employee.

5

se.

6

their employees.

7

and he conceded that in the transcript, I just

8

haven't been able to get my fingers on it, but

9

it's signed Smallenberg for Ayers & Stolte,

A law firm can't sign pleadings per

They have to do it through their agents,
You look at this pleading,

10

P.C., and he knows that he was signing this as

11

an employee of that law firm.

12

that in the record.
THE JUDGE:

13

He conceded

It's in the record.
Okay.

Why don't you

14

look for that while we let Mr. Test get a word

15

in edgewise.
MR. TEST:

16

17

20

I

apologize for being late.
THE JUDGE:

18
19

Good morning, Judge.

We've been busy in the

meantime.
MR. TEST:

And I have very little

21

legal argument to make.

I've filed a

22

memorandum, a motion, and relied on the

23

authorities submitted previously.

24

present my claim very briefly.

25

housekeeping matter, the Court directed me at
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1

the hearing on June 10 to prepare an order

2

allowing my clients to be removed from the

3

suit.

4
5

6

THE JUDGE:

You agree that that

hasn't been entered yet?
MR. TEST:

It has not been.

I've

7

got it right here and it's not completely

8

endorsed yet, but just for the background,

9

Judge, my file will show that within, I think,

10

48 hours following the hearing I drafted the

11

order, circulated it to counsel, received

12

signed copies back from Mr. Lollar and

13

Mr. McFarland, no response from

14

Mr. Smallenberg.

15

back, I didn't get a response to my letter nor

16

did I get a return phone call.

17

know that I received it Federal Express with

18

his signature last night.

19

don't want that order entered because that

20

order did not contain the sentence at the end

21

that says, "This ma~ter's continued on the

22

docket for ruling on my pending sanctions

23

motion", which is exactly what the transcript

24

reflected I would do in the order.

25

Not only did I not get it

I want you to

Nevertheless, I

So I've got the order now that says that
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1

and I'd ask for Mr. Smallenberg to endorse

2

that.

3

Mr. McFarland and by Mr. Lollar.

4

identical order that Mr. Smallenberg signed

5

yesterday and it has the sentence that says--

I have it endorsed myself by

THE JUDGE:

6

7

10

MR. TEST:

Yes, ma'am, I did.

would tender that to the Court now.

So I

It

confirms your ruling on June 10th, 1998.
THE JUDGE:

11
12

Did you draft the first

one?

8
9

It's the

So everybody looked at

the case law between then and now.
MR. TEST:

13

I didn't look at it,

14

Judge, I knew it, but I have to tell you, I

15

was never given any notice of the entry of the

16

order.

17

order with my name it's because I signed it

18

the day we were here June 10th.

19

on the hearing on September 4th.

20

notice.

21

entry of the order before this Court in

22

August.

23
24
25

If he presented to the Court a signed

I wasn't here
I got no

I wasn't given any notice of his

THE JUDGE:

You sent him the nonsuit

order two days after you were here?
MR. TEST:

The one you have.
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1
2
3

THE JUDGE:

This exact one with the

underlined portion in it?
MR. TEST:

No.

That is not a

4

nonsuit order, Judge.

5

conf irrning your ruling that removes my clients

6

as named Plaintiffs.

7

with the nonsuit.

8
9

THE JUDGE:

That is an order

It has nothing to do

All right.

And this

order, exactly as it's written here with the

10

underlined portion in it, was what was

11

circulated or without the underlined portion?

12

MR. TEST:

That order with the

13

underlined portion was circulated.

14

not included in the circulated copy was the

15

last sentence that says, "The matter remains

16

on the docket for consideration of my

17

sanctions motion", which is the language that

18

was in the transcript on June 10.

19

instructed me to prepare a separate order as

20

to my matter.

21

THE JUDGE:

22

MR. TEST:

What was

The Court

Right.
So that's what I did and

23

that's the order you have.

24

file right now, Judge, and I can see that I

25

sent it to Mr. Smallenberg June 15th, five
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1

days after the hearing.

2

to you is if there was an order that's been

3

entered in this case nonsuiting Cardinal

4

Holding Company and it bears my signature it's

5

because

6

Court, but

7

the Court for entry that day.

8

tendered

9

knew about it and

10

What I'm representing

signed it June 10th for counsel in

I

I

I

don't think it was tendered to
When it was

was given no notice of it.
I

I

was given no notice of the

hearing before the Court September 4th.
THE JUDGE:

11

12

ever been tendered.

13

MR. TEST:

I

don't know that it's

It may have been entered.
Okay.

I

thought there

14

was a nonsuit order entered, nonsuit to

15

Cardinal Holding Company.

16

THE JUDGE:

There was a nonsuit

17

order entered nonsuiting Cardinal Holding

18

Company.

19
20

never

So you were not noticed for that?
MR. TEST:

the order.

21

I don't have a copy of

I'm assuming my signature's on it.
THE JUDGE:

I think it was mailed

22

in.

23

I've gone back through this file because that

24

order's taken on monumental importance since

25

all of this happened.

I'll tell you why I think that.

I was not here the
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1

particular week that it was entered and my

2

hunch is it came in with signatures on it.

3

MR. TEST:

4

THE JUDGE:

I'm not on it.
With two signatures on

5

it and what happens when they're mailed in,

6

because it's got Judge Cromwell's signature on

7

it, is that it was probably put with the file

8

on the top and a law clerks looked at it and

9

they put a little sticky on it that said,

10

"Okay to enter".

Judge Cromwell was duty

11

judge that week, they stuck it under his nose,

12

it was entered, and nobody bothered to look.

13

If it had been me I would have been calling

14

people about it, but I never saw the file.

15

would have gone back in the drawer after that

16

and nobody brought up anything or did

17

anything.
MR. TEST:

18

So then the record should

19

be clear, I did not ever endorse the order.

20

It was never sent to me.

21

about it.

22

entry.

23

It

I was never called

I was given no notice of it's

THE JUDGE:

In which case that's a

24

whole other reason to have objected to the

25

order in the first place, because not
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1

everybody that was a party to the case was

2

noticed, which is necessary to happen.

3

case is a mess, folks.

4

and I'll say it on the record to everybody

5

here.

6

other, it just has, and that's being generous

7

when I say mess-up.

8

interrupting you.

This

This case is a mess

It has been one mess-up after the

MR. TEST:

9

10

THE JUDGE:

11

MR. TEST:

Now forgive me for

That's all right, Judge.
Go right ahead.
Just so my position on

12

that order is clear, the record's clear, on my

13

client's claim for sanctions it's very simple.

14

I have three documents I'd like to give you.

15

And, by the way, I need to introduce my

16

client.

17
18

This is Dr. T. Roy Jarrett.
THE JUDGE:

Mr. Lollar.

He was introduced by

I'm sorry.

19

MR. TEST:

20

THE JUDGE:

Thank you.
Mr. Lollar presented a

21

notebook that was filed and made part of the

22

record at the last proceedings in September

23

and I don't know whether you saw it, but under

24

some of the tabs might be some of the things

25

you want to hand me now.

The first one under
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1

Exhibit 4 is a letter dated April 16th, 1998,

2

which would appear to be from you at Clark &

3

Stant.

4

look at it.

It's two pages.

You're welcome to

Is that one of the items?

5

MR. TEST:

6

to Mr. Smallenberg?

It may be, Judge.

7

THE JUDGE:

8

MR. SMALLENBERG:

9

Is it

Yes.
That is not one of

the ones I intended to present to you.
THE JUDGE:

10

Okay.

Okay.

Well, this

11

one is already part of the record, anyway,

12

just so you know, because, evidently, you

13

wouldn't have gotten a copy of this notebook

14

either.
MR. TEST:

15

That letter that you just

16

referred to establishes the situation when the

17

assignment was made and the fact that my

18

clients had no notice of the filing of the

19

suit.

20

did receive the suit.

21

I think I learned about it when Mr. Lollar

22

called me for some information, so it was

23

after it had been served.

24

clients being positioned as Plaintiffs didn't

25

get served with it, but sometime the last week

My evidence now goes to when my clients
I'm trying to recall.

Of course, my
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1

of April 1998 Mr. Lollar called and asked me a

2

question, we discussed it on the phone, and

3

that was the first I learned of it.

4

Immediately thereafter I wrote to

5

Mr. Smallenberg May 1st of '98.

I'll tender

6

the letter to the Court.

7

received the lawsuit, I'm amazed that it would

8

have been filed without giving me a courtesy

9

copy when it was originally filed, and advised

It states that I've

10

him that my clients were extremely upset.

11

then ref erred to the fact that the caption was

12

wrong.

13

assignee of the executors of the Estate.

14

ref erred to the settlement agreement and what

15

it required and I requested that he call me

16

immediately to discuss it.

17

I had no response.

18

calls after May 1st and none were returned.

19

I

The Plaintiff should only be the
I

That was May 1st.

I left several telephone

On May 11th I wrote again to

20

Mr. Smallenberg and simply said that.

21

to you May 1st.

22

left messages.

23

I don't hear from you by Friday, May 15th,

24

I'll file the appropriate motion with the

25

Court.

I've had no response.

I wrote
I've

They've not been returned.

That letter, apparently, prompted a
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1

phone call, the content of which I confirmed

2

by letter of May 12th to Mr. Smallenberg, and

3

that phone call was, "Mr. Ayers will talk to

4

you about it".

5

back and said, "You told me that Cardinal

6

Holding Company is a corporation whose stock

7

is wholly-owned by Charles Ayers.

8

you, my clients have never consented in

9

writing to an assignment to Cardinal, which I

So I wrote Mr. Smallenberg

To advise

10

believe is required by the settlement

11

agreement.

12

me in the next few days to discuss my client's

13

request that they be removed.

14

to the call.

15

commitment from Mr. Ayers and Cardinal to

16

remove my clients,

17

motion".

18

to prepare and file the motions I did to

19

remove my clients from the case and ask for

20

sanctions, prompted me to prepare and come to

21

the hearing on June 10th.

You told me Mr. Ayers would call

I

Look forward

However, without a prompt

will file the appropriate

I

Never got a call.

That prompted me

22

The only other thing I would of fer to the

23

Court is a copy of my legal bill to my client,

24

which as of yesterday totaled $3,130.85,

25

therefore, it does not include my time for the
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1

actual appearance in Court today.

I'd ask

2

that these four documents be entered as my

3

clients' exhibits, Your Honor.

4

THE JUDGE:

Any objection to me

5

marking them collectively?

6

everybody's confused about who everybody is

7

and who belongs here, I'm going to mark it.

8

How about Jarrett's Estate Exhibit Number l?
MR. TEST:

9

And I guess since

That's fine, Your Honor.

10
11

(The documents last-above referred to were

12

marked by the Judge as Jarrett Estate

13

Exhibit Number 1 for identification and

14

admitted into the record.)

15
16

THE JUDGE:

Is it your position that

17

it should never have named the executors as

18

well as the deceased?

19
20

MR. TEST:

That's correct, Your

Honor.

21

THE JUDGE:

22

MR. TEST:

And that is because?
Because the claim, to the

23

extent there was any validity to the filing of

24

the claim for legal malpractice, belonged to

25

the assignee.

It didn't belong to the
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1

executors anymore.

2

case should have been styled Cardinal Holding

3

Company, as assignee, as the only Plaintiff.

4

Without commenting on whether they were the

5

proper assignee or not, it should not have

6

named anyone else as the Plaintiff.

7

They'd assigned it.

THE JUDGE:

The

Mr. Srnallenberg cited

8

many authorities that seem to state, and you

9

were not in here because it came up kind of in

10

relation to the other matter, that it was

11

appropriate to name, basically, an assignee to

12

file the suit and use the name of the assignor

13

without the ass..ignor's permission.

14

MR. TEST:

Absolutely not.

Where

15

does counsel ever get the right to represent a

16

client without the client's permission?

17

THE JUDGE:

Well, that's a good

18

question that he raised and he seemed to have

19

some authority that said he could.

20

want to look at that for a moment?

21

MR. TEST:

Do you

I'll be glad to, Judge.

22

Beyond that, my clients, the executors, who

23

where the parties that it assigned, they never

24

received an assignment from the Estate as a

25

separate legal entity and they never received
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1

an assignment from the deceased individual

2

that they used to name.

3

summarily removed them as Plaintiffs without

4

any concern at the hearing on June 10th

5

verbally and in an order you've entered now

6

that removes them, but they never had

7

authority, without question, to represent and

8

sign as counsel representing them.

9

Apparently, they're making an argument that

Now the Court

10

they could saying Plaintiff was the executors

11

by assignment and Cardinal Holding Company by

12

assignment.

13

I'd like to review these, but, clearly,

14

that assignment gave no authorization on

15

behalf of the executors for anyone to ever act

16

as their counsel and assign the rights to, I

17

think, three parties:

18

individually, Ayers & Ayers, P.C., or Ayers &

19

Stolte, P.C., whichever one it was, and

20

Cardinal.

21

and had the right to act by counsel to do

22

things.

23

believed at the time of filing of this suit he

24

needed another Plaintiff he needed to request

25

permission and get authority from the

Charles Ayers,

Those parties held the assignment

If counsel legitimately or not
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1

Plaintiff to use their names.

2

assignment deals with that.

3

no right to do it.

4

and that's the core of my clients incensed

5

feelings on this.

6

I'd have just gotten a phone call in May and

7

they had fixed it then I wouldn't be here.

8

I'll be glad to read his authorities now,

9

Judge.

10

Nothing in the
He had absolutely

That is legal malpractice

And I have to tell you, if

I certainly can't respond to them now,

though.

11

THE JUDGE:

12

MR. TEST:

I appreciate that.
He may be in a posture in

13

the case if you're going to ask for briefs on

14

other issues anyway.

15

THE JUDGE:

16

No.

We're going to

settle this today all the way around.
MR. TEST:

17

18

No.

Okay.

I'll look at it

right now, Judge.
THE JUDGE:

19

I may make everybody

20

stand here today and hand-write it out before

21

we finish.

22

MR. LOLLAR:

Your Honor, just so

23

you're not confused by one thing that was said

24

that needs to be corrected.

25

Cardinal that was the party, it was A&H, and
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1

it was subsequently assigned to Cardinal.
THE JUDGE:

2

I understand that.

I

3

sat here yesterday afternoon until 5:30

4

reading through the pleadings, reading through

5

the second settlement agreement, among the

6

other documents, and many things struck me as

7

I read through all of those documents in light

8

of MNC.
MR. TEST:

9

My only response to these

10

legal cases cited by Mr. Srnallenberg is this.

11

I'll assume for the sake of the argument today

12

the assignees can sue in one or two ways, in

13

the name of the assignor or his own name.

14

doesn't give him the right to do both.

15

had been represented, Cardinal Holding Company

16

became the assignee of A&H then Cardinal

17

Holding Company should have sued as Cardinal

18

Holding Company, the assignee of A&H, the

19

assignee of the executors, or they could have

20

said the executors of the Estate and said in

21

the body of the suit, "We are proceeding in

22

the name of the executors of the Estate

23

because A&H is the assignee, assigned to

24

Cardinal, and I'm signing as counsel for

25

Cardinal".
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1

That's the only authority he's got to do

2

it.

He can style it as the executors, but

3

when he signs the pleading he may not sign it

4

as counsel for the executors because he is not

5

and never was.

6

counsel for a dead man, an Estate, as two

7

executors that he was never counsel for.

8

even if he is right he did not need to name

9

both and he should not have signed the

He has signed this pleading as

So

10

pleading as he did, so it doesn't get him out

11

of the woods.

12

MR. SMALLENBERG:

13

out the initial motion for judgment.

14

brought a number of things today, but I don't

15

know that I've got that.

16

THE JUDGE:

17

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Judge, can we pull
I

I have it.
If you read that,

18

and I think this has been lost somewhere, it's

19

quite clear.

20

and it says Cardinal Holding Company as their

21

assignee.

22

Holding Company has been assigned all rights

23

to Plaintiffs", I think I should have said the

24

Plaintiffs other than Cardinal had against the

25

Defendants, and in the wherefore clause it's

It lists all of the Jarrett's

If you read Paragraph 9, "Cardinal

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

530

59
1

also clear that the rights have been assigned

2

to-THE JUDGE:

3

Well, the most

4

interesting part of this whole thing is that

5

after MNC I went back and read the second

6

agreement.

7

whether or not that assignment was valid to

8

begin with?

9

agreement was assigning a legal malpractice

Does anybody have an opinion about

One of the assignments in that

10

case from the executors to Ayers & Ayers and

11

Ayers and whoever else and under MNC that's

12

not valid.

13

and the executors have all gone home on their

14

merry way there's nobody that exists to bring

15

this case.

16

strikes me that we all know today.

17

should have been evident in some ways when

18

this thing was filed, but it should have been

19

evident as soon as MNC came out.

20

cause of action there might have been just

21

doesn't exist anymore because there's nobody

22

to bring them.

23

After the Estate's been settled

That's the first thing that
Maybe

Whatever

Anything else from anyone?

24

MR. TEST:

25

MR. SMALLENBERG:

No, Your Honor.
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1

something else I wanted to say.

2

Mr. Lollar referred to the case that I was

3

talking about and he said it was about

4

nonsuits, but it wasn't about sanctions,

5

that's true, but it does say in there that a

6

nonsuit that's objected to is final for the

7

purposes of appeal and, presumably, for

8

purposes of Rule 1:1.

9

pleading to you he said it said Robert

When

Also when he read the

10

Smallenberg for Ayers & Stolte, P.C.

It

11

doesn't say that at all.

12

Smallenberg and it's got my address on it and

13

my telephone number.

14

Stolte, P.C., 710 Northampton Street, et

15

cetera, et cetera.

16

Sanctions can be imposed upon the person who

17

signed the paper or made the motion, a

18

represented party, or both.

It says Robert H.

My address is Ayers &

In 8.01-271 it's clear.

19

THE JUDGE:

Let me ask Mr. Test to

20

ring in on this one.

21

asking for sanctions, too, it might make a

22

difference to you against whom they were

23

awarded.

24

were here the last time that sanctions might

25

be in order from Cardinal Holding Company,

Mr. Test, because you're

There were some discussions when we
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1

clearly, they are one of the people listed as

2

Plaintiffs, and Mr. Smallenberg signed the

3

pleadings and the law firm.

4

seems to be that while he may--

5

involved in Cardinal.

6

involved, the law firm isn't.

7

MR. TEST:

His position
You're not

While he may be

Unfortunately, Judge, I'm

8

sorry, I don't know the law on that point.

9

thought there had been a case addressing it

I

10

that held the law firm equally liable.

11

that insurance companies when they address

12

liability insurance coverage for law firms

13

specifically note that the firm is liable for

14

malpractice liability committed by it's

15

attorneys.

16

this point, Judge, but I'm pretty certain that

17

this point was argued and ruled on sometime

18

within the last year by the Supreme Court.

19

can't say whether the Court came down and

20

cited the terms on liability orders as to

21

which parties signed as the law firm.

22

thought this issue had been interpreted by the

23

Court, but I could be wrong.

24
25

I'd have to represent ignorance on

MR. LOLLAR:
Honor?

I know

I

I

Can I address it, Your

You wanted me to go through the
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1

record.

In the record on June 10

2

Mr. Smallenberg indicates that he's there for

3

himself, Ayers & Stolte, P.C., and Cardinal

4

Holding Company.

5

are pursuant to motions and they're

6

sanctionable.

7

making a motion verbally in open court as well

8

as you can do it for paper, according to

9

8.01-271.1.

The arguments he's making

You can sanction an attorney

So at the beginning of the

10

hearing he says he's there for himself, Ayers

11

& Stolte, P.C., and Cardinal Holding Company.

12

Now 8.01-271.1 says that if a pleading is

13

made in violation, it says. a pleading, motion,

14

or other paper, and that's important, motion,

15

and that includes a motion for judgment, is

16

made in violation the Court shall impose a

17

sanction upon the person making the motion.

18

Now look at the pleading, Your Honor.

19

the pleading.

20

judgment.

21

right there on the left column it says,

22

"Prepared by", that's the maker of the motion,

23

"Prepared by Ayers & Stolte, P.C.

24

Mr. Smallenberg, and this should be somewhat

25

telling to the Court, would want to protect

Look at

Go back to the motion for

First page, motion for judgment,
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1

his firm, Ayers & Stolte, and take the blunt

2

of this himself personally, unless he's maybe

3

taken some action in the last three or four

4

weeks, which I would hope he would know would

5

not be something to deprive this particular

6

creditor of the right to collect.

7

gone back and put all his property in tenancy

8

by the entirety, whatever, I don't know what's

9

going through his mind, but I do know that

If he's

10

it's rather strange that he's now here trying

11

to say, "Well, I can take the blunt of this

12

sanctions, but my firm can't", when Charlie

13

Ayers, as you know, has been behind this from

14

Day One.

15

We're going to go after that anyway, him

16

personally, because we feel that that was the

17

alter ego of Charlie Ayers, and his firm put

18

him up to signing this pleading and preparing

19

it.

20

the firm and so the firm speaks through it's

21

employees and agents, he's an employee, and

22

the firm can be sanctioned just as well as he

23

can.

24

bit concerned about it, let him appeal it and

25

take·that one to the Supreme Court.

He formed Cardinal Holding Company.

By the pleading itself it was prepared by

My suggestion there, if you're the least
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MR. SMALLENBERG:

1

Judge, if I may,

2

I've done alot of research in this case,

3

countless hours, I don't even know how many,

4

and I do know that I did a search on

5

11

Michie's

6

11

8.01-271.1

law on disk where the search was

11

What that does is it brings up

11
•

7

every instance where anyone ref erred to

8

8.01-271.1.

9

level and I did it on what's called the

I did it on the Circuit Court

10

Virginia Judicial Decisions, but that covers

11

Court of Appeals and Supreme Court.

12

find the case that Mr. Test refers to, but on

13

behalf of Ayers & Stolte I have to tell the

14

Court that the statute is clear upon the

15

person who signed the paper, a represented

16

party, or both.

17

I didn't

I have gone through and reviewed every

18

case that's cited in the annotations.

Tolidge

19

versus Board of Supervisors involved a pro se

20

litigant.

21

determine if that attorney was with a firm or

22

not.

23

were entered against an attorney, but that

24

particular case doesn't list counsel at the

25

head of the opinion, so we just can't tell.

Yohay versus Justice, I couldn't

It indicates, I believe, that sanctions
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1

Bandice versus Bandice was a pro se litigant.

2

County of Prince William versus Rowell was a

3

sole practitioner.

Nedrick versus Jones was a

4

sole practitioner.

Oxenham versus Johnson

5

I've got a copy of somewhere.

6

THE JUDGE:

7

MR. SMALLENBERG:

I've got a copy of it.
These are

8

sanctions imposed upon a lawyer.

9

to see if I remember it.

I'm trying

Oxenharn was the

10

attorney, the sanctions were entered against

11

him, but he's a member of Oxenharn, Davis &

12

Rose.

13

issue in the case.

14

against the attorney personally, not the firm,

15

and I should think the plain language of the

16

statute is clear.

17

signed the pleading.

In that particular case that's not an
Sanctions were entered

It's against the person who

18

MR. LOLLAR:

Your Honor, this--

19

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Oh, one other

20

thing, Judge, if I may.

21

done anything with any of my assets within the

22

last month or at anytime within the last year

23

and I resent the implications.

24

MR. LOLLAR:

25

I'm sorry.

I've not

Your Honor, he stopped

reading from the statute.

It says, "The
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1

person who signed the paper", a represented

2

party is what he says, but he left out, "or

3

made the motion".

4

the statute, four very important words, "or

5

made the motion".

6

pleadings it's a motion for judgment.

7

on the face, "Prepared by".

8

more?

9

the motion.

10

A very important part of

If you look at the

Need you need

"Prepared by" means made.

MR. SMALLENBERG:

It says

They made

Judge, "or made

11

the motion", that references an oral motion

12

made by an attorney or a party in Paragrah 3.

13

That's what makes the motion and there's a

14

clear reference to it.

15

THE JUDGE:

Okay.

Let's go back to

16

the nonsuit order for a minute.

17

cases that I've read, and it goes around the

18

block, many of the cases that have been cited

19

today and have been talked about, and I don't

20

remember which is which, they're all floating

21

around, but one of them deals with a jury

22

verdict that had been entered and they talked

23

about separating out a motion for sanctions

24

and it wasn't contained in the final order.

25

read the transcript.

In all of the

That was the intent of
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1

everybody at the time we talked in Court.

2

When that first order was entered reflecting

3

the hearing from Court that day, and in that

4

order it was noted that the Court took the

5

nonsuit under advisement and it directed

6

attorneys to set it down for a hearing on the

7

sanctions, the clear intent was to separate

8

them out.

9

order that was entered granting the nonsuit to

However, I don't believe that the

10

Cardinal reflected that it was, in fact,

11

reserved.

12

written orders.

13

sides in this case.

14

Now the Court speaks through it's
That cuts both ways for both

My reading of the case law, for better or

15

worse, and what is intended and the way the

16

system functions, by not reserving it in that

17

order I think Cardinal has been nonsuited and

18

is out of the case and that was final as to

19

them.

20

was trying to get at.

21

could have come back in themselves on the 29th

22

day and said, "I want back in the case".

23

is nonsuited for the past 21 days.

24

right, there's a counterclaim in here.

25

of the things that are requested in the

For better or worse, that was what I
I don't think Cardinal
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1

counterclaim are things that have been dealt

2

with in the sanctions, but I will also say

3

that when the Court made the ruling allowing

4

the nonsuit over the objections, because there

5

was some discussion as to whether the

6

counterclaim was entwined with the motion for

7

judgment, this Court's ruling was, no, it was

8

a separate action.

9

that saves Cardinal in here.

I

don't think, really,
I

think it is a

10

separate action.

11

the Supreme Court on the granting the nonsuit

12

or not, I think they would have heard that

13

absent any other plaintiffs still in the case,

14

so I think for better or worse that order,

15

while we all may have intended to write on

16

there "and to reserve the issue of sanctions"

17

we didn't.

18

says.

19

If it only had gone up to

The order says what the order

Now there's a whole other question that

20

just came up today about Mr. Test not being

21

noticed and, to be honest with you, I hadn't

22

thought about that.

23

first time when Mr. Test was here and it was

24

agreed that his clients were going to be

25

dismissed, but, again, this Court speaks

We came into Court that
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1

through it's written orders and there was

2

never a written order entered dismissing the

3

rest of the Plaintiffs that were listed.

4

not having thought about it, because we all

5

assumed they were out of it, but they really

6

weren't out, I had to go back through the file

7

and look myself when this issue came up this

8

week.

9

find an order that had dismissed the deceased

I

flipped through to see if

I

By

could

10

and the executors, the other Plaintiffs that

11

had been listed, and low and behold there

12

wasn't one.

13

about looking at the nonsuit order, he should

14

have had notice.

15

object to the nonsuit being entered and he was

16

not given the opportunity to do that.

Then with his question today

He may have wanted to

17

Now we're more than 21 days past the

18

entry of that order and that's another one of

19

those strange things.

20

argument to be had there, but as long as

21

there's anything pending in the case that's

22

not a final order, because look at what

23

happens and then we still have things going on

24

with people not having notice and what are

25

their rights.

Maybe there's an

It is an issue that has not in

MARIE WOODS LAWSON, REPORTER.
(757) 549-2198

54~

70

1

black and white been decided by the Supreme

2

Court in the posture of this case and it would

3

be an easier black and white if all of the

4

Plaintiffs had been initially dismissed or

5

nonsuited and all that existed was the

6

counterclaim, then

7

reserving anything it's gone.

8

little muckier now that I think about it, just

9

because of this coming up, with them not

I

feel certain by not
It may be a

10

having notice and what is their recourse now.

11

I don't know that that swings it the other way

12

and if y'all want to take this up to the

13

Supreme Court maybe they,' 11 answer it for us

14

for once and for all.

15

From reading the cases and the intent of

16

it it does seem to me, still in the

17

circumstances of this case as to Cardinal,

18

that that order of nonsuit as to Cardinal is

19

an order of nonsuit that's final as to

20

Cardinal.

21

Cardinal in their part of it, so

22

they're out of it, but we still have

23

Plaintiffs in here because they were never

24

dismissed and that cuts the other way for the

25

motion for sanctions.

We didn't reserve sanctions as to
think

That leaves it on the
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1

table.

When

2

that there have been mistakes made on both

3

sides of this case, mistakes made,

4

know whether it was just lack of everybody

5

sitting down and thinking it through, I know

6

we're all busy and have trials scheduled and

7

everything and you kind of grab at things and

8

go into it, but this is a classic case of one

9

misstep compounding the next.

I

said at the beginning of this

I

don't

It's been a

10

tennis match this week watching it swing back

11

and forth as everybody thinks of some new way

12

to pull it out of the fire.
I guess while I'm on the subject of that,

13
14

when I said I sat and read the pleadings and

15

read the documents we all agree that the

16

second settlement agreement was part of the

17

record, it's been filed in everybody's

18

pleadings and motions, it does strike me, and

19

I

20

gratuitous since the issue is not officially

21

before the Court, I was going to make you all

22

agree to make this a declaratory judgment.

23

But it would be my opinion, and I don't know

24

that I would be far wrong, that because of the

25

MNC case that original assignment from the

probably shouldn't throw this in as
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executors to Ayers, that part of it, that

2

document that says they're assigning any

3

rights they have in a legal malpractice claim,

4

since we know that legal malpractice rights

5

are not assignable, that paragraph is not

6

enforceable.

7

that contract that says the rest of the

8

contract, if one clause is to be interpreted

9

under Virginia law and if one clause is found

There's a severability clause in

10

invalid, the rest of the contract lives.

11

there's certainly other consideration in that

12

file.

13

action left for anybody for any of the things

14

listed in here, be that rightly or wrongly.

15

And

I don't see where there's any cause of

As to these individuals in this posture

16

on that document, there may be--

17

not going to go there.

18

might have actions against somebody else for a

19

problem, but I'm going to leave that part

20

alone.

21

to pursue from any of the people that we've

22

got here and then we're back to the question,

23

which was, who is entitled to sanctions, if

24

anybody, and how much are they entitled to.

25

Well, I'm

Other individuals

So it's really leaves us with no case

One more thought on that contract, that
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1

assignment.

Ayers was involved in that second

2

settlement agreement.

3

Ayers, which everybody agrees, is the sole

4

shareholder of Cardinal Estates.

5

officer of the courts of the State of

6

Virginia.

7

be involved in this, but Cardinal Holding

8

Company is really the assignee of Ayers, if

9

that's the way you're going to look at this

Ayers is an attorney.

Ayers is an

He may want to dance around and not

10

from filing it.

Even though he's not

11

officially a party and officially signed his

12

signature on it, he's involved in this and the

13

firm is involved in this.

14

all of this.

15

documents.

16

It's not like they're an innocent third-party

17

that didn't know that second settlement

18

agreement existed where it says it's not

19

assignable.

20

a party to it.

21

that there was not going to be an agreement,

22

first of all, they didn't go ask anybody, that

23

anybody's told me, to assign it before they

24

filed all these pleadings.

25

when they were put on notice that it wasn't

They knew.

They had notice of
They signed those

They negotiated those documents.

They knew it existed.

They were

And then when they're notified
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1

going to be permission to assign it and it

2

never should have been filed to begin with,

3

did they do anything about it, no, and here we

4

are still back here today.

5

I don't know that I need to go back

6

through all the reasons that I awarded the

7

sanctions in the first place, but if we need

8

to go back through that to make sure the

9

record's clear, after reading some of these

10

cases, I realize that sanctions do not come

11

often, they do not come easily, and the Court

12

looks very closely because it's a serious

13

matter, it seems to me there are two bases for

14

awarding sanctions.

15

someone, an attorney, fails to conduct a

16

reasonable inquiry, and I don't know that that

17

would apply in this case other than to the

18

issue of the assignments and the contract,

19

because everybody knew the contract said it

20

wasn't assignable, even if you take MNC out of

21

it that didn't come into effect until after

22

this was filed, they were a party to the

23

contract and they knew it was there.

24

25

The first one is that if

The other thing that

I

cannot get past,

and it seems to me to fall under that
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1

category, is the statute of limitations

2

question.

3

asked everybody in the meantime and I've

4

looked and, you know, those things stick to

5

you from when you were studying for the Bar

6

exam way back when you were sleep deprived and

7

staying up until all hours and wondering if

8

you were going to get to practice law in

9

Virginia or not, that a contract for legal

I

asked everybody before and I've

10

representation--I'll make it very narrow

11

because it's broader than this, but I'll make

12

it very narrow--a contract for legal

13

representation, a written contract, would end

14

upon the death of one party to that written

15

contract.

16

tie up, fine, but we don't ratify a writing to

17

somehow get that writing by doing the work.

18

Yes, an attorney who signs on to do legal work

19

for somebody and they die, you can't just

20

leave it go,

21

malpractice.

22

are dotted and

23

whatever is in the process of happening

24

continues to happen and that that deceased

25

person's interests are looked after, but that

Now if there are ongoing actions to

I

mean, that would be
You need to make sure that "i's"
11

t's

11

are crossed and that
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1

doesn't mean that the executors that take over

2

from there are bound in anyway by the writing

3

that the deceased filed.

4

fired", it doesn't matter if that writing

5

says, "You're going to represent me for three

6

years doing this", the executors get to make

7

that choice when they come in.

8

writing, and I think everybody agreed, there's

9

no writing between the executors and the

10

attorneys.

11

deceased.

12
13
14
15
16

If they say, "You're

There is no

The only writing was against the

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Judge, I don't

believe there is a writing.
THE JUDGE:

The letter that we've

referred to before.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

Does the Court

17

want a copy of the letter for the record?

I

18

described it, but inadvertently didn't bring

19

it last time.

20

where they indicated, "We can no longer honor

21

the contractual arrangements between you and

22

Al, which was in effect when we became

23

executors of the Estate".

But I did describe the letter

24

THE JUDGE:

25

MR. LOLLAR:

Okay.
That's already in the
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1

record, Your Honor.

2

THE JUDGE:

If it's not you stated

3

the appropriate sentence and that doesn't do

4

it either.

5

case, and I'm going to say, maybe somebody

6

else in Richmond will tell me I'm wrong, is

7

three years.

8

three years and I don't think that there was a

9

reasonable basis to believe that it was

10
11

The statute of limitations in this

I don't know how you get around

anything other than the three years.
And then we get onto the second ground on

12

which the Court needs ,to look for deciding

13

whether to award sanctions and that is that

14

there is an improper purpose.

15

Oxenham case that was cited by counsel because

16

that is something that's important in this

17

nature and it talks about the fact of what you

18

have to look at to find that there is an

19

intent to harass.

20

more than ample evidence in this record that

21

this was done with the intent to harass.

22

is not just the fact that there was not

23

diligence in looking up a new court decision.

24

It is the history of what has happened in this

25

case, what has gone on, the way this was

I looked at the

I believe that there is
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1

filed, the knowledge that the law firm had,

2

the knowledge that the law firm entered into

3

an agreement, and while that assignment

4

language doesn't make an assignment void they

5

were a party to the contract and knew they

6

couldn't assign it without written permission

7

and knew they didn't have that and then turned

8

around and, basically, filed a lawsuit on the

9

basis of an assignment that they didn't have.

10

Then as we find out later on after the fact,

11

but when that Supreme Court decided MNC, that

12

if that assignment's not valid under MNC then

13

that original assignment from the executors to

14

Ayers isn't valid either.

15

And because of all that, for better or

16

worse, I am in that original order.

17

to stick with that original order except that

18

I am going to remove Cardinal because I don't

19

think that Cardinal belongs in there.

20

appeal it and the Supreme Court says they

21

should have stayed in there, that's fine.

22

was joint and several against the law firm,

23

the individual, and Cardinal, so they know the

24

amount of money, they know why, and they know

25

who, but I'm going to have you remove it.
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1

going to leave Ayers & Stolte in there for the

2

reason not only stated here on the record, but

3

because they are lawyers and officers of the

4

court and they are so entertwined in this mess

5

because of the assignment documents that they

6

are involved and should be held responsible as

7

officers of the court.

8
9

And I don't know if I said this clearly
on the record, enough of this lawsuit is still

10

pending because the Plaintiffs are still

11

before this.

12

answer these things even if the executors, the

13

Jarrett's, didn't want this suit brought, and

14

they're the only ones left, they still have to

15

answer it because it still lives.

16

you are.

17

entered, it should have been entered, it

18

should have been taken care of.

19

styled in the right way.

20

were made aware of it you've had to chase them

21

around and here we are today, so I believe

22

that by way of sanctions you all are entitled

23

to your attorney's fees, too.

24

MR. TEST:

25

The Defendants still had to

So there

And, Mr. Test, your dismissal wasn't

This was not

And even after they

Judge, the bill is

$3,100, but it does not include my time here
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1

and I've estimated that.

2

sanctions in the sum of $3,500, which would

3

include my time.

4

THE JUDGE:

5

MR. LOLLAR:

I'm asking for

Done.
Your Honor, we have

6

filed and noticed a supplemental motion for

7

sanctions for our additional legal fees from

8

September 5 until today, October 2, and you

9

have it before you.

It's self-explanatory.

10

I'll address it if you can get it before you.

11

The basis for it is that the jurisdictional

12

objection, which is my understanding of why we

13

were coming back here, was. without any basis

14

in the law based upon the fact that four

15

Plaintiffs--

16

based upon the record which revealed that

17

Mr. Smallenberg represented to this Court that

18

there would be no 1:1 problem and then turned

19

right around and raised it.

20

Henrico, I'll go back to him, he conunented

21

that not to sanction would be a fraud on the

22

court.

23

attempt to defraud this Court.

24

THE JUDGE:

25

Really, as much as anything,

Judge Harris in

That's exactly what we have here, an

Well, I thought about

that, too, because it was here and I
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1

understand your argument and I understand if I

2

was in your shoes your frustration.

3

understand the flip side of this.

4

say that where that language would have

5

applied would have been to notify you maybe

6

that there should be some language in that

7

nonsuit order about not reserving it, because

8

you cannot grant to each other jurisdiction if

9

the Court doesn't have it, and I've got a

I also
Let me just

10

problem.

I mean, my ruling is that there is

11

none as to Cardinal as of the date that was

12

done and because I ruled that way I bought

13

their argument that some of that case law

14

meant that the Court didn't have jurisdiction

15

after the 21 days, which means there was a

16

legitimate argument there and they were

17

bringing something to the Court as far as the

18

jurisdictional question.

19

then their argument had merit, at least on

20

that issue, and where it might have been nice

21

for you to have a phone call was if they had

22

been aware of that at the time and headed you

23

off at the pass from drafting that order that

24

didn't reserve it.

25

all that, I just don't know how I could have

And after I say that

You know, even having said
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1

entered that order if I didn't have

2

jurisdiction and it would have gone up and the

3

Supreme Court, I really believe that it is

4

that strong that there wasn't jurisdiction.

5

am going to deny the motion for the additional

6

sanctions.

7

MR. LOLLAR:

All right.

I

Now there's

8

one other thing pending in that you vacated

9

our counterclaim and we want the opportunity

10

to consult on that issue before any action is

11

taken.

12

to nonsuit and may want to proceed with our

13

counterclaim.

14

suggesting that will happen, but I just don't

15

know at this point.

16

that, though.

17

We may, in fact, withdraw our motion

I don't know.

THE JUDGE:

I'm not

I certainly will weigh

Well, at this point in

18

time the order was vacated pending further

19

discussions about what you're going to do.

20

would encourage everybody to get on with their

21

lives at this point in time.

22

go up one way or the other, I'm sure, but

23

other than the appeal on this I would--

24
25

MR. LOLLAR:

I

This is going to

In furtherance of that,

and I've taken good notes, but I do know that
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1

it seems to be a constant problem reaching

2

closure of entered orders and we have rulings

3

today that should be encompassed.
THE JUDGE:

4

Well, you had it today.

5

All you need to do is scratch through.

6

mean, it's stated on the record why and that

7

order may not include all of the reasons why,

8

but you can add onto the bottom,

9

findings that the Court made on the record".

11

I

For further

10

You can just print that in nicely or, "Further

11

findings on the record", and cross out

12

Cardinal.

13
14

Do you have your order here, Mr. Test?
MR. TEST:

I didn't bring one, but

15

I'll prepare one and send it to

16

Mr. Smallenberg on behalf of my clients, the

17

executors, but I have a question.

18

sanction order against Mr. Smallenberg and

19

Ayers & Stolte, P.C., jointly and severally?

20

THE JUDGE:

21

MR. TEST:

Is the

Yes.
That's fine.

I'll just

22

prepare my own order for that purpose and I'll

23

mail it to Mr. Smallenberg.

24
25

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Judge, there is

one indulgence that I would ask and tell the
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1

Court what I would like to do and let the

2

Court pick what way it would do it.

3

of what's going on here, I'd like my objection

4

to be specifically spelled out, and I don't

5

know if the Court would want me to scratch

6

them down on a piece of paper and we attach it

7

to the order or if you would rather I just

8

read them into the record.

9

10

In lieu

MR. LOLLAR:

Either way would be

THE JUDGE:

Well, we have 21 days

fine.

11

12

from the entry of that order.

13

he submits them in writing and I attach them

14

to the order and he sends you a copy?

15

he's entitled to make any objections that he

16

wishes.
MR. LOLLAR:

17
18

Do you care if

None whatsoever.

I mean,

As

long as the 21 days starts today.
THE JUDGE:

19

The 21 days will start

20

today.

Now you're welcome to stay and dictate

21

it to the court reporter.

22

type it up and send it to me and you can put

23

it on there next to your signature, "To be

24

mailed to the Court by such and such a day",

25

and I'll attach them, however you'd like to do

You're welcome to
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1

it.

2

MR. SMALLENBERG:

3

entered nunc pro tune September 4th.
THE JUDGE:

4
5
6

No.

Judge, this says

It's going to be

today.
MR. SMALLENBERG:

Judge, I haven't

7

seen this order before, so let me glance

8

through it.

9

THE JUDGE:

Absolutely.

Absolutely.

Judge, may we be excused?

10

MR. TEST:

11

THE JUDGE:

12

MR. TEST:

13

MR. SMALLENBERG:

Yes.
Thank you.
How about the

14

Court just state that we'll enter it and I'll

15

have the opportunity to submit written

16

objections within a certain time period?

17

18

THE JUDGE:

Well, within the 21 days

and you'll send a copy of those to Mr. Lollar.

19

MR. LOLLAR:

20

THE JUDGE:

That's fine.
Okay.

Just do a little

21

certificate on the bottom that you've mailed

22

them to him.

23

MR. LOLLAR:

That's all I need.

I

24

don't have, I don't think, the opportunity to

25

object to his objections.
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THE JUDGE:

1

I don't think so either.

2

I think he's entitled to note whatever

3

objections he has.
Gentlemen, it's been interesting and I

4

5

hope I don't see any of you again for a long

6

time.

7

MR. LOLLAR:

Thank you, Your Honor.

8

THE JUDGE:

At least with regard to

9

this case.

10
11

(Whereupon, the taking of this hearing

12

was concluded at 1:25 o'clock, p.m.)

13

14

15
16
17
18

19
20

21
22

23

24

25
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1

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA AT LARGE, to wit:

2

I, Marie Woods Lawson, Notary Public and

3

Court Reporter, do hereby certify that I did appear at

4

the aforescribed hearing held before Judge A. Bonwill

5

Shockley, at the Circuit Court of the City of Virginia

6

Beach, Virginia Beach, Virginia, on Wednesday, the 2nd

7

day of October, 1998, commencing at 11:00 o'clock, a.m.:

8

that the witnesses were duly sworn and cautioned to tell

9

the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth;

10

that the foregoing pages constitute a true and accurate

11

transcript of their testimony given at that time and

12

place.

13

I

further certify that I am not of counsel

14

or kin to any of the parties to this cause of action, nor

15

am I interested in any manner in its outcome.

16

IN WITNESS WHEREOF

17

hand and seal this the 15th day of October, 1998.

I

have hereunto set my

18
19
20
21

Marie Woods Lawson, Notary

22

Public, State of Virginia at

23

Large.

24

February 28, 1999.

My commission expires

25
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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF VIRGINIA BEACH

T. ROY JARRETT, et al.,
Plaintiffs,

v.

Law No. CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et al.,
Defendants.

ORDER

This matter came before the Court for hearing on Wednesday, June 10 on ie
Motion of several of the Plaintiffs, by counsel, to remove themselves as named parties to tpis suit
and to restyle the suit. All parties were present before the Court, represented by counsel, a d the
matter was heard.
For the reasons stated from the bench, which are fully incorporated in this rder
by reference, the Court grants the Motion of the Executors and the Estate of Alvin Q.

Jarre~ and

Alvin Q. Jarrett individually are removed as named Plaintiffs from this suit, without objec!jion.
The Court also grants the Motion of the Executors to restyle the suit. Hereafter, this suits all be
1

styled and all pleadings shall be filed bearing the style Cardinal Holding Company, Assignee of
the Executors of the Estate of Alvin Q. Jarrett v. John F. Deal, Esquire, et al. This matter ii
continued for further proceedings on the Executor's pending motion for sanctions.
It is so ORDERED.

ENTER:

1.RK &: STANT, P.C.
ATTORNEYS
lGISIA BE.Act, VIRGINIA

I

I
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I ASK FOR THIS:

Counsel for Executors of the Estate of Alvin
Q. Jarrett
SEEN AND AGREED:

Robert H. Smallenberg, Esquire
Counsel for Cardinal Holding Company

Charles M. Lollar, Esquire
Counsel for Defendants

1Robert W. McFarland, Esquire
I Counsel for Defendants
1

1

I

49064009/order-sgt

CLARK & STANT, P.C.
AlTORNEYS
V1ac1NIA BEACH, V1ac1NIA
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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF VIRGINIA BEACH

T. ROY JARRETT, ET AL.
Plaintiffs,
v.

LAW NO.:

CL97-787

JOHN F. DEAL, ESQUIRE, et al.,
Defendants.
ORDER

0~1-tJIJ.~r- ZJ {'ff&
THIS MATTER came to be heard on September 4, 1998n upon the
1.

motion for sanctions filed by certain defendants herein, on A·ril
10, 1998, and was argued by counsel.
UPON CONSIDERATION WHEREOF, it appearing, for the reasons set
forth in the record, that Robert H. Smallenberg, Ayers and Stolte,
P.C., and their client, Cardinal Holding Company, have filed

his

proceeding in violation of Code of Virginia §8.01-271.1, 1950

as

amended, it is therefore
ORDERED, that Robert H. Smallenberg, Ayers and Stolte,

P~C.,

and ea:rdinal Helelin9' Compan), pay to the Defendants, John F. olal,
Esquire,

Rhonda

Cobler-Wells,

Esquire,

and

John

F.

I

Deat

&

Associates, the sum of $22,181.17, as sanctions to reimburse said
defendants for their attorney's fees,

costs and time expende

in

their defense of this proceeding, and
the sum of $10,000.00,

to punish them for their actions in Ihis

proceeding, and that judgment be granted in favor of John F. D al,

Esquire,

Rhonda

Cobler-Wells,

Associates against Robert H.

'fZµS ~and

Carainal

Heleiag

Esquire,

Smallenbe~g,

cmnpan-y

(the

and

John

F.

Deai

Ayers and Stolte,

"Ayers Group"),

&

Plc.,

jointly and
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.

severally, in the total amount of $32,181.17, to which ruling the
Ayers Group except and object.'< 0 h .j e. t.f i bJt,l.S . ~i l~ d

U); Hti ()

2-1

dtty S ·

Endorsements of cou11sel te this order are dispensed with in
accordance with Rule 1: 13, and the Clcrlt is dizected to mail a

Gertified copy of this order to all connsel ef record.
- EN!i'EREJ;}

~

~

RRQ

~

SEP'FBMDER 4 7 1998 1 PRIOR TO ':PIIE B!i'fRY--OF

c:rnB QRf}Eil NONSUITIMG :O'.EFENf)JtN'fS, comITERCU IM HEREIN:

~
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
I.

The trial court erred in awarding any sanctions to the Jarretts when more than
21 days elapsed after entry of the final order.
I

II.

The amount of the award of sanctions to the defendants is outrageous
constitutes improper fee shifting.

III.

The trial court erred in finding that it was unreasonable for the plaintiff t
believe that its claim was not barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

IV.

The trial court erred in awarding any sanctions to the Jarretts.

V.

The trial court erred in awarding punitive damages to the defendants.

VI.

The trial court erred in awarding any sanctions against Ayers & Stolte, P.C.;

an~

VII. The actions of counsel for cardinal in filing the suit after assignment of th
legal malpractice claim were objectively reasonable.
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